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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Ouyang Yanling (Chairman) et )

Mr. Li Yuguo (M2

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Xiaoming

Mr. Yu Jiang (Nete 3)

Ms. Wen Junyi (Nete 9

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Huang Yilin

Mr. Chen Dong Yao (e %)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. Zhu Xueyi M)

Mr. Wong Chung Man (ete ¢
Mr. So Ting Kong Mo 7)

Mr. Wong Sung (Nete7)

Mr. Xu Xingge (Mt ?)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wu Ho Wai

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhu Xueyi (Chairman) et ®
Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. Wong Chung Man (Nete?)

Mr. So Ting Kong (Chairman) et ?)
Mr. Wong Sung (et ?)

Mr. Xu Xingge Mo 7)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman)

Mr. Zhu Xueyi Mo )

Mr. Wong Chung Man (ete 9)

Mr. So Ting Kong (Nete”)

Mr. Wong Sung (et ?)

Mr. Xu Xingge Nowe?)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) (Nete 10)

Mr. Li Yuguo (Nete2)

Mr. Zhu Xueyi Nete &

Mr. Wong Chung Man (e 9

Mr. So Ting Kong Mo 7)

Mr. Wong Sung (Nete7)

Mr. Xu

X ngge (Note 7)

STOCK CODE

899

AUDITORS

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants
21/F, Tai Yau Building

|81 Johnston Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM I |, Bermuda

Note |:

Note 2:
Note 3:
Note 4:
Note 5:
Note 6:
Note 7:
Note 8:

Note 9:
Note | 0:

Appointed with effect from 23 February 2024 and appointed as the chairman on 3

April 2024

Ceased to be the chairman on 3 April 2024
Resigned with effect from 16 August 2023
Appointed with effect from 12 June 2024
Appointed with effect from 23 February 2024
Resigned with effect from 19 April 2024
Appointed with effect from 22 May 2024

Ceased to be the chairman or member, (as the case may be) on 19 April 2024

Ceased to be the member on 19 April 2024
Appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 April 2024
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower

Shun Tak Centre

[68-200 Connaught Road Central

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE (IN BERMUDA)

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street

Hamilton HM I |, Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE (IN HONG KONG)

Tricor Secretaries Limited

| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre
|6 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.zhongjiagx.com
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are as

follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ouyang Yanling, aged 40, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since 23 February 2024 and the Chairman of the board of
directors since 2 April 2024.

Ms. Ouyang has more than |0 years of experience in graphite mining

industry management since 201 3.

Ms. Ouyang was an investment consultant at Hunan Wanhe Graphite
Technology Co., Ltd.* (HiFa & & AZRI B R A F]) from 2013 to 2018.
Ms. Ouyang then served as a supervisor at Hunan Zhongjia Graphite
Co., Ltd* (HFEH INAERMDBRAF) from around October 2018 to
November 2021. Since |6 September 2020, she has been a director of
Sino Plus Graphite Holdings Co., Ltd (R I1A 25 iK% B R A 7). From
26 June 2023 onwards, she has been a director of Zhongjiaxincai Holdings
Co., Ltd (F MFAMIEARAR 9 B R A F]). Furthermore, since |5 June 2023,
she has been a director of Yongming Investment Holdings Limited (3K %4
AR AR A F]), which is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company; and since 8 June 2023, she has been a director of Yonyin
Investment Holdings Limited (K7 E ZEARHE R A &), which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Ouyang is mainly responsible for advising on the aforesaid companies’
business development matters. Her responsibilities include overseeing the
business operations and development of the aforesaid companies, mergers
and acquisitions of mining companies, project consulting, production,

operation and investment plans, and other related work.
Ms. Ouyang completed a 5-year college degree from Yueyang Vocational

and Technical College (FE/5BERMTEERT) in June 2004 and obtained a

college degree.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Li Yuguo, aged 70, has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 16 August 2017 and a member of the Nomination Committee
since 24 July 2018. He was the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company from 22 September 2017 to 2 April 2024. He was also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company from 24 July 2018
to 2 April 2024.

Mr. Li was an executive director of Fullwealth International Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) (Stock Code: 1034), from 15
January 2024 to 12 May 2024. He was an executive director of Future
Bright Mining Holdings Limited (“Future Bright”), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2212), from |9 September
2018 to 22 May 2024 and was the chief executive officer of Future Bright
from 16 June 2020 to 23 May 2022. He was a non-executive director of
Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (*Shengjing Bank”), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2066), from July 2013 to March
2021 and was the vice chairman of the board of directors of Shengjing Bank
from June 2014 to February 2018. He has been the chairman of Liaoning
EEFHRKRES
B HPR/AF]) since June 2013 and has been the chairman of Beijing Jiutai
Group Co., Ltd* (LR EEBRAF]) since May 1993. Prior to that,
he successively worked at the planning bureau of the China Association
for Science and Technology (FF BRI 17 E) as principal staff, deputy
chief and chief of the accounting division from August 1983 to October
1992.

Huibao International Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (&

Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics* (YL 788 48

BB3)) (Jiangxi, PRC) in July 1983, majoring in industrial accounting.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, aged 54, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 26 April 2017 and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since | August 2018.

He has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. He was
(i) an executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code: 2212) from 9
August 2019 to 30 September 2023 and the chief executive officer of
Future Bright from 26 October 2018 to 16 June 2020; (ii) an executive
director of Mindtell Technology Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 861 1), from 8 March 2018 to 8 June 2023
and (iii) an independent non-executive director of Luen Wong Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 8217), from March 2016 to December 2017.

In February 1994, he graduated from Dalhousie University in Canada with

a Bachelor of Commerce.

Mr. Liu was criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules™),
and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking with regards to
Directors given by him to the Stock Exchange, in discharging his fiduciary
duties as an executive director of the Company with sufficient skill, care and
diligence of a director as may reasonably be expected of a person of his
knowledge and experience and holding his office. For details, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.
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Mr. Li Xiaoming, aged 57, has been an Executive Director of the

Company since 21 November 2022.

Mr. Li worked in Beijing Zhongrui Dairy Training Centre* (3t A IR 4}
F353|F D) during the period between 1985 and 1990. Mr. Li was the
manager of Beijing Meihuada Design Centre* (3t R IEZEE ZE &1 /1) from
December 1994 to December 1995. He has been the chairman and legal
representative of Beijing Longxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3t /%
EEEEMERZESBEBRAT]) since 1998 to present. From September
2010 to January 2012, Mr. Li was the supervisor of Beijing Huayetong
Decoration Engineering Co. Ltd. (At REZH BRI TIEHFR A A]). He
has become the supervisor of Beijing Xinguang Lamp Ware Co., Ltd.* (it
R AREEEREEAFR) from 2012 to present. Mr. Li has been the
general manager of Beijing Jinhua Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (1t

RS EREERBBRAT) since 2021 to date.

Mr. Li graduated from Beijing Renwen Hanshou University* (b5 A X K #5%
KE) (now known as Beijing Renwen University) with a bachelor's degree
in Law in 1987. He also graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences with a master degree in international trade

from the Department of Finance, Trade and Economics in 1998.

Ms. Wen Junyi (B 8988), aged 28, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since |2 June 2024.

Ms. Wen acted as the Assistant of the Chief Executive Officer of Beijing
Dongfang Xinzhou Trading Co., Ltd* LR R FFMEE B R A F) from
August 2020 to November 2022. Subsequently, during the period between
January 2023 and March 2024, Ms. Wen acted as the Deputy General
Manager at Beijing HongXin HongYe Trading Co., Limited* (1t R Z= {5 543
KEBRRQF].

Ms. Wen graduated from Beijing Jiaotong University Haibin College* (1t 5%

AN EGEZR KZ) with a Bachelor of Arts in Environmental Design

degree* (BRIFXET) in 2020.

*  For identification purpose only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Xiaogiang, aged 53, has been a Non-executive Director and

the Vice Chairman of the Company since |3 September 2018.

Mr. Yang was a non-executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code: 2212)
from 19 September 2018 to 21 December 2020 and was an executive
director of Future Bright from 22 December 2020 to 31 March 2024. He
was the vice chairman of the board of directors of Future Bright from 19
September 2018 to 31 March 2024.

Mr. Yang has been appointed as director and general manager of Shenyang
Tairong Property Development Company Limited* (J&F5 2= 58 5 & 7
BB AF]) since September 2010. He held similar positions in other

companies for more than 20 years.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree in industrial automation from the
Shenyang Mechanical Engineering University* (&5 T2 KE) in
1994 and obtained a master degree in civil and commercial laws from the

Shenyang Normal University in 2001.

Mr. Huang Yilin, aged 56, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since | August 2018. He acted as an Executive Director of
the Company from 23 January 2015 to 31 July 2018 and was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company from 16 August 2017 to 31 July 2018.

During the past years, Mr. Huang was the general manager of Shantou
Sanye Plastic Company Limited* CIIZET =B R A A]), Shenzhen
China Investment Company Limited* (Y10 8 & B PR A Al), Shenzhen
Rihuisheng Group Company Limited* (&3IITh H B EEH R A F]) and
Shenzhen Hongxun Investment Company Limited* (Z3IITBEIIZE BR
/2 7)), and has extensive theoretical knowledge and practical experience in

corporate modern management.

Mr. Huang graduated from The Institute of Finance and Economics of Radio
and Television* (BRI ALEPT) in 1992. Mr. Huang has also obtained a
bachelor of international economics and trade degree from Beijing Foreign
Studies University in 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Huang was criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of the Listing
Rules, and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking with
regards to Directors given by him to the Stock Exchange, in discharging his
fiduciary duties as an executive director of the Company with sufficient skill,
care and diligence of a director as may reasonably be expected of a person
of his knowledge and experience and holding his office. For details, please

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.

Mr. Chen Dong Yao, aged 36, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since 23 February 2024.

Mr. Chen has more than 9 years of experience in graphite mining industry

management since 2014.

Mr. Chen has been a deputy general manager of Hunan Wanhe Graphite
Technology Co., Ltd.* (& & ARRHRBR Q7)) since 2014 and has
been a director of Sino Plus Graphite Holdings Co., Ltd (47 AN/A 21 /%
&3 BBR A R]) from 22 November 2021. He was mainly responsible for

advising business development matters.

Since 2014, Mr. Chen has been participating in the management of the
aforesaid companies. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
development objectives and corporate direction. He has also participated
in the planning, project management, investment analysis, risk assessment,
and feasibility analysis for various mergers, acquisitions, and restructuring

projects of mining companies or relevant companies.

Mr. Chen graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Arts from York University
in Canada in 201 I.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chen is interested in 30% of the
issued shares in Creation Financial Group Limited (BltE & BtEE B R
A A]), which holds 26.9% of the issued shares in Yongming Investment
Holdings Limited (k%1% & %% R A A), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ba Junyu, aged 69, has been an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company since 24 July 2018. He
has been the chairman of Remuneration Committee of the Company
since | August 2018, and was appointed as the chairman of Nomination

Committee of the Company since 2 April 2024.

Mr. Ba has been an external supervisor of Shengjing Bank (Stock Code:
2066) since February 2018. He was an independent non-executive director
of that bank from June 2010 to February 2018. Mr. Ba has been a professor
at Shenyang Ligong University* (&FZI2 T K2) since September 2001,
and served as principal, professor and researcher of the social economy
research institute of Shenyang Ligong University from September 200 |
to May 2009. He serves as a professor at the School of Law and Ideology
of Shenyang Ligong University since May 2009. Prior to that, he served as
an associate professor and the head of the economic research institute at
Shenyang University from April 1996 to August 2003. From August 1985
to April 1996, he served as a vice dean, deputy principal and associate
professor of the market economy research institute at Shenyang Institute
of Finance and Economics. He used to work at the teaching and research
office at Shenyang Accounting School* (BT € ERK) as deputy
director, director and lecturer from August 1982 to August 1985.

Mr. Ba graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Liaoning Institute of Finance and Economics* (3 & Bt
#EEART) (Liaoning, PRC)) in July 1982, majoring in commercial enterprise
management. He has been a researcher as accredited by the Personnel

Office of Liaoning Province since August 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. So Ting Kong, aged 37, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company since 22 May 2024.

Mr. So is a certified public accountant with 8 years of experience in financial
management and regulatory compliance. He is an independent advisor
since October 2022, and specializes in providing expert advisory services
to SFC licensed corporations, focusing on regulatory compliance, risk
management, and strategic financial planning. Prior to this role, Mr. So was
an accounting manager at Silverbricks Securities Company Limited from
July 2020 to September 2022 and was a financial controller at Gransing
Securities Co., Limited from June 2015 to July 2020, where he managed
the accounting department, implemented internal controls, collaborated
with external auditors for regulatory audits, and led the financial reporting
processes. Mr. So worked at Kreston CAC CPA Limited from September
2011 to May 2015 and at Cheng & Cheng Limited from July 2008 to July
2011, where he conducted financial audits and prepared audit reports for
various clients. He was an independent non-executive director of Kafelaku
Coffee Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1869) from November 2023 to June
2024.

Mr. So became a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales in 2021, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 2015 and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Accredited Accounting Technicians in 2010.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Wong Sung, aged 42, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company since 22 May
2024.

From 2007 to 2023, Mr. Wong served as the marketing director at Wai
May Fur And Fashion Company Limited (MEZER ERFEEGRR A F]). From
2023 onwards, he has served as the marketing director at Dongguan Min
Gang Industrial Investment Co, Ltd.* CREREBEXIZEBR A A).

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Business (Administration) degree from

Central Queensland University in 2007.

Mr. Xu Xingge, aged 40, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company since 22 May
2024.

During the period between June 2005 and October 2009, Mr. Xu joined
Tianjin Swarovski Wedding Photography* (K32 M /& IEIEEEF) as the
chief photographer and art director. After that, during the period between
November 2009 and April 2018, he worked at Tianjin Aishang Gediao
Wedding Photography* (RZE &1& #8112
Since May 2018, Mr. Xu has been the deputy general manager at Tianjin
Chenning Property Management Co., Ltd* (RZREWXEEEFR A A)).

52) as the art director.

Mr. Xu graduated from Benxi Vocational and Technical College* (AE
B ZE R AIT 20T in 2003.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance with an aim to protect the interest of shareholders.

Key corporate governance practices and activities of the Company for
the year ended 31| March 2024 (the “Year"”) are highlighted in this report.
Discussions on the Company’s environmental policies/performance
and our relationship with key stakeholders are disclosed in a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report which is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix CI| (the “Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules™). During the Year, the
Company complied with all applicable provisions of the Code except for

the deviation as stated below:

Code Provision C.1.8

Under Code provision C.1.8, the Company should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action which may be taken against the
Directors. The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by
the Company has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet
reached an agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance
premium of new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal
action which may be taken against the Directors has not been in place since
21 May 2018. The Company had liaised with various insurance companies
and brokers during the Year and will continue to liaise with them to arrange

appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and officers.
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THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company

and oversees the Group's business strategic decisions and performances.

Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the Company's
affairs. The Directors have the responsibility to act objectively in the

interests of the Company.

The Board focuses on the overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The

principal functions of the Board are to, inter alia:

*  establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

0 determine the general corporate policies, strategic plans and
performance objectives of the Group;

© monitor management performance;

*  approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,
key funding and investment proposals; and

* oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal
controls, corporate governance, risk management, financial reporting

and compliance.
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The Board delegates daily operations of the Group to executive Directors
and senior executives, while reserving certain key matters for its approval.
Matters reserved for decision and consideration of the Board include,
among others, all matters of strategic importance, corporate governance
practices, internal control matters and risk management, operating and
capital budgets, material transactions and investment commitments. The
management is responsible for the daily operations of the Group under the

leadership of the Board.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Executive Directors,
Ms. Ouyang Yanling, Mr. Li Yuguo, Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, Mr. Li Xiaoming
and Ms. Wen Junyi; three Non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen Dong Yao,
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang and Mr. Huang Yilin; and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Ba Junyu, Mr. So Ting Kong, Mr. Wong Sung and
Mr. Xu Xingge. Ms. Ouyang Yanling is the chairman of the Board and Mr.

Liu Yan Chee James is the chief executive officer of the Company.

Number of Directors
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The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are individuals
with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting and
appropriate expertise. They provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent
Non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of independence
to the Company and the Company considers these directors to be

independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board so as to enhance the quality of its performance and as
an essential element in maintaining strategic objectives and sustainable
development of the Group. All appointments of the Board members will
be based on merits against objective criteria and with due regards for
benefits and balance of diversity on the Board. The Board diversity will
be considered in terms of, among other things, gender, age, professional
experience, qualifications and educational and cultural background, and any
other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time towards complementing and extending the
overall skills, know-how and experiences of the entire Board. The Board
comprises members of different genders and therefore has complied with

the gender diversity requirements of the Stock Exchange.
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Meetings

mE}

Details of Directors’ attendance records at the Board meetings and general

meetings of the Company during the Year are set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ouyang Yanling
(appointed on 23 February 2024)
Mr. Li Yuguo
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
Mr. Li Xiaoming
Mr. Yu Jiang
(resigned on 16 August 2023)
Ms. Wen Junyi
(appointed on 12 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang
Mr. Huang Yilin
Mr. Chen Dong Yao
(appointed on 23 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ba Junyu
Mr. Zhu Xueyi

(resigned on 19 April 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Man

(resigned on 19 April 2024)
Mr. So Ting Kong

(appointed on 22 May 2024)
Mr. Wong Sung

(appointed on 22 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Xingge

(appointed on 22 May 2024)
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Apart from regular board meetings of the Year, the Board will also meet on
other occasions when a decision at the board level on a particular matter
is required. The Directors receive details of agenda items for decision and
minutes of committee meetings (if any) prior to every board meeting.
The Board has reserved its power for decision or consideration on those
matters relating to corporate strategy, annual and interim results, directors’
appointment, succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions,
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant operational
and financial matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim financial statements for Board approval before public
disclosure, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by
the Board, implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and
risk management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory

requirements, rules and regulations.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings pursuant to the Bye-laws of

the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company

and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are encouraged to update themselves with the latest
developments in the legal and regulatory frameworks, and the business
and market changes from time to time to facilitate the performance and
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective

training records pursuant to the Code.

During the Year, the Directors have confirmed their participation in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by ways of
attending seminars or self-reading as set out below:

Executive Directors HiTE=E
Ms. Ouyang Yanling Bt
(appointed on 23 February 2024) (RZE-ME-RA=+=REZ)
Mr. Li Yuguo FRELE
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James 2BHEE
Mr. Li Xiaoming FEALE
Mr. Yu Jiang F}I%E
(resigned on 16 August 2023) (RZE==F/\R T AEA)
Ms. Wen Junyi BT

(appointed on 12 June 2024)

(RZZB-WERAT-BEZRE)

Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang BNREE
Mr. Huang Yilin HRMEAE
Mr. Chen Dong Yao BRRELE

(appointed on 23 February 2024)

(R=F-mE-_A-1t=BEZ)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFEE
Mr. Zhu Xueyi %ﬂ%%i
(resigned on 19 April 2024) (RZE-mENATHAEE)
Mr. Wong Chung Man " TEFX%E
(resigned on 19 April 2024) (RZE-mENATNAEE)
Mr. So Ting Kong %Hﬂ/Iﬁ_’i._
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (RZE-MERA-+=AEZ)
Mr. Wong Sung =Pt
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (RZZ-_MERA-T-BEZME)
Mr. Xu Xingge REEEE

(appointed on 22 May 2024)

(RZZ-_MFERA-+-REEE)
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises four
Independent Non-executive Directors and one Executive Director, and
is currently chaired by Mr. Ba Junyu. Its primary duties include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy, assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters

relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held two (2) meetings during the Year. The
attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at the meetings

during the Year is set out below:

wH X 2 FESTA

ARRERA ETRRNMERCIFAE 2 L%
TABRETEFR P ZEESTA(TREST
all) - RAXRERFHARSTHE - A
EERARERNEMAFECE2EETIRE
SFRIFTEI 2 RERZE -

REEES

ARRREZBERFANEEIIFNTE
ER—EBRTERAN REHEEFEE
BREXF HXIZRABRRIEFER
B RENEK  RREFEREZ TR
RYWEEBABEERAKASETEREZA
T FHEBUIERTES 2B L BERE
XENREEZZHBEETERESSRMHE

REZBENAFERITMQRER ° BIF
H2LZBERERAFENSZ L FE L&D

Meetings
Committee members attended/Held
HESRRE,
EZEERE HITEBRY
Mr. Li Yuguo (ete ) Z= ¢ [BR) £k A (i1 22
Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) (=2 F B SR 0E A () iz 21
Mr. Zhu Xueyi Noe ) SR EAS A A (H3E3) 22
Mr. Wong Chung Man "9 B Sz 4 A (i) 22
Mr. So Ting Kong et % R T ST 4 A (i) 0/0
Mr. Wong Sung (Nete ¥ = o A Wiz 0/0
Mr. Xu Xingge (Nete 4 14 B 48 S A (Wit 0/0
Note I:  Ceased to be the chairman and remained as a member on 3 April 2024 Bzl : R-ZE-—mMENB=BFBEHEER  BEBER
g
Note 2:  Appointed as the chairman on 3 April 2024 Met2: RZZE_NEFNA=ABZEARERE
Note 3:  Ceased to be a member on 19 April 2024 MiF3 : RZT_MNEMA+NABTHEEKE
Note 4. Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024 MiF4: WZZT-_NERA-+-_BEZETAKE
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure
and composition of the Board, reviewed the Board Diversity Policy,
assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and made recommendations on the appointment and re-appointment of

Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee may invite nomination of candidates from
Board members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may
also propose candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
The factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for the
position of director include, inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, willingness to devote sufficient
time to discharge his duties as Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments, diversity of the Board, and such other
perspectives relevant to the Company's business. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and

approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company currently comprises
four Independent Non-executive Directors, and is currently chaired by
Mr. Ba Junyu. Its primary duties include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company's policy and structure for the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management, reviewing the remuneration
package and recommending salaries, bonuses, including the incentive
awards for the Directors and senior management, assessing performance
of executive Directors, approving the directors’ services contracts and
ensuring no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration and reviewing the share scheme of the Company or the

necessity to adopt the same, etc.
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The Remuneration Committee held two (2) meetings during the Year.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at the

meetings during the Year is set out below:

Committee members

ZEEHE

Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) Rk A (- 5F)

Mr. Zhu Xueyi Mete ) S5 B8 35 2 A (W)

Mr. Wong Chung Man (Nete ) {3 45 A WD)

Mr. So Ting Kong (et 2 B 7 5T 45 A (W)

Mr. Wong Sung < B 4 (W)

Mr. Xu Xingge Mot 2 1 BI48 45 K (W22)
Note |: Ceased to be a member on 19 April 2024

Note 2. Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the terms of the appointment letters of the Directors with
reference to various factors including, inter alia, salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability
of performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of the appointment letters of the
Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the remuneration

policy of the Directors are set out on page 56.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises four (4)
Independent Non-executive Directors and is currently chaired by
Mr. So Ting Kong. Its primary duties are to review and oversee the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control system of
the Group and its effectiveness, and review and monitor the integrity of
financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual reports

and interim reports.

The Audit Committee held four (4) meetings during the Year. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the meetings

during the Year is set out below:

il

BREES
ARRIZBERZEBERBRENMWOABE L
FUTES  BRHHREILERTER -
HIERERENLEBARE WIS AR
HE - B EE R ARSI EIA R BB
M URARERARAFHRERARER
AF RN P BREN TR

B

BRREENAFERITHUAAREH® - &8
BREREERENAFENEH LR LEHT
T .

Meetings

Committee members attended/Held
HESEBRE

EERKE BERARY
Mr. Zhu Xueyi ("t ! S EA 2% S A (W) 4/4
Mr. Ba Junyu BELE 3/4
Mr. Wong Chung Man "2 B sz o A (W) 4/4
Mr. So Ting Kong (Chairman) o3 BREIL SR (/) ) 0/0
Mr. Wong Sung M%) T A M (R 0/0
Mr. Xu Xingge (Nete 4 14 B 48 S A (Wit 0/0

Note |: Ceased to be the chairman on 19 April 2024
Note 2: Ceased to be a member on |9 April 2024
Note 3: Appointed as the chairman on 22 May 2024
Note 4: Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed
auditing, internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters
including the Group's audited financial statements for the year ended 3|
March 2023 and the unaudited financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2023 respectively. In June 2024, the Audit Committee
reviewed the Group'’s audited financial statements for the Year prior to

recommending the same to the Board for approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance matters of the
Company. The duties of the Board include, inter alia, (i) to develop,
review and implement the policies and practices of the Company on
corporate governance; (ii) to review, monitor and implement the policies
and practices of the Company in compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) to develop, review, monitor and implement the code
of conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and (iv) to review and
implement the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditors,

Messrs. Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited, is set out as follows:

Services rendered

Frie it AR 7%
Audit services ZE R
Non-Audit services M) IE R B AR 7 (D)

Note:  Non-audit services primarily included professional services in respect of reporting
accountants regarding the very substantial disposal and the major acquisition of the

Company during the year.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the auditors’ independence was not affected

by the provision of those non-audit services during the Year.

EERmEE

EEgREARACEEREH - EFTEN
BEARE(EFERE) : ()HIE  EHLER
RRARMEEEANBRRED © ()EH
ERRERARRRETEREREE ERDH
BERREG - (i)FIE - B ERRERE
ARNEEREEMNTATA RWERIE
Mz TR A& RIS R B EE e M EHWEE -

2 BB <
AEFEN /BAD AR B 2B & 5t
BB ERATZHEBHMT -

Fees paid/payable
BN EBAER

HK$°000
TERT

[,100
1,635
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for the
Year, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are
pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial statements, made
judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have

prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's risk management
and internal control systems. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
the Group emphasizes the importance of a sound risk management and
internal control systems which are also indispensable for mitigating the
Group's risk exposures. The Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of

failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business objectives.

The risk management and internal control system are reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Board, but in any event no less than once per year, in
order to make it practicable and effective in providing reasonable assurance
in relation to protection of material assets and identification of business
risks. The Board is satisfied that, based on the information furnished to it
and on its own observations, for the Year and up to the date of this report,
the risk management and internal controls of the Group are satisfactory,

effective and adequate.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management
of risks associated with its business activities and has implemented
a practicable and effective control system which includes a defined
management structure with clear scope of authority, a sound cash
management system and periodic review of the Group’s performance by

the Audit Committee and the Board.
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During the Year, the Board has engaged an external professional advisor
to conduct the annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the Year. The review has covered financial,
operational and compliance control and some recommendations were
provided in the internal control review report. All recommendations are
properly followed up by the Group. Therefore, the Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are

effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING
During the Year, Mr. Wu Ho Wai, the Company Secretary, has received

over fifteen (I5) hours of relevant professional trainings to refresh his skills

and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company and carrying voting right at general meetings can send a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to request for

convening a special general meeting (“SGM").

The written requisition should be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2601, 26/F., West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary. The written requisition must state
the proposed resolution(s), accompanied by a statement of the matters
referred in the proposed resolution(s) and signed by the shareholders

concerned.
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The identities and eligibility of the requisitionist(s) will be verified with
the Company’s branch share registrar and upon its confirmation that the
requisitionist(s) is/are eligible to give such requisition, the Company will
then proceed to convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of the requisition. The actual SGM shall be held within two (2)

months after the deposit of the written requisition.

Making Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders who wish to make a proposal at shareholders” meeting shall
request for the convening of a SGM in accordance with the procedure
under the paragraph headed “Convening a Special General Meeting”

above.

Procedures for Nomination of Directors for Election

Shareholders who wish to nominate a person to stand for election as a
director at general meetings shall lodge the following documents at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2601,
26/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such documents are given, shall be at least seven (7) days
and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to

the date of such general meeting:

0 notice in writing signed by the shareholder of his intention to

propose such person for election (“Nominated Candidate”);

(i) notice in writing signed by the proposed Nominated Candidate of

his willingness to be elected; and

(i) the biographical details of the Nominated Candidate as required
under Rule [3.51(2) of the Listing Rules for publication by the
Company.
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AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

At the special general meeting held on |3 December 2023, a special
resolution was passed to adopt the new English and Chinese names of the
Company. The bye-laws of the Company was also amended to reflect the
new Company names. A copy of the latest amended and restated bye-laws
of the Company is posted on the respective websites of the Company and

the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders through
the Company's annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and
circulars as well as the general meetings. The general meetings allow

directors to meet and communicate with shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate announcements, various corporate
communications and other relevant financial and non-financial information

of the Company electronically on a timely basis.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy during the Year and the Board is

satisfied with the results thereof given the above measures.

ENQUIRIES TO THE COMPANY OR THE BOARD

We always welcome shareholders’ view and input. Shareholders and other
stakeholders may at any time address their concerns to the Company

Secretary by mail, facsimile or email. The contact details are as follows:

Address: Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Facsimile no.: (852) 3102 0899

Email: info@zhongjiagx.com
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
ESSHAHEEERNWR DN

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™), | am
pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company the annual report
and audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Year, the revenue of the Group was approximately HK$ 14,160,000
(2023: HK$22,220,000). Post-pandemic economy has been depressing in
the global market. The overall economy in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") remains stagnant and is unlikely to recover quickly in the near
future. In the post-pandemic era, the property market in the PRC became
even worse. Due to the unfavourable property market sentiment, the
Group'’s revenue generated from the sales of developed properties and
the rental and management fee income generated from the investment
properties in the PRC decreased.

Cost of Sales

For the Year, cost of sales of the Group was approximately HK$3,215,000
(2023: HK$3,499,000), including the cost of properties sold of
approximately HK$2,162,000 (2023: HK$3,499,000) and cost of bottled
mineral water sold of approximately HK$ 1,053,000 (2023: Nil). The
decrease in cost of properties sold was in line with the decrease in
revenue from sales of properties. The cost of bottled mineral water sold
for the Year comprised mainly of the amortisation of water mining right of
approximately HK$952,000.

Gross Profit

For the Year, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$10,945,000 (2023: HK$18,721,000). The gross profit was mainly
attributable to the rental income generated from the investment properties
in Suzhou, Zhejiang and Beijing.

Other Gains

For the Year, the Group recorded other gains of approximately
HK$ 18,813,000 (2023: HK$24,409,000). The decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in interest income relating to the termination of acquisition
of properties located in Shenyang, the PRC as a substantial portion of the
outstanding sum had been settled in the previous financial year ended
31 March 2023 (details of which are disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transaction” of this report).
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Other Losses

For the Year, the Group recorded other losses of approximately
HK$4,277,000 (2023: HK$42,643,000). The decrease in other losses was
mainly attributable to the decrease in currency exchange losses on the
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB resulting from more

stable Renminbi (“RMB") exchange rate during the Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Year, selling and distribution expenses of the Group remained
stable at approximately HK$83 1,000 (2023: HK$862,000). They are mainly
attributable to the expenditures on the management, maintenance and

repairs of the investment properties.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consisted of directors’ emoluments,
other staff costs and benefits, depreciation, legal and professional fees,
land and property taxes and other general office expenses, which were
approximately HK$39,847,000 for the Year (2023: HK$31,083,000). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in staff costs as a result of the
increase in the number of staff, and the increase in professional fees in

relation to the acquisition and disposal transactions during the Year.

Share of Results of Associates

For the Year, the share of losses of associates was approximately
HK$ 11,425,000 (2023: HK$13,710,000) which were mainly attributable
to the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
water procurement permit of the associate in Guangxi. The decrease in
losses was mainly due to the decrease in operating loss of the associate and
the decrease in amortisation of water procurement permit in light of the
decrease in its valuation as at the end of the previous financial year ended
31 March 2023.

Finance Costs

For the Year, the finance costs of the Group was approximately
HK$773,000 (2023: HK$1,065,000), which mainly represented the interest

on secured bank loans, lease liabilities and other payables.
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Material Impairment Loss and Fair Value Loss on Assets
Post-pandemic economy has been depressing in the global market. The
overall economy in the PRC remains stagnant and is unlikely to recover
quickly in the near future. Due to the unfavourable market sentiment
and low consumers’ demands in the PRC, the business of the Group has
suffered significant impacts and certain assets of the Group were impaired.
For the Year, the Group recognised material impairment loss and fair value

loss on assets from continuing operations including:

(i)  provision for impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
HK$29,230,000 (2023: HK$58,073,000) (details of which are set out

in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements); and

(i) loss from changes in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$67,212,000 (2023: HK$70,611,000) (details of

which are set out in note |8 to the consolidated financial statements).

There was no material impairment loss or fair value loss on assets from the

discontinued operations for the Year.

Loss attributable to Owners of the Company

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company, which amounted to approximately HK$8,347,000 (2023:
HK$246,172,000). The decrease in loss was mainly attributable to:

(i)  reversal of impairment loss on deposits paid for acquisition of Beijing
Properties as the vendor has undertaken to refund the deposits by

transfer of certain properties owned by her;

(i) decrease in currency exchange losses on the monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in RMB resulting from more stable RMB
exchange rate during the Year;

(i) decrease in impairment loss on intangible assets;

(iv) decrease in impairment loss on interests in associates; and

(v) absence of impairment loss on assets from the discontinued

operations as compared with the previous financial year ended 3|
March 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group continued to focus on its core businesses in water business,
property development and property investment business during the Year.
In December 2023, the Group expanded its core businesses to mining
business by acquisitions of 2 companies which are engaged in mineral

exploration and mining activities in Yunnan, the PRC.

In the post-pandemic era, the overall economy in the PRC remains
stagnant. The Group is facing more challenges, including but not limited
to downturn of the property market, unfavourable market sentiment
and low consumers’ demands in the PRC. The Group is proactively and
continuously taking actions to mitigate the adverse impacts of the pandemic
on the Group. Nevertheless, our core businesses are inevitably adversely

affected to some extent.

Water Business

The Group recorded a loss from water business segment of approximately
HK$34,453,000 for the Year (2023: HK$62,687,000). The decrease in
loss from water business segment was mainly due to the decrease in
impairment loss on the water mining right possessed by the subsidiary of

the Company in Hunan.

Water Production and Sales

The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding
Dong Group Company Limited which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in
Guangxi, Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong Beverages Company Limited*
(“Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong™). Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong
possesses a water procurement permit for production and sales of bottled

water and is currently in operation in Guangxi.

During the Year, the Group shared losses of associates of approximately
HK$ 11,425,000 (2023: HK$13,710,000), which were mainly attributable
to the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
water procurement permit of the associate in Guangxi. The decrease in
losses was mainly due to the decrease in operating loss of the associate and
the decrease in amortisation of water procurement permit in light of the
decrease in its valuation as at the end of the previous financial year ended
31 March 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the interests in associates
as at 31 March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the interests in
associates of approximately HK$780,000 (2023: HK$31,553,000) was
provided for the Year. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in

note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Water Mining

The Group holds 67% equity interests in Good Union (China) Limited
(*Good Union”), which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Hunan, Hunan
Xintian Strontium Rich Mineral Water Co,, Ltd.* (“Hunan Xintian"). Hunan
Xintian possesses a water mining right for exploitation of mineral water in
Hunan. The construction of the factory buildings was completed in 2023
and the installation of machinery and equipment was also completed during

the Year. The commercial production has commenced in March 2024.

For the Year, the Group recognised minor revenue from the sales of
bottled mineral water of approximately HK$50,000 (2023: Nil) since its
commencement of production in March 2024. The management of Hunan
Xintian is actively soliciting customers and promoting its water products in

order to enhance its turnover and customer bases.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the water mining right
as at 31 March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the water mining right
of approximately HK$29,230,000 (2023: HK$58,073,000) was provided for
the Year. The water mining right was further impaired which was resulted
from the unfavourable market sentiment and low consumers’ demands in
the PRC. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 21| to

the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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The minority shareholder who holds 33% shareholding of Good Union
has committed to provide a production volume guarantee of the water
mining business in Hunan to the Group for the years from 2019 to 2028.
The compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the production volume
guarantee for the years 2019 and 2020 of approximately RMB2 1,936,000
was mutually agreed between the minority shareholder and the Group in
2021. As at the date of this report, the minority shareholder has paid the
substantial portion of the compensation of approximately RMB 19,936,000
to the Group.

During the Year, the Group maintained communication with the minority
shareholder which has responded that their business in the PRC has been
affected by the stagnant economy in the PRC and resulted in the delay in
settlement of the entire compensation amount. On 28 March 2024, the
Group and the minority shareholder entered into a further supplemental
agreement, pursuant to which the minority shareholder agreed to pay
the outstanding compensation and the accrued interest of RMB2,500,000
together with the interest to be accrued thereon at an interest rate of 5%

per annum on or before 27 March 2025.

The production volume guarantee of the years 2021, 2022 and 2023 were
not satisfied due to the delay in construction works of the factory building
in Hunan resulting from the stringent precautionary measures during the
COVID-19 pandemic. For the compensation for the years 2021, 2022 and
2023, the Group is still negotiating with the minority shareholder.

Mining Business

The Group recorded a loss from mining business segment of approximately
HK$ 194,000 for the Year (2023: Nil). The loss from mining business
segment was mainly due to the operating expenses incurred after the
completion of acquisition of Jiuyuan Mine and Jinhao Mine in Yunnan since

December 2023. Details of Jiuyuan Mine and Jinhao Mine are set out below.
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Jiuyuan Mine

During the Year, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Yonyin
Investment Holdings Limited (“Yonyin"). Yonyin's indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, ZhenYuan County JiuYuan Mining Co., Ltd.* (“Jiuyuan”) holds
a mining licence with minerals of lead and zinc located at Jiujia Township,
Zhenyuan County, Pu’er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (PHEFEEYL
SE TS UER LR 4). The production is expected to be commenced in the
last quarter of 2024.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the mining right of Jiuyuan
as at 31 March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. No impairment loss was provided for the
Year (2023: Nil). Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note

2| to the consolidated financial statements.

Jinhao Mine

During the Year, the Group acquired 73.1% equity interests in Yongming
Investment Holdings Limited (“Yongming”). Yongming's indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, ZhenYuan County JinHao Mining Co., Ltd.* (“Jinhao™)
holds an exploration licence with minerals of copper, lead and silver
located at Enshui Road (Minjiang Market Section), Zhenyuan Yi Hani Lahu
Autonomous County, Pu’er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (‘:F' B Erg
EEEMBENERRERUMEEABREKB(RISEMSR)).
Jinhao is in the process of applying the mining licence and expected the

production to be commenced in the second half of 2025.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the exploration right of
Jinhao as at 31 March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent qualified valuer. No impairment loss was provided for the
Year (2023: Nil). Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note

2| to the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only

36 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]

NIRIEF

RAFEER  AEBREXTREZERER
RRIKIN]) B2 BARAE - kITBREEE
MBARETENRBEEAR AT (R
REBRERE L EMETGNARETES
HEARARTAIE BHEER T _NFE
PZEE R4 E ©

AEES2EBYABRMEM DR ZEHER
& AR TARNRBEEEE T _NF =
A=+—HmMAEKEE - RAFEHRER
BEBRELEE(ZT_=F: &) - BE
AHEMFHIEEIIN A M HRRM 2

RAFER » NREBERBEKBREZRER
RAE([KA T3 1% BHE - KEBNEEKEE
B AR ETERRERNMEE AR R
BEARAR (2R RPEERE EED
EnEkRRERNM KB AREKE(RIE
BHMESBORAR - i RIREAEIRFFAIE ©
SRATLHFRARFAE  TEHHER-F
“HETHFRAEE -

AEE2ER YA ERGER DA ZGHER
T ARTERNUEERE_T_ME=
A=+—HWAERERE  RAFERER
MEBBELEE(CT-=F: &) - BE
AHEMHIBEIIN G A M HREM 2 -



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
ESSHAHEEERNWR D

Property Development and Property Investment Business
The Group recorded a profit from property development and investment
segment of approximately HK$18,320,000 for the Year (2023: loss of
approximately HK$109,944,000). The turnaround from loss to profit was

mainly due to:

(i) reversal of impairment loss on deposits paid for acquisition of the
Beijing Properties as the vendor has undertaken to refund the

deposits by transfer of certain properties owned by her; and

(i) decrease in currency exchange losses on the monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in RMB resulting from more stable RMB

exchange rate during the Year.

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue from property development
and investment segment of approximately HK$14,110,000 (2023:
HK$22,220,000). Details of the decrease in revenue are set out in the

property projects in Dalian, Zhejiang and Suzhou below.

Property Development

Dalian Properties

The indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Dalian, the PRC, Dalian Chuanghe
Landmark Co Ltd.* (“Dalian Chuanghe”), engages in the development of
urban land for residential usage in Dalian and plans to develop 55 buildings
with 2| buildings in the first phase (“Phase I”) and 34 buildings in the
second phase (“Phase II") at Beibu District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District,
Dalian, the PRC* (Ff BIAE ® M 3T & A1 3BR).

*  For identification purpose only
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Phase I, named “Xin Tian Jia Yuan"”, was completed in March 2019 and
recognised as the completed properties held for sale of the Group.
There are 21| buildings established in Phase | with total saleable area of
approximately 42,540 square metres including 4 eight-storey apartments
(/N&EE), 9 garden villas () and 8 garden houses (Bf#ERIZF). Dalian
Chuanghe commenced to hand over the properties to buyers in April
2019. For the Year, approximately 27| square metres of properties
were handed over and revenue of approximately HK$ 1,788,000 (2023:
HK$3,975,000) was recorded. Due to the downturn of the property
market in the PRC, consumers’ behaviors have changed. They tend to
be more conservative and take a wait-and-see attitude towards property
investment, which has substantially affected the sales of property. As a

result, the revenue from sales of properties decreased during the Year.

Up to 31 March 2024, an aggregate of approximately 81% of the total
saleable area of Phase | have been handed over to the buyers. As at 3|
March 2024, Dalian Chuanghe had sale contracts with contract amount of
approximately RMB38,455,000 with gross saleable areas of around 5,200
square metres which are expected to be handed over to buyers in the near
future. Under the unfavourable property market sentiment, it is challenging
to sell all the remaining unsold units in Phase | of the Dalian Properties in
the near future. However, the management of Dalian Chuanghe are closely
monitoring the property market condition and is using its best endeavor to

promote and sell the remaining unsold units.

The Group reviewed the market value of the completed properties held
for sale as at 3| March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment
of the valuation. For the Year, a reversal of impairment loss on completed
properties held for sale of approximately HK$270,000 (2023: provision for
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,425,000) was made. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Phase Il is recognised as the properties under development of the Group.
The Group planned to develop 34 buildings with aggregate saleable area
of approximately 69,000 square metres. The development of Phase Il is
in preliminary stage. Due to (i) the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
since the beginning of 2020; (ii) the debt crisis of some of the property
developers in the PRC since mid-2021; and (iii) the downturn of the
property market in the PRC, the development of Phase Il has been delayed

and rescheduled.
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On 27 January 2022, Dalian Chuanghe received an idle land decision
from Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (KEMBAE
JRID), pursuant to which the land of Phase Il was determined to be in
idle condition. Therefore, there is a risk that the land of Phase Il being
repossessed by the PRC government authorities without compensation.
The management of Dalian Chuanghe is actively negotiating and
communicating with the PRC government authorities to lift the decision
of idle status and to avoid land repossession by the PRC government

authorities without compensation.

Up to the date of this report, the legal title of the land of Phase Il still
remained under the control of the Company despite the idle land decision.
No further action was taken by the PRC government authorities and the

Company was not aware of any exact timeline of the repossession.

The Board has reviewed and reconsidered the development plan of Phase
[l. The construction material costs has continuously increased in recent
years, which led to the increase in the development costs. However, the
selling price of the properties in Dalian has dropped due to the debt crisis
of some of the property developers in the PRC since mid-202| and the
downturn of the property market in the PRC. As a result, the projected
profit margin of developing Phase Il has dropped significantly. Therefore,
the Board considered that developing the land of Phase Il under the
current market condition is not in the best interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. Nevertheless, the management are still using
its best endeavors to avoid land repossession by the PRC government
authorities without compensation. In the meantime, the Group is also
identifying a buyer to purchase the land of Phase Il. However, the Group

was still not able to identify and secure a buyer.

Nevertheless, given that property development is a highly profitable
business, the Company does not intend to cease such business. Rather, the
Company has always been prepared to continue its property development
business whenever market opportunities arise. Given the recent market
conditions of the property market in the PRC, the economic uncertainties
and the increasing costs of construction resulting from the global inflation,
the Company has adopted a conservative approach on its property

development business for the time being.

*  For identification purpose only
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Property Investment

Beijing Properties

The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 28 February 2017 to
purchase (a) office premises with an aggregate gross floor area of 8,335
square metres and (b) underground car park with an aggregate gross floor
area of 3,100 square metres located at Phase lll of Beijing Convention
and Exhibition International Port (Exhibition Centre Ancillary Facilities)
Project* Qt R EEIRABRERERMIE B 2 =Hi) for a consideration
of approximately RMB220,000,000 (subject to adjustment). The Group has
paid the consideration of RMB200,000,000 in accordance with the payment

terms stated in the acquisitions agreement as deposits.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, construction works were
temporarily suspended and the vendor failed to hand over the properties
to the buyer in accordance with the agreed schedule. The Group took
legal action against the vendor for the material delay in handover of the
properties. Since the vendor has still not handed over the properties in
2023, the vendor has undertaken with the Group to refund the entire
deposit to the Group. As the vendor was in financial difficulties, the vendor
has undertaken to (i) refund the deposit by transferring certain properties
in Beijing held by the vendor and (ii) pay an additional cash compensation
of RMB8,000,000 to the Group. As at 31 March 2024, the vendor has fully
paid the cash compensation of RMB8,000,000 and transferred 4 properties
with the aggregate value of approximately RMB44,381,600 to the Group.
The transfers of the remaining properties as refund of deposit are expected
to be proceeded in 2024. Given that the vendor was actively settling its
liabilities, the Group has temporarily refrained from taking further actions
against the vendor. While the Group reserves all its rights against the
vendor and in order to minimize its loss as far as possible, the PRC lawyer
and the Group are, and will continue to, follow up and closely monitor the

refund progress.

During the Year, the four properties which have been transferred to the
Group were reclassified from deposits paid to investment properties of the
Group. These properties are currently leased to tenants for rental income.
For the Year, the Group recorded rental income from these properties of
approximately HK$518,000 (2023: Nil).

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group reviewed the market values of the properties transferred and
proposed to transfer to the Company as refund as at 31 March 2024 with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer
using market approach. A loss from change of fair value of the properties
transferred which are recognised as investment properties of the Group,
of approximately HK$384,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised for the Year.
Details of the fair value assessment of these investment properties are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. Apart from
this, a reversal of impairment loss on the remaining deposits paid for
Beijing Properties of approximately HK$74,832,000 (2023: provision for
impairment loss on the deposits paid of approximately HK$22,857,000)
was recognised for the Year. Details of the impairment assessment of
the deposits paid are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Zhejiang Properties

The Group holds the land use rights in respect of an industrial land parcel
with site area of approximately 31,950 square metres and a two-storey
industrial building with a total gross floor area of approximately 45,330
square metres together with another land parcel with a total site area of
approximately 74,960 square metres located at Chen Village, Shanghua
Street, Lanxi City, Jinhua, Zhejiang Province, the PRC* (‘:F' BT A S ER
ET EEEBILH).

The industrial lands and building are currently leased to tenants for
rental income. The Group recorded rental income of approximately
HK$4,394,000 for the Year (2023: HK$8,842,000).

Due to the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic, the post-pandemic economic
environment in the PRC was adversely affected in recent years. Affected by
this, the business of some of the tenants of the Zhejiang Properties could
not sustain and had to terminate the lease agreements in the Zhejiang
Properties with the Group or reduce the gross floor area to be leased in
the Zhejiang Properties. As a result, the average occupancy rate of the

Zhejiang Properties and the rental income for the Year dropped.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group is now using its best endeavour to identify and solicit new
tenants for the vacant units in the Zhejiang Properties. The Company
is confident that, once the market conditions improve, the demand for
industrial properties will increase and the occupancy rate of the Zhejiang
Properties will improve accordingly. The Company intends to adopt a more
progressive approach in securing new tenants, including but not limited to
(i) carry out more active marketing of the properties available for lease;
(ii) offer more competitive rental packages for potential tenants; and (iii)

engage more real estate agents to secure potential tenants.

The Group reviewed the market value of Zhejiang Properties as at 31
March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the valuation.
The loss from change in fair value of Zhejiang Properties of approximately
HK$ 11,689,000 (2023: HK$13,469,000) was recognised for the Year.
Details of the fair value assessment are set out in note |8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Suzhou Properties

The Group holds the land use rights in respect of several buildings with
total construction area of approximately 14,798 square metres together
with the land parcel with a total site area of approximately 20,841 square
metres located at 6 Waiwujingnong, Suzhou, Jiangsu, the PRC* (F BT &%
BERINTINEIEFF65R).

The Suzhou Properties comprise a garden-style hotel in Suzhou for travel,
vacation, conference and meeting. It was being leased out by the Group
for rental income and the tenants operated the same as, inter alia, business
clubs, featured business boutique hotels, restaurants, shops, offices, etc.
For the Year, the Group recorded rental and management fee income of
approximately HK$7,410,000 (2023: HK$9,403,000).

*  For identification purpose only
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Due to the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic, the post-pandemic economic
environment in the PRC was adversely affected in recent years. Affected
by this, tourism and business meetings have been seriously affected,
which in turn adversely affected the business of the tenants of the Suzhou
Properties. The business of some of the tenants could not sustain and
had to terminate the lease agreements in the Suzhou Properties with the
Group. Given the aforesaid, the average occupancy rate of the Suzhou

Properties and the rental income have dropped during the Year.

The Group is now using its best endeavour to identify and solicit new
tenants for the vacant units in the Suzhou Properties. The Company is
confident that, once the market conditions improve, the demand for
tourism properties will increase and the occupancy rate of the Suzhou
Properties will improve accordingly. The Company intends to adopt a more
progressive approach in securing new tenants, including but not limited to
(i) carry out more active marketing of the properties available for lease;
(ii) offer more competitive rental packages for potential tenants; and (iii)

engage more real estate agents to secure potential tenants.

The Group reviewed the market value of Suzhou Properties as at 31
March 2024 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the valuation.
The loss from change in fair value of Suzhou Properties of approximately
HK$55,139,000 (2023: HK$57,142,000) was recognised for the Year.
Details of the fair value assessment are set out in note |8 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Yantian Properties (Discontinued operations)

(A) The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 24 June 2014, a

supplemental agreement on |5 April 2015, the second supplemental
agreement on |2 July 2016, the third supplemental agreement on
|7 May 2017 and the fourth supplemental agreement on 3 May
2018 to purchase the property at a consideration of approximately
RMB 100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$126,000,000).

The property comprises 46 units of Jinma Creative Industry Park
(formerly known as “Kingma Information Logistic Park™) which is
situated at Depot No. 2, 3rd Road and Shenyan Road Intersect, Inner
Logistic Park, Yantian Bonded Area, Yantian District, Shenzhen City,
the PRC* (7 B Y11 &8 FH [ B8 AR AR T (2 4000 B ) = 5% % BLR B8
B AZEBR — SRHEYS) (“Jinma Creative Industry Park”) with a total

gross floor area of approximately 8,699 square metres.

As at 3| March 2024, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB90,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sales and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB 10,000,000 shall
be paid within 30 days from the date on which the relevant building
ownership certificates are issued in favour of the purchaser which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser”). The vendor shall register the title of the property
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser on or before 31

December 2018 (or such other date as may be mutually agreed).

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group entered into the second acquisition agreement on |5
May 2015, a supplemental agreement on |2 July 2016, the second
supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017 and the third supplemental
agreement on 3 May 2018 to purchase additional property at a
consideration of approximately RMB65,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,400,000). The property comprises 30 units
of Jinma Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of

approximately 5,400 square metres.

As at 3| March 2024, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB60,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB5, 100,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).

The Group entered into the third acquisition agreement on |0
November 2015, a supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017
and the second supplemental agreement on 3 May 2018 to
purchase additional property at a consideration of approximately
RMBI01,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$122,000,000). The
property acquired was a single-storey reinforced concrete building
designated for office and storage uses located at Block 2 of Jinma
Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of approximately

4,957 square metres.

As at 3| March 2024, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB100,000,000 in accordance with the terms of
payment stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB 1,600,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).
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For Yantian Properties (A), (B) and (C) as described above, as at the date
of this report, the vendor has still not registered the titles of the properties
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The approval
from the PRC government authority for issuing the building ownership
certificates remained pending. In April 2021, the Company received the
second letter from the vendor requesting for an extension of the deadline
to 3|1 December 2021 for handling the matter of building ownership
certificates. However, due to the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the registration of building ownership certificates has not been completed
by the extended deadline. The Company has engaged a PRC law firm to

negotiate with the vendor to resolve this matter.

Given the title defects in the Yantian Properties, such properties do not
generate any revenue nor profit for the Group while the Group has to

expend certain costs in continuing to hold and maintain the same.

On 27 April 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Century Strong Limited
and the shareholder's loan advanced to Century Strong Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”), at a consideration of RMB150,000,000.
The wholly-owned subsidiaries of Century Strong Limited hold the naming
right and advertising right of Jimma Creative Industry Park and the Yantian
Properties (A), (B) and (C). The disposal constituted a very substantial
disposal transaction under the Listing Rules and was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 12 July
2023. The disposal is expected to be completed by early 2025. Details of
the disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 May
2023 and the circular of the Company dated 23 June 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Disposal Group had been classified
as held for sales and a provision for impairment loss on deposits paid for
Yantian Properties of approximately HK$56,469,000 was recognised. As at
31 March 2023, the Disposal Group was stated at the fair value equivalent
to the consideration for disposal amounting to RMB150,000,000.
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According to the recent discussion with the buyer of the Disposal Group,
she re-confirmed her willingness to complete the transaction according to
the sale and purchase agreement. Therefore, as at 31 March 2024, there
was no indication of any impairment on the Disposal Group and the fair

value of the Disposal Group remained unchanged.

Furniture Trading Business

In December 2022, the Group has entered into a joint venture agreement
with an independent third party to establish a joint venture company to
engage in furniture trading business. Due to the downturn of the property
market in the PRC which has led to the decline in demand for furniture,
the Group has terminated the joint venture agreement for the furniture
trading business in December 2023. Apart from the initial set-up costs
and professional fees incurred for the establishment of the joint venture
company, no other significant expenses have been paid by the Company
under the joint venture agreement. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated |6 December 2022, 6 March 2023
and 27 December 2023.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. As a responsible corporation,
the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and
employment in all material respects. The Group has also adopted effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste

reduction.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
During the Year, there was no incident of material non-compliance with

any relevant laws and regulations for the Group.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

During the Year, there were no material dispute between the Group and
its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers, banks,
regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key

stakeholders.
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PROSPECTS

Although the Group has faced challenge from the aftermath of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the downturn of property market and economy
in the PRC during the Year, the Directors are optimistic about the
economic development of the PRC in the long run and believes that the
demands for water products and properties in the PRC will remain stable
and sustainable. The Group will continue to strengthen its competitive
strength in its core business, i.e. water business, property development
and property investment business and look for appropriate business and

investment opportunities in these areas.

In December 2023, the Group has acquired 2 companies which hold
mining licence and mining exploration licence located at Yunnan. The
acquisitions represent an excellent opportunity for the Group to invest
and tap into in the natural resources industry in the PRC and are in line
with the development objective of the Group of becoming a market player
in the natural resources industry. The Group is looking forward for the

contributions from mining business in near future.

The Group will continue to endeavour to diversify its business and
asset portfolio in order to diverse the risks from its existing businesses.
Apart from its existing core business, the Group is actively studying the
feasibilities of expansion into energy-related business. The management

remains open for other business opportunities whenever the same arise.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no material

investments during the Year.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year
(2023: Nil).
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP REFZEELE

Placing of Shares on 3 August 2018 REZF-NFNA=ZHEER G

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing R-ZE—NFENA=ZH BEFHRERS
of shares under specific mandate on 3 August 2018 were approximately R n 2 P15 R I8 3 58 (AR H1 5k B A8 a4 &
HK$316,500,000. Details of the placing of shares were set out in the F X&) #)5316,500,0008 7T BB ERHD 2
announcements of the Company dated 17 April 2018 and 3 August 2018 HBEHNARARBH AMAE-_ZT—N\FWEA
TEARZE-NENAZBZZEREN
EARRBBEHAE_ZT—NFNARBZEX

respectively and the circular of the Company dated 5 June 2018.

A o
Up to 31 March 2024, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows: BEE-E-_NF=A=+—8B KA&EHEFE
RFTSSRIFET ¢
Remaining
balance of
Utilisation net proceeds
up to as at
Intended use of Original allocation of ~ Actual use of Actual allocation of 31 March 31 March
net proceeds net proceeds net proceeds net proceeds 2024 2024
HEE R-B-ME
ZB-mE ZA=1-H
ZR=1-B FBREFH
FERERE RERR FEREARECREIE FERERE ERAR FEREFE ERIE EER LB
% of net % of net
HK$’million proceeds HK$’ million proceeds HK$’million HK$’million
hAREHE ARG RE
BEBT REAAH BERRT FEAIH BEBT BERET
Capital expenditure on the 56.0 |7.7% Capital expenditure on the 56.0 17.7% 34.1 2.5
production facilities of production facilities of
Hunan Xintian Hunan Xintian
HEMAEEREZ HEMBEEREZ
EXRX ERRX
Potential acquisition of 2130 67.3% Acquisition of Shenyang 2130 67.3% 2130 =
business or companies Properties
BEEBRATYRE LS
Working capital of the Group 475 [5.0% Working capital of the Group 47.5 15.0% 475 =
AREZEEES AREZREAS
3165 100.0% 3165 100.0% 294.6 219
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Net proceeds of approximately HK$15.9 million has been utilised for the
use of capital expenditure on the production facilities of Hunan Xintian
during the Year. Due to the unexpected outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic in the past few years and the slower-than-expected economic
recovery after the pandemic, the upward trend of the PRC economy have
been obstructed. Since it may take time for the economy and the market
sentiment of the PRC to recover, Hunan Xintian has currently tuned
down the production scale from original plan. The Group may expand the
production scale in the future after taking into account the pace of recovery
of the PRC economy and the demand of the products. Therefore, the
unutilised net proceeds as at 3| March 2024 of approximately HK$21.9
million (2023: HK$37.8 million) are expected to be utilised by the first
quarter of 2031 for the expansion of production facilities of Hunan Xintian.
However, the utilization date may be subject to further amendments if the

market conditions do not favour such capital investments.

In view for a better use of the Company’s resources, the Board may
temporarily re-allocate the aforesaid unutilised net proceeds for other
uses. However, once the expected demand for our products exceeds our
production capacity, the Board will deploy the unutilised net proceeds
of approximately HK$21.9 million back to the capital expenditure on the

production facilities of Hunan Xintian.

Placing of Shares on 29 July 2022

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing
of shares under general mandate on 29 July 2022 at the placing price of
HK$0.03 per share were approximately HK$29.51 million. The net placing
price was approximately HK$0.0295 per share. Details of the placing of
shares were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 5 July
2022 and 29 July 2022 respectively. The closing price of the shares on the
date of placing agreement was HK$0.03.
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Up to 31 March 2024, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

BEE-T-ME=ZA=+-A FAEEEE
AR EREFENT :

Remaining
Utilisation  balance of net
up to proceeds as at
Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 31 March 2024 31 March 2024
R-Z-QmF
EZ-2-MF =A=1-H
ZA=t-H  FERERE
FEREREZRERRE FEREREZIE BfEA 2
% of net
HK$ million proceeds HK$ million HK$ million
{EFT S RE
BEBT FREDL BEBT BEBT
Working capital of the Group rEEzEEES 19.5] 66.1% 1951 =
Potential investment BERA 10.00 339% 10.00 -
29.51 100.0% 29.51 =

Net proceeds of approximately HK$9.96 million has been utilised for the
use of potential investment during the Year. As at 31 March 2024, the
net proceeds had been fully utilised (2023: unutilised net proceeds was

approximately HK$9.96 million which was for potential investment).

Placing of Shares on 31 March 2023

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing of
shares under general mandate on 3| March 2023 at the placing price of
HK$0.146 per share were approximately HK$ || million. The net placing
price was approximately HK$0.142 per share. Details of the placing of
shares were set out in the announcements of the Company dated |6 March
2023 and 31 March 2023 respectively. The closing price of the shares on
the date of placing agreement was HK$0.177.
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Up to 31 March 2024, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

PSRBT M T

BE-ZE-_ME=A=+—HB  "&E£EDF

Remaining

Utilisation  balance of net

up to proceeds as at

Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 31 March 2024 31 March 2024

K-g-mE

EZ-%-Mf =A=1-H

=R=t-B FR¥EFE

FEREREZRERRE FEREREZIE BfEA 2
% of net

HK$ million proceeds HK$ million HK$ million
{hAE5R

BEBT FRADL BEBT BEBT

Working capital of the Group rEEzEEES 1.0 100% 1.0 =

Net proceeds of approximately HK$ 1.0 million has been utilised for the
use of working capital of the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2024,
the net proceeds had been fully utilised (2023: unutilised net proceeds was
approximately HK$1 1.0 million which was for the working capital of the

Group).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, total equity attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$1,343,790,000 (2023: HK$1,385,226,000). The
decrease arose from the loss attributable to owners of the Company.
There were no other material change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group’s liquidity funds were primarily used to
invest in the development of our property business, mining business and
water business and for their operations and such funds were funded by a
combination of capital contribution by shareholders, borrowings as well as

cash generated from operation.

As at 31 March 2024, the total borrowings of the Group comprised
loans from independent third parties of approximately HK$3,86 1,000
(2023: HK$5,255,000) and secured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$8,825,000 (2023: Nil). The loans from independent third parties are
interest-bearing at 10% per annum and repayable within one year. The
secured bank borrowings are interest-bearing at 4.615% per annum and

repayable on |9 September 2026.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$1,954,633,000 (2023: HK$1,742,847,000) which was financed
by current liabilities of approximately HK$271,104,000 (2023:
HK$146,955,000), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$8,825,000
(2023: Nil), non-controlling interests of approximately HK$ 117,414,000
(2023: HK$67,429,000) and shareholders’ equity of approximately
HK$1,343,790,000 (2023: HK$1,385,226,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the current ratio of the Group was approximately
[.03 (2023: 3.07). Current ratio is calculated based on current assets

divided by current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.009 (2023: 0.004). Gearing ratio is calculated based on total borrowings
divided by total equity.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
Acquisition

On 23 August 2023, the Group entered into sale and purchase agreements
to acquires (i) 100% of the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s
loan advanced to, Yonyin Investment Holdings Limited (“Yonyin”) at a
consideration of HK$37,000,000 and (ii) 73.1% of the issued share capital
of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced to, Yongming Investment Holdings
Limited (“Yongming”) at a consideration of HK$163,000,000. Yonyin's
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, ZhenYuan County JiuYuan Mining Co.,
Ltd.* holds a mining licence with minerals of lead and zinc located at Jiujia
Township, Zhenyuan County, Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC*
(PRIEmRE EEMETENLF ). Yongming's indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, ZhenYuan County JinHao Mining Co., Ltd.* holds an exploration
licence with minerals of copper, lead and silver located at Enshui Road
(Minjiang Market Section), Zhenyuan Yi Hani Lahu Autonomous County,
Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (FREIEE & & H M L&k iA
EEf ik 8RB EKE(RISEMHE)) The acquisitions were
approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 28 November 2023 and completed on 14 December
2023. The acquisitions constituted a major transaction under the Listing
Rules. Details of the acquisitions are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 August 2023 and 14 December 2023, and the circular
of the Company dated 9 November 2023.

Disposal

On 27 April 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Century Strong Limited
(together with its subsidiaries referred to as the “Disposal Group”) and the
shareholder’s loan advanced to the Disposal Group, at a consideration of
RMB150,000,000. The Disposal Group holds the naming right, advertising
right, a single-storey building located at Block 2 and 76 units located at
Block | of Jimma Creative Industry Park, which is situated at Depot No. 2,
3rd Road and Shenyan Road Interact, Inner Logistic Park, Yantian Bonded
Area, Yantian District, Shenzhen City, the PRC. The disposal constituted
a very substantial disposal transaction under the Listing Rules and was
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 12 July 2023. The disposal is expected
to be completed by early 2025. Details of the disposal are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 2 May 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated 23 June 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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Save and except for those disclosed above and in notes |5 and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has no material acquisition or

disposal during the Year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 20 May 2024, a total of 187,680,560 new shares of the Company had
been successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than six placees
at the placing price of HK$0.105 per placing share under the general
mandate granted to the Directors by ordinary resolution passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2023. Upon
the completion of the aforesaid placing of new shares, the total number
of issued shares of the Company increased from 938,402,800 shares to
[,126,083,360 shares. Details of the placing of shares are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 25 April 2024 and 20 May 2024.

On |3 June 2024, the Company issued 32,000,000 and 155,680,000
consideration shares in accordance with the two sale and purchase
agreements in respect of the acquisitions of Yonyin and Yongming as
disclosed in the paragraph headed "MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR
DISPOSALS"” above. The ordinary resolution approving the issuance of
the consideration shares was passed at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 28 November 2023. Upon the completion of the
issuance of the consideration shares, the total number of issued shares
of the Company increased from 1,126,083,360 shares to 1,313,763,360
shares. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 August 2023, 28 November 2023, |4 December 2023
and |3 June 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 9 November
2023.

Save and except for those disclosed above and in note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any significant
events that have occurred subsequent to 3| March 2024 and up to the

date of this report which require disclosure herein.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in the exchange rate of
RMB, arising from relevant group entities’ monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currency for the Group's operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy to
eliminate the currency exposures. Nevertheless, the management closely
monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure from time to time and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures should the need

arise.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 66 (2023: 47) employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC as at 3| March 2024. The total staff cost (staff salaries,
directors’ emoluments and other staff costs) for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$ 11,938,000 (2023: HK$10,901,000). Remuneration
packages are generally structured with reference to the market conditions
and individual performance. Apart from the mandatory provident fund and
statutory retirement benefits, the Group also provides medical benefits
and subsidises employees in various trainings and continuous education

programs.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Save and except for those disclosed in note 4| to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other capital commitments and

contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Save and except for those disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other financial guarantee contracts as
at 31 March 2024.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Save and except for those disclosed in note [9(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have other charges over its assets
as at 31 March 2024.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to our shareholders and business associates for their ongoing
support and extend our appreciation to our management team and staff

members for their contributions in the Year.

By order of the Board

Ouyang Yanling

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

The Directors of the Company present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| March 2024 (the
“Year").

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at an special general meeting held on |3 December 2023, the
English name of the Company has been changed from “Asia Resources
Holdings Limited” to “Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited” and
a dual foreign name in Chinese " INB{EIZERRNBRAF]" has been
adopted to replace "2 MERIERBPRAF", both of which became
effective on 13 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 87
to 88.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant
to which the Company may distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of dividends shall be
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the distribution shall

achieve continuity, stability and sustainability.

The recommendation of any dividend is subject to the discretion of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings per share, the reasonable
return in investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to
provide incentive to them to continue to support the Group in their long-
term development, the financial conditions and business plan of the Group,

and the market sentiment and circumstances.
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The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

periods.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the

Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 938,402,800 (2023: 938,402,800). Details of the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Year are set out in the
paragraph headed “BUSINESS REVIEW" under “BOARD OF DIRECTOR'S
STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” which
forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES TERRRETHBEE

The Group's has identified the principal risks and uncertainties in the AEBEDIRNAEEKEMETENTER
industries in which the Group operates. The risks and uncertainties may m RTEAMEE - ZERR R TAMAZEA
affect the operations and results of the Group. The principal risks and RYEAFENKERES ZFFEAR

uncertainties include but not limited to the followings: RAARREZEBRENRNATRIE :
Risk factors and uncertainties Risk Responses
RV B 3= &% A e E B & 2 B [0 e
(1) Revenue relied heavily on sales and leasing of Apart from the property development and property
properties investment businesses, the Group is also developing the
WA EXRBYREERES water business in Hunan. The water factory in Hunan has

commenced its commercial production in the first quarter of
2024 and is currently generating sales. The development of
water business in Hunan will gradually diversify the sources
of income of the Group. In addition, the Group completed
the acquisitions of two mining operations in Yunnan in
December 2023. The mining operations will bring new
source of income to the Group in the future. Moreover, the
Group is also actively looking for other potential investment
projects and commodity trading businesses to expand the
source of revenue and diversify its business.
BOEERRMEREEBI  AEBTENHBEER
KRR - R HERKBER T _MFEE—FLAD
ERE  RIPETHE - HEKEBNRE #2520
HASENBARIR - o AEER T _=F+=
AP EMELNERmNBER - BEBRRE RN
SEERIOWARIR - FRIEF 25 - AEBERY
BEMEENNKRERBEEMESER - AEREA
TR - WEEEKE LT -

60 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

Risk factors and uncertainties

EEER TERERE

(2) Affected by various factors such as change in
policies of the PRC government, slowdown of the
PRC's economic growth and change in consumers’

preference, the property market in the PRC became

sluggish

XTBEBRFRRELC  FEKEERBENEE
EEHUBESBARYE PENETHEE
SR

(3) Failure to retain the land use rights in the PRC
REERE B A L 42

Risk Responses

2, Bk [E] &

The Group pays close attention to the latest policies,
news and market trends relating to the property market
in the PRC from time to time, and formulates appropriate
business strategies in a timely manner to ensure that business
operations are in line with changes in the social, political,
economic and legal environment. The Group will continue
to implement its strategic development and strengthen
penetration and coverage in different regional markets to
reduce reliance on any specific market.
AEETREVNEETEMETSRAOBE HEK
MISES  BEEHEEENE LR UERRBFES
DAt  BUA - RIEBEMERRENE L - AEE K
BEMBERBIEER - MARTRMRTISNZENRE
Z OB ERERMERITS

The Group pays close attention to the latest land policies of
the PRC government and maintains communication with the
relevant authorities to protect our land use rights.
AEBEZ LT BEBA RN LIEER - TREA RS
FIRITEE - UREL 2 ERHE
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Risk factors and uncertainties

EREERAEERE

(4) Significant portion of our business relies on major

customers

REBPWEBEREIZEP

(5) Price fluctuations on minerals

TRE(ERNE

Risk Responses

2 Bex [E]

Major customers of the Group include tenants and
customers from sales of properties. During the Year, the
Group increased investment properties in Beijing and
will gradually hand over more units in the future, thereby
increasing rental income of the Group and expanding its
customer base. The Group also pays close attention to the
latest policies and news relating to the PRC property market
and formulates appropriate operating strategies in a timely
manner. At the same time, the Group is actively developing
other businesses such as water business and mining business
to expand its customer bases.
AEENTIEEFERETIMEHEZRTF - RAF
B AEBEEMNTURIEREIRENE - REANSGES
RWEZEM - ARAARENHSKRARBARS
o AEENTEIEEARTEYENSRANOBERLK
HE - BRHEEENEERE - AN - AREEHE
REMEBIREBNREEY - UWRARZPE -

The Group pays close attention to the price fluctuations of
the metal markets and will formulate appropriate operating
strategies in a timely manner to ensure the stability of
revenue and profits.
AEEREECBMBERNKE  HERGEEE
MR B RES - ERBARMBOREME

Further, the Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: BE  AEEIHEYSEVEER TS
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), B (BEEERR  BERnsE RAFENE
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management framework Af) EERBELEESRER o NEFRE
also takes into account the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to ENEREEERGZ B SR TSN T8
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The B WESKFREREE A EB P ERIZNE

details are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERFRE - FHIFHN A MBS RAM S -
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.
However, a company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a

distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they

become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium accounts.

The Company has deficit as at 31 March 2024 which comprises contributed
surplus of approximately HK$180,057,000 less accumulated losses of
approximately HK$2,774,148,000. Accordingly, the Company has no

reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note |9 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this

repor't were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Ouyang Yanling
(appointed with effect from 23 February 2024)
Mr. Li Yuguo
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
Mr. Li Xiaoming
Mr. Yu Jiang
(resigned with effect from |6 August 2023)
Ms. Wen Junyi
(appointed with effect from 12 June 2024)
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang
Mr. Huang Yilin
Mr. Chen Dong Yao
(appointed with effect from 23 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ba Junyu
Mr. Zhu Xueyi

(resigned with effect from 19 April 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Man

(resigned with effect from 19 April 2024)
Mr. So Ting Kong

(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024)
Mr. Wong Sung

(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Xingge

(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024)

In accordance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules:

a.  Ms. Ouyang Yanling and Mr. Chen Dong Yao have received the legal

advice on 23 February 2024;

b.  Mr. So Ting Kong, Mr Wong Sung and Mr. Xu Xingge have received

the legal advice on 2| May 2024; and

c.  Ms. Wen Junyi has received the legal advice on || June 2024.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Ouyang
Yanling, Ms. Wen Junyi, Mr. Chen Dong Yao, Mr. So Ting Kong, Mr. Wong
Sung and Mr. Xu Xingge will retire at the forthcoming annual general

meeting, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Liu
Yan Chee James and Mr. Yang Xiaogiang will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-election as Directors at the annual general meeting.

The term of office of each of the Independent Non-executive Directors is
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual

general meetings as required by the Company's Bye-laws.

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debenture
of the Company or associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 (the “Model Code")
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the

“Listing Rules”) were as follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

Name of directors Capacity

EEpnA 14

Liu Yan Chee James Beneficial owner

2125 BEEERA

Huang Yilin Beneficial owner

B IR EDBEBA
Note:

The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the Company of

938,402,800 Shares as at 3| March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company or their associates had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 March 2024, there was no outstanding share options. During the
Year and up to the date of this Report, the Company did not have any

subsisting share option scheme or other share scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in respect of the Directors’ interests in securities
and share options, at no time during the Year, was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debt securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (other than any director
and chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder

BREREE HE

Yao Jigen (Note 2)
BRAER (Aa22)
Full Tenda Development Limited

(Note 2)
EREZRARQA(MiE2)

Lam Pik Lam (Note 3)
MBI (HE3)

Green Deer Holdings Limited (Note 3)

REEBRAR DR (ME3)

Liang Shulian

Capacity

5t

Beneficial owner and interest in

controlled corporation
BESBEAARNRIEG AR
B
Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Interest in controlled corporation

REEEEE R B S

Beneficial owner

EmfEA A

Beneficial owner

ERmBEEA
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Note I: The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the

Company of 938,402,800 Shares as at 31 March 2024.

Note 2: Yao Jigen personally held 9,700,000 shares and Full Tenda Development Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Yao Jigen, holds 243,273,800 shares. The
total number of shares beneficially owned by Yao Jigen is 252,973,800 shares.

Note 3: These shares were held by Green Deer Holdings Limited, which is wholly and

beneficially owned by Lam Pik Lam.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified and is not
aware of any other person who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
as having an interest of 5% or more in the issued shares capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no transaction, arrangement
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during

the Year.

Ml - BALDERARRBE_S _MF=A=+—
A B 2171 4258938,402, 800X X DT E ©

HiaE2 - gk A 4R 8 A 5 4 9,700,000 A% B 5 - 1M gk 4 AR
2EERMERAERERRERAARTA
243,273,800M% IR0 - thER BEm A R(H AR
252,973,800B% A& 5 ©

Het3 - ZERMBMER2EERER AREBZERE
RABFEA °

B EXFREESN R E-mE= A=+
B+ A F A A B 3 TR A (L
o A AR FR D AR BRRR 9 B 208
RAND FIRIE B R B 1 0I5 336 AT B
2 BEMAEED TR R TRAS%E I L
W2 ERRAR -

ESNEN &R
BARERRESEIN  AQT - LRRAF
S A A RS 8T LA AMRAS
ERINAFETASMFHLAANES
SREFHMENEREEAMERAEA
iz BARS - RIRAM -

Annual Report 2024 ¥R

69



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Termination of the Acquisition of Properties

Asiaciti Investment Limited (“Asiaciti”)(as purchaser), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into sale and purchase
agreement on |2 October 2017 (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with BEREEZEBRAF](as vendor), to purchase the properties
comprising Floors 7 to 35 of Building T3 situated at 46 Nanjing North
Street, Heping District, Shenyang City, Liaoning Province, PRC under the
Shenyang Commodity Housing Pre-sale Permit No. 16122 for a total
consideration of RMB625,000,000 (subject to adjustment). The vendor was
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li Yuguo (“Mr. Li"), a substantial shareholder, the Chairman

and an Executive Director of the Company.

On 24 April 2019, the vendor and Asiaciti entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”), pursuant to which, (i)
the parties have mutually agreed to terminate the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and no parties shall have claims against each other; and (i) on
or prior to 24 October 2019, the vendor shall refund a total amount of
RMB562,500,000 paid by Asiaciti (the “Refund Amount”) and shall pay a
lump sum of RMB1 1,250,000, being 2% of the Refund Amount, to Asiaciti

as monetary compensation.

On | November 2019, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which, Mr. Li
agreed to assume the responsibilities to repay the Refund Amount and the
related compensation and interests to Asiaciti. Asiaciti agreed to extend
the repayment date to 24 April 2020, with an interest rate of 5.25% per

annum.
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On 3 July 2020, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered into a further supplemental
agreement (the “Further Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Mr. Li agreed to repay Asiaciti the outstanding amount in the sum of
RMB584,778,676.47 in the following manner: (a) 10% of the outstanding
sum shall be repaid on or before 2 January 2021; and (b) 90% of the
outstanding sum together with the interest to be accrued on the
outstanding sum at an interest rate of 10% per annum shall be repaid on or
before 2 July 2021.

On 26 August 2021 and | September 2021, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered
into the second and third further supplemental agreements respectively
(together the “Amended Second Further Supplemental Agreement”),
pursuant to which, Mr. Li agreed to repay Asiaciti the remaining outstanding
amount of RMB559,538,859.19 (the “Outstanding Sum”) together with the
interest to be accrued on the Outstanding Sum at an interest rate of 10%

per annum on or before 2 July 2022.

On 19 August 2022, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered into the fourth further
supplemental agreement (the “Fourth Further Supplemental Agreement"”),
pursuant to which, Mr. Li agreed to repay Asiaciti the outstanding interest
of RMB88,588,337.26 together with the interest to be accrued thereon at
an interest rate of 8% per annum on or before 2 July 2023.

Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 12 October 2017, 24 April 2019, | November 2019,
22 January 2020, 27 February 2020, 29 April 2020, 8 May 2020, 7 July
2020, 7 July 2021, | September 2021, 28 October 2021, 8 July 2022 and
|9 August 2022, and the circulars of the Company dated 22 January 2018,
6 February 2020, 24 August 2020, | November 2021 and 30 September
2022 respectively.
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Up to 2 July 2023, Mr. Li Yuguo has already repaid () the entire Refund
Amount, (2) the monetary compensation and (3) part of the accrued
interests in the aggregate sum of RMB624,061,334.1 | to the Company.
However, Mr. Li has not yet repaid the outstanding interest together
with the interest accrued thereon under the Fourth Further Supplemental
Agreement in the aggregate sum of RMB94,762,823.01 (the "Defaulted
Amount”) by 2 July 2023. On 10 July 2023, the Board had set up a special
committee to handle the follow-up action in respect of the Defaulted
Amount. In the meantime, the Group was charging Mr. Li Yuguo default
interests on the Defaulted Amount calculated on a daily basis at the rate
of 15% per annum until settlement. On 18 December 2023, Mr. Li has fully
settled the Defaulted Amount and all the default interest accrued thereon.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10
July 2023, 8 November 2023 and |8 December 2023.

The Supplemental Agreement, the Further Supplemental Agreement,
the Amended Second Further Supplemental Agreement and the Fourth
Further Supplemental Agreement constituted connected transactions
under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules. The Supplemental Agreement, the
Further Supplemental Agreement, Amended Second Further Supplemental
Agreement and the Fourth Further Supplemental Agreement were
approved by the independent shareholders at the special general meetings
of the Company held on 3 March 2020, |5 September 2020, 18 November
2021 and 20 October 2022 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any related party
transactions during the Year, which constituted a non-exempt connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 44

to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
above, certain related party transactions set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions of
the Company but were fully exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements

under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any charitable donations (2023:
Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company
has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet reached an
agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance premium of
new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal action which
may be taken against the Directors of the Company has not been in place
since 21 May 2018. The Company will continue to liaise with the insurer on

the same.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the

Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or

existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 30.7% (2023: 37.5%) of the Group's total
revenue and the revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 82.7% (2023: 84.9%) of the Group's total
revenue.

During the Year, the costs incurred in respect of the Group'’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 32.4% (2023: 57.0%) of the Group's
total cost of sales and the costs incurred in respect of the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 48.6% (2023: 85.7%) of the

Group's total cost of sales.

At no time during the Year, did a director, a close associate of a director
or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the directors
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, have an

interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. Apart from the
mandatory provident fund and statutory retirement benefits, the Group
also provides medical benefits and sponsored employees in different

training and continuous education program.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are determined, taking
into account the Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to

shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the

Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on public information
available, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout

the Year.

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited as auditors of
the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
On behalf of the Board

Ouyang Yanling

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B RS

STEISEHABRAT

LAU ’ 2IEREZEEE g
LAU & AU YEUNG C.P.A. LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZHONG JIA GUO XIN HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong Jia Guo
Xin Holdings Company Limited (the “"Company"”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 262, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BERETER

EARETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

EMNFTNAEEZBERETSH

Impairment assessment of exploration and mining right included in intangible assets

STABEEE 2 B R KRR E 2R E G

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
SRR E W IREMEE2] -

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the exploration and mining
rights included in intangible assets was approximately HK$360,267,000.
RIFB-WF=ZA=1+—8 st ABFEEZ R RERZKE
E#)73360,267,000/8 7T °

As detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
exploration and mining activities have not yet commenced during the

year.

e MR 2 st - R MRERABNE AR

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
mineral mining rights at the end of each reporting period. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the mineral mining rights based
on the fair value estimated by an independent external valuer who used
multi period excess earnings method, in which key assumptions included
expected price of mineral products, net profit margin and discount rate.
EEEANSRERRZBRBENTARETR - RIBFBILINE
HEMERZHRBRARNEZ( AN IERREEEYERZASR
B - AR ERRFTEE) G2 A TE - BEEEEREE AW E
TR o

This area was significant to our audit due to the significance of the
balances, and the fact that management’s assessment of the recoverable
amount of the balances involved significant judgement.
HRRBEIFFEAMNEEENARB AT NB S ES REAHE
HEHEREREZEE -
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Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of exploration and mining right
included:
HERIRBREMEZREFGEZREZFE
SEE

* Assessing the appropriateness of
valuation methodology, key assumptions
and estimated used based on general
conditions of lead and zinc market;

o REBEMFBRT S 2 —RARTEATE
AWMEERE  TERRKEGEFREA
i

* Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management's expert; and

- FEEEEEREE
ISE AR

BENh - FEM

* Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of lead and zinc, net profit
margin and discount rate against industry
data.
ROXBBEERIZRR(BEN N
B FRHAEMR AR R RITEEK) -

We found that the key assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BERETER

EARETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BMNFTNAEEZBRETSEH

Impairment assessment of water mining right included in intangible assets

FFABEEE 2 BRKEZBERN

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

2HERE M MARMEE21 ©

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of the water mining right
included in intangible assets was approximately HK$198,482,000.
RIZB-WF=ZA=+—B FABFEEZRKEZERHEOR
198,482,000/ 7T °

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
water mining right at the end of each reporting period. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the water mining right based on
the fair value estimated by an independent professional external valuer
who used multi period excess earnings method, in which key assumptions
included expected price of bottled mineral water, net profit margin and
discount rate.

EEEANSRERRZBEOKENTARETR - REBLEE
SMEMEERNE A Z MBBR S AT 2 A FE(ETHERRRE
ERERBRKZARER EHRRFRX)  EEEBEEHRKEZ
REEE

Our procedures in relation to impairment

assessment of water mining right included:

HERKEAE 2 RE G ZIEFB2EE

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on general conditions
of the bottled mineral water industry;

o REBMEBRKITEZ —BGIRRFE P
ERANMBERE  TERKEMGFRS

A

* Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management's expert; and

- FIHEEEERIKE RN FEE
NI R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BERETER

EARETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BMNFTNAEEZBRETSEH

Impairment assessment of water mining right included in intangible assets (continued)

FFABEEE 2 BKEZBERN M ()

This area was significant to our audit due to the significance of the
balances, and the fact that management’s assessment of the recoverable
amount of the balances involved significant judgement.
HRBRBEIFFEAMNEREENARB 2 AIRLBSESREAHE
HHESEEEZER -

Impairment assessment of interests in associates

REE Nz SR ET

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

28R M HRARMI5E22 -

The Group has 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding
Dong Group Company Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary in
Guangxi, which are presented as interests in associates under the equity
method. The principal activities of the associates are production and
sales of bottled water. As at 31 March 2024, the interests in associates
amounted to approximately HK$90,000,000, the related share of losses of
the associates was approximately HK$ 11,425,000 and the impairment loss
on the interests in associates was approximately HK$780,000.
EEEBATERKTRERFRATREERZEWNB AR Z20%
Pk - WIRBSEBRBERRZRE2Y - BERRNIEERK
REEREERKK R-ZT-_WF=A=+—H REEQFZ
125 #790,000,000/8 7T * HERE 16 %Mt & R RIS B4 /3 11,425,000
TER AR E A R 2 s A R{EEIE4) /780,000 7T
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*  Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of bottled mineral water,
net profit margin and discount rate against
industry data.

- BOXBBRERIZRR(EEMER
FOKZ BB  ANERIEEK) o

We found that the key assumptions were

supported by the available evidence.

BRPEEEXI2BRRIDAEAK -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of interests in
associates included:

BTG E IR BB N B 2 R PR ER
BEFf R 8

* Assessing the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management'’s expert;

- FRIHEBEEBERIKEE B
KB
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HEETER

Impairment assessment of interests in associates (continued)

REEE N Bz R ERT (&)

The management performed impairment assessment of interests in
associates with the use of valuation performed by an independent
professional external valuer based on the value in use calculation.
The valuation requires the application of significant judgement and
estimation by the management in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology, use of assumptions and judgements.
BEEERNEE AR 2B ETTRERS - HEMRBILERINDE
BRRERBEFEEIBHZMGEE HEFTEEEERBERNHEG
Kfbat - OREEE 2 HERE - ERRR LA

EARETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BRANET N EEZERESEE

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on the general
conditions of the bottled water industry;
and

« RBREKITRZ —BARRFE A ER
MEESE  EEBRRRMEFESS
RIS

* Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of bottled water, gross
profit margin and discount rate against
industry data.

- BOFXBEBEEREIZRR(BEMEK
ZTEHERE - EMERIFBER) -

We found that the key assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.

BACEEERBRIBEAK -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information™).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | A7 A1 B 12 % % 1 B BR A 7
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

RN E T R S B IS R AR
E2EEE)

« HESAMBHmRNEBRIHSN A
BRAR  BEBEEER  UREEY
BHRERETERBEBEIZRER -

- B BEEERNERIEKIDHNNBE
HERTR  @ENETRE  UEYH
FEVBHRRERER - ZHMEE &
SEEFNTR  BEBERT - HAR
BB RAEEZREE -

BREMEEREN  BMAEBXEZBEGEB T
MEHE  BFRRHE BEXEZER
% - BRERBMERET P H5 W A R ZE S 0 E
[EEZN-SE=

BT REZZESRRIEH  FHARFE
NEBABE L EBERER - WM
BREBFREAEMKASEFERMBILIE
M ERENREMSEIR  UREERNER
T SREITEIOERREE BRI IE 5

Annual Report 2024 ¥R

85



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Au Yeung Tin Wah.

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Au Yeung Tin Wah
Practising Certificate Number: P02343

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEEkAEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains

Other losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Share of results of associates

Provision for impairment loss on
intangible assets

Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss on
deposits paid

Provision for impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss on
completed properties held for sale

Provision for impairment loss on interests
in associates

Reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables

(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on
other receivables

Loss from changes in fair value of investment
properties

Gain on bargain purchase

Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

Loss for the year from discontinued
operations

FESEXR
YA
HEMRA

EH

H At Y zs

H it &5 18

HE MDA
TR
DIEEE R RIRE
BIVEEZRERR
B
EffE 2 BERR
el (B48)

WE - BEREEZRE
EERRE
FEREZEBRYEZ
HEBEEE(EE)
REERB 2R
EE RS

& W B R 2 L L5 98 [ 8%

Hfth U IR R < B B 18
(B i
REMELTFEEZDHH
g

EEL G

B E R A

BR B AT 518
IR

FRARERB A FEER
ERIEXEBZRFEER

2024

—E-EF

Notes HK$’000
His T8

22

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET
22,220
(3,499)
18,721
24,409
(42,643)
(862)
(31,083)
(13,710)
(58,073)
(22,857)
(5,830)
(1,425)

(31,553)

1,840
(70611)

13518
(1,065)
(221,224)

18,646

(202,578)

(63,480)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ceBmkHEMAEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MfaE THxT FAT
Loss for the year REEEER (266,058)
Other comprehensive income, Hit2mEKzE  BRBLE
net of tax
Share of other comprehensive income of DIREE QB B 2 E K
associates 263
Exchange differences on translating BMEGINEREEZIER =5
foreign operations (55,320)
Other comprehensive income for the year, AFEEMEENE @ BRTiiZ
net of tax (55,057)
Total comprehensive income AEEXHINREE
for the year (321,1'15)
Loss attributable to: 1R
Owners of the Company VAN RSN 17 (246,172)
Non-controlling interest FEEAR (19,886)
(266,058)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  fE{F 2 MUz 4B 58 :
Owners of the Company KRRHEBA (300,734)
Non-controlling interest JEIE R RE RS (20,381)
(321,115)
HK$
BIT
Loss per share attributable to owners ZA2RQREG ABLER
of the Company BB
From continuing and discontinued operations 3 B #5448 & ¥ 75 &
BRI
~ Basic and diluted - EXAREE 17 0.297
From continuing operations KERFEREER
~ Basic and diluted — EAREE 17 0.220

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated MEM 2 Bt E BZ SR M BmEz 2z — 259

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B R

|‘/-_|_\

Asat 31 March2024 R—ZE_NFE=H=+—H

*

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Interests in associates
Deposits paid

Current assets
Properties under development
Completed properties held for sale
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Amount due from an associate
Amount due from non-controlling interests
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Restricted bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Amount due to non-controlling interests
Amount due to a director
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

ERBEE

LB

ME - B &R A
EREEE
BIVEE
N NI 5
EffEE

RBEE

BRPYE
FHELE 2D BRIE
FE

B 5 W ARK
BNE - Ze R

H b 8 Us B 3R

& Uy — T e & X ) TRIR
FEIIE 12 B 2 SRR
EATEHABRY
TREE

SR HIRITFER
RITRBR MRS

TEABELHEZEE

nE A&

B S5 R ERR

H A B BR R &)E Jr%ﬁﬁ
e T
FET— %ﬁ%Zm
ararE
HEEE
e I8

Ry BRFELEN

EEERNMABZEE

RBEEFE
BERERABAE

—F-MF —F-
HK$’000

23
24
25
26

27
22
28

29
30(a)
30(b)

31
32
33
34

20(b)

2024 2023
— £
HK$'000
7T

FTHExT

775,065
46,645
3,512
238,193
102,000
126,798

1,292,213

67,100
17,463
147,796
765
11,983
1,840
783
31,556

279,286
171,348

450,634
56,044
A7
15,612
37,693

294710,
A

146,955

[SE955
303,679

1,595,892
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e R AR

Asat 31 March2024 R—ZE - NE=H=+—H

Capital and reserves BEERR#E
Share capital [N
Reserves G
Total equity attributable to RAAHEEAELERAR
owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest IR
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEAE
Lease liabilities HEAE
Borrowings CES

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Ouyang Yanling
[EA O] Sog g
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BtaE FH&xT FAT
35 93,840
40 [,291,386
[,385,226

67,429

1,452,655

36 142,066
20(b) 1171
37 —
143,237

1,595,892

ZEGAVBRRCAEFEN T _MF
NAZTEAfERBETELHATAL
REREFEHRE

Mr. Li Yuguo
FEEXE
Director

BEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

ERBHE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LINZE PN, 1
Non-
Share Share Capital Special Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest equity
Bhx  ROEE  ExRE  RERG  EXRR  ZHEE Nt FBRER  BRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T T ThRL TEn T T ThR TEn
Note 40() ~ Note 40(b)
2O 2]
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-—#=f=1-A 76117 1,597,179 2,025,156 92926 (74327)  (2071,688) 1645363 87810 [,733,173
Loss for the year KEEER - - - S M4IT) 6IT) (1988 (266059)
Other comprehensive income for the year  REE £t 2EMNE - - - - (5456) - (54,56) (495) (55,057)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EREES - - - - (54562) (46172 (300734) 20381) (321,115
Plcing of new shares (Note 35) REMRA(HE) 1773 23553 - - - 41,276 - 41076
New shares issue expenses (Note 35) R BEAR (H3h0) - (679) - - - - (679) - (679)
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=F=f=1-A 93840 1,620,053 2,025,156 92926 (128889)  (2317860) 1385226 67429 1,452,655
Loss for the year TEEER - (8347) (11,419 (19,766
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ AFE {2 ENE (33,089) (33,089) 95 (32,994)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EREES (33,089) (8,347)  (41,436)  (11324)  (52,760)
Acquisiton of subsidiaries (Note 39) WEEHB AR (ME39) - - - 61,309 61,309
At 31 March 2024 W-E-ME=R=1-H 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 92,926 (161,978) (2,326,207) 1,343,790 117,414 1,461,204

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

BEP 2 ME R FRAMBRER 2 — 8D -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SmEEEMER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —ZE—WFE=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-_E T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
3 FTET THET
Cash flows from operating activities RERETH RERE
Loss before taxation BRI
— Continuing operations —RBIC e ER (221,224)
— Discontinued operations —BRILEH (63:480)
(284,704)
Adjustments for: BN RIE A
Interest income on bank deposits RITFERFBWA (78)
Interest income from an associate YN ERON 8 (52)
Interest income relating to amount due from BB IEERERN
non-controlling interests FEURIE 2 R S 8 -
Compensation relating to acquisition of WELRMEEE 2 EE
Beijing properties 8 -
Interest income relating to termination of BRIFINEREG Y E 2
acquisition of Shenyang Properties FEMKA 8 (23,622)
Dividend income A A 8 (90)
Finance costs BB 10 1,065
Amortisation of land use right + 3 {3 P R 5 21 207
Amortisation of water mining right FRKHEE I 21 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BMENREBITE 19 2,957
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 20(a) 2,512
Gain on bargain purchase ZEE 39 (13518)
Bad debts recovered BRI Bl 8 ()
Loss from changes in fair value of BEMEATEZHH
investment properties B8 18 70,611
Fair value loss on financial assets at BRATEFABREZ
fair value through profit or loss ERMEELLTE
E518 I 197
Share of results of associates DIEEEE N T EE 13,710
Provision for impairment loss on property, plant  #1% « E K& E 2 RE
and equipment BRRHE 6,653
Provision for impairment loss on intangible assets & E 7 BB E 1B R 21 58,073
Provision for impairment loss on interests in NN WA Eedy s i)
associates BERE 22 31,553
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on BEffize 2 REEE
deposits paid (E#),/ B 79,326
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables U BR 2N 2 5B 518 2] %
Provision for impairment loss on other Hfth fE W BR SR 2 BB B 18
receivables B 3,584
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on BIELEZEERME
completed properties held for sale ZREER(ER) & 1,425
Loss on written off of property, plant and WEmE - BEEEE L
equipment BB 9 4

Loss on written off of inventories

MiHFE 2 BE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Iﬁ%/)lbi%

v/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Decrease in completed properties held for sale
Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivable
Decrease in amount due from
non-controlling interests
Decrease in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
Decrease in amount due from an associate
Decrease in trade payables
Decrease in other payables
and accruals

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income tax paid
Cash payments for the interest portion of

the lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating

activities

Investing activities
Increase in restricted bank deposits
Interest received
Compensation received relating to acquisition
of Beijing properties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Additional cost of investment properties
Dividend income
Net cash inflow from to acquisitions of

subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

BEACEEAICEE
ReERE

FifEt & 2 EEREA D
FREE

5 BRI D,/ ()
B SR AL

BNFR - e REM
FE U BR FORL
R - ERRZE
B AN R
Hb AR K
JEATE AR
AREEEN/ (RD)

RIER

LEEB(MA)/EERE
BIFAEH

RexNHEaENEHD

7

RS (FR) ELEREFR

R&EED

R HIRITHEIE N
EWFIE

BB RMEERZ
BREYGR

BEVE  BEIRE
REMERNERAK
BEWA

Y BB H B A AR SR

KRERDAARLFR

R

2024
=t el 1123
HK$’000
TERr

2023
—ET=F
HK$'000
TET
(Restated)

Notes

(50,298)
3,693

4917)
11,990

230,070
2,286
(1,980)

(184,443)
(3,781)

2,620
(515)

(223)

1,882

(459)
78

(14,361)
(5.584)
90

39 B

(19.893)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

v/T\ Eﬁﬁ/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —ZE—WFE=A=+—HILFE

Financing activities METE
Interest paid BEARAAE
Net proceeds from share placements RN BLE TSI
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE T TS 5R
Principal portion of lease payments HENZAREHS
Net cash generated from financing activities BMEEZHELRLFE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRkBAeSED
cash equivalents R4,/ mFaE
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year RNE¥Z R4 KB ZEY
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEE R E &
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year RERZBRERREEEY
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents  38& RIR& EEY 2 &5k
Bank balances and cash as stated in the fRE MR R AT 2 3T
consolidated statement of financial position EM LR
Bank balance and cash in assets classified as held ~ DB ARBIELENEEL
for sales RITHEBRERE

Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiaries classified as Disposal Group
held for sale are included in cash and cash equivalents as stated in the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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AT

2024 2023

—E-mF —T-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET
(Restated)

(&&3)

(50)
35 40,597

(2,566)

37,981

19,970
18232
(3.966)

34,236

31,556

2,680

34,236

PERFKELEZHERBENNBARRS
EReEEVFTAGERERERMINNE
EMREEEY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

GENERAL
Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited (the “Company"”) was

incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability.
Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s registered office
is disclosed in the corporate information of its annual report and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 2601, 26/F, West
Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company, while its
subsidiaries (hereinafter the Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in property
development, property investment and production and sales of bottled

water in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(HK$) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand

(HK$'000), unless otherwise indicated.

4 B

FINBEEEZERBRHERAR(ARAF])
FAEREFMK L AEREER A -
HRNEBABHERHMBR AR ([H
RAT)) L e AR RGEMB =R 2 i
HAREFRZAREHTEE - HRSE
BOETELEMBABT B LRTHEF
1682005k 1=+ L P EE261E260 1 E ©

ARAB /- HEREZEKRAT - mEHK
BRAR(TXARE REKE AR GRME
RIAEE]DATZRPEARLME
(TREDREMERR  WERERM
FOREERBE -

HEMBHRRAEBT(ATZS - B

AARBPI - MBS BEIREEREL
T (FETT) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wm j%k#ﬁ%EM#

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) New and amended Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”’) adopted by the
Group
The following new and amended standards that may be relevant to
the Group's operations have been adopted by the Group for the

first time for the financial period beginning on | April 2023.

Amendments to HKAS | Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arisen from a Single
Transaction and International Tax
Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, related
Amendments and Initial Application
of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —

Comparative Information

The application of the above amended standards which are
effective for the financial period beginning on | April 2023 did not
have material financial effect to the Group for the current and prior

periods.

96 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]

2. EﬁﬁJ&mﬂTﬁ%Mﬁ
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BEMBEHREER ([ZEH
BHEER )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024:

Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'
and HKFRS 7

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
(Revised) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause'
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability”

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

The directors do not anticipate that the application of the new
and revised HKFRSs will have a material effect on the amounts

recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

@ﬁﬁJ&aﬂTﬁ%Mﬁ

RELA([FEBMBREE

,\JJ) (%8)
(b) EFAfE [ KL 2 & EE

BHEER
AEBYEABE-T_MNF=A
S+ BUHBFERERATI
ERGHEIE S Ak
AR

BEGHEARIR AERRBIHF R

(B37%) RERNZZ#S
HiBEE

BRAhRsEn EREEZEERE
EALSHC SR

EEMBREENR KR RAZEEBETAS
ERGHENZN "%‘Zfﬁ?ﬁéﬁ 4

(B37%) pid-o

EReHENRTHRAR ABBEALH

HHREEAETR

(B374)

ERRBEW(BEY)  HRERZE-ESAY
EEREXEERHZ
EHE# 7%

YRR el did
(BT)

R-Z_MFE—F—AHZKRFAHRN

FEHRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements of

the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given exchange for assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
| 6, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in

HKAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the

results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

3. ER = n-I_J—T:&

R (%)

mAEEE(E)
AFEAUEFEBNBERRSYF F 15
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TEERZEEETE  WESMBHREE
AE2REEANBRO AR S « BIE
EBMBREERNE I SFEARNBER
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FERFEMTE(MBEB G ERE2HR
PR A IR E BB ERFE 365
REEAEE)BRIN o

N

N

FEeRMEENRATEFECEREMHZ
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HETFS —mHE2EE(HEUEES R
BEARCEAZEE) REEKEN
BREN ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

. Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level [, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities)

controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even

if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

3. Ezz = n-l_l——t&

R (%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in

profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in

accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in

accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

*  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 are measured in accordance with that

Standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another

HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with the corresponding gain or loss

being recognised in profit or loss.

104 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]

3.

TESTHBEGE)

REBE 0 (E)
HARBREHEHTERIRNERR
IRRELHELZEELAE @ AlK
AREBRENUBERBZ A FEFE
Wt ARERBEHERE 2R E 2 — &
n o NEERBFEMHEAEZHAN
BRAVFEZIETEPAE  HERE
REERE - FEHNHIARAN [FE
HifE (R A e e g A g —F)
BREBERNKERNCFEZEERIE
N BINEREE 2 FE -

o

TRERRAEHRABRZAARER
FEEEH 2 RES EIEIURN A
HRRELE - DER/ERZRNARE
TEREBREDHENAE  BRE
BETREDZAAR - DBREEXA
B2 RARBERRERS AHPRER
BRAERZ RNEHEBRENE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period, and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,

would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled

in exchange for those goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Sales of properties
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the law that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control

of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls

as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the asset.

106 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111z A% 0 B BR A

3. EEZIEI n-l_l-—lﬂ (m,\)

WA (&)

()

YFEHE
WAREEZEHEER T % PR
R BEEHERE —BREMAL
X -RHBEY  BURREHRE
FEBERARAHNRVERBRTE © MA
SEERABEFRFTE TG -
BEZGIENE -—BREMAER

- RHEERHFE - mMEFTRS
Y236 H B R A a8

/

- AREEARAZREEHE
FEINEE : 3

- UEEAHASEAERASR
MEE » BAKE R EFIT
HENMAYBRRFTES B 5T
JEXEB D HIFKIA »

& EEGRE - REEANES
ARATINEEE HHMERL2E R
KEBTBNEENEEHER - &
8 WAREBEFRSEEZEGIED
By ) B R B2 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i

(ii)

Sales of properties (continued)

For properties that have no alternative use to the Group due
to contractual reasons and when the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customers for performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue as the
performance obligation is satisfied over time in accordance with
the input method for measuring progress, i.e. the costs incurred
up to date compared with the total budgeted costs, which depict
the Group's performance towards satisfying the performance

obligation.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior
to delivery of the properties to the customers are contract

liabilities.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment

and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Sales of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the products is transferred to the customer,

generally on delivery of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less subsequent depreciation and any identified

impairment loss at the end of the reporting period.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property, plant
and equipment other than mine infrastructure over their estimated
useful lives after considering their estimated residual values, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 5%
5% — 25%
20% — 50%
12.5% — 30%
10%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

Machinery

Included in property, plant and equipment are mine infrastructure
located at the mining sites. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of mine infrastructure using the units of production method

based on the proved and probable mineral reserves.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which the

item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally the land use rights in respect of land
parcels and industrial buildings, are held for long-term rental yields
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair

value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a

finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Water mining right

Water mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Water mining right is amortised on a straight-line

basis over its estimated useful life.

Exploration and mining right

Exploration and mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Exploration and Mining
right includes the cost of acquiring mining licences, exploration and
evaluation costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of commercial
production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the mining reserves
of existing mining properties. The exploration and mining right is
amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the proved
and probable reserves of the mines using the Units of Production
("UOP”). The exploration and mining right is written off to profit or

loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Land use rights

The Group makes upfront payments to obtain operating leases of
land use rights. The land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. The upfront payments of the land use
rights are recorded as assets. The amortisation of land use rights is
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the unexpired

period of the land use rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. Under the equity method, interests in
associates is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's interest in associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to

the extent of interests in associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements

would not differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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The Group as a lessee KEBERBRAA
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach AEBERFEHRE(HEEBEEREE
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value BEEHERINFHRE—HBRAN2

assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEBEFHEKR(E)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued) HE (&

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEDFEBN (B)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) (EHEELE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date EREEENHEERRG BB (AIE
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available MEERNHFERER)ER - FH
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any BB ERKABEMBINERE
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and AR EBEE - LR EMERR
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost AEHEABEHAR - FRE
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities BENKABREERANEERR
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments TR BEEENVBEERARR
made at or before the commencement date less any lease a6 B Bisk < BI{EH A &N FUR
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a EUWERE R E SRR - EAREE
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the EL TN EEMMEE R EE A A
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: FHMER 2 BREENREREN

£

Buildings | to 3 years g¥F —E==F
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the MR RS HEEENAAE
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a BREAREEHKARMEEIRE
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated WEMTTE - BIFEREEMNGFRIE
useful life of the asset. RERFEINE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made

over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments

3. ER = n-I_J—T:&
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(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in

which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption

to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is

3.
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those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from AN TETBEHREREENZ
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). EHE)ERANHHERRARE -

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value method.
Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index
or a rate are based on the market or rate at commencement date of
the lease and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when

they arise.

Lease income derived from the Group's ordinary course of business is

presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's presentation currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-
controlled entities and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.

Retirement benefits costs

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme) are charged as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee

administered funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits costs (continued)

Retirement benefits scheme (continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group's
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred are vested in
accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave
the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the

contributions payable by the Group.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC,
the Group participates in the relevant social retirement benefit
schemes (the “PRC Schemes”) whereby the Group is required to
contribute to the PRC Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of
the eligible employees. Contributions made to the PRC Schemes
are calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the PRC Schemes is to pay the ongoing

required contributions under the PRC Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represents gross
contributions by the Group to the PRC Schemes operated by the

relevant authorities of the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

120 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111z A% 0 B BR A

3.

EE;I = EI-I_J-—E& (n‘,\)

#HE

i 15 %54 B <% 5 3R B JE A< B0 1B SRR IE B 18
HazE -

BRI A
BOERFE (S B2 IR TH 3% AN 68 J2 e AR B s Al 5t
B mARERTENTEREMFRE L
FER TS FEHIBL 2 R Sk X IR B+ TF
BIEKTERVRANRZEE - &
HERBBERAINEN TR - AREZ
BEHBRRENEBREMRECHERE
B etz iEsdE

AL IR
BERBETDRNFRAMBRRABER
BEREEETERRTE N A ERAA
EREZ ZHER - ETHAEAGB K
ST A ER B R Z MR - MELER
TR B RIBR A] BE AT £ 3 8 AR A 4 M| e
BAMBEREZEZBENTA T AR
R MERZHEARNBRBVITER—
AT BERVGNHEEN 25
ZEMEBENBEGRBAHERIN IE
£ AAEEERRET TR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the

3.

ER = n-I_JBZ (:n,\)
HE (&)
EAEFIE ()

EET IR A B KB A R M A A
ZREMEEZERHER ZHER
HARERENEFEHEE 2 5
NRBEBAEREZRRAAENARAK
5 AL - BIERIE ©

EEMBEE REAEDRES @RS S
RETRE - W FLAEEIR - EEW

A B8 1% A 2 49 FE AR A i A A U B 2
BB EERIL °

EXEHRBEERBBINRBHERANEA
BEEEAEEERPEINETE - A
BARERERBEPRCHEREEL £
EHEZ R (RBE)FHE -

RLERBEEEREEZFGE  RELTR
SERmERRMBHEKENRERER
BERBBZREEZAAMEEZT
TEEER -

AEF 2 BN F R B TR

BV SR AE R AN B as iR - B H

EEM2HKEDRERERDTHER

ZIAB R - RIBVA R IR TR D
AREMEEREREERN R E
R o WAV ASEE R IBE LS BRI

\|
/|

initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included EBEe Mz estRE  AABKRE
in the accounting for the business combination. HEFTAREBRE I 2 G RIENA ©

Annual Report 2024 ¥R

121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a

finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and

whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories — properties under development

The cost of properties under development for sale comprises
specifically identified cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and
other direct expenses, and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price, based on prevailing market conditions, less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.
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Properties under development are transferred to completed FEEE)L TR - BB BT H 2
properties held for sale upon completion of development activities, MR TERR  BRAYELERS
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respective government authorities.

Inventories — completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment of the total
land and development costs attributable to the completed properties
held for sale. Net realisable value is determined based on prevailing

market conditions.

Inventories — raw materials, work in progress and
finished goods

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal
operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion

and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the

profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

(“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows

and selling; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), except that at the date of initial
application/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that

are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as

measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the

financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivable, other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, I2-month ECL (“I2m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets are

assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to [2m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the

credit default swap prices for the debtor;

*  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on the Group’s financial assets has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial assets are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it
has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as

per globally understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEBEFHEKR(E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) sETA (&)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 2EEERE ()

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) () 1EEREBREZELHE)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria AEETFTHERAUBEEER
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in BRSO ERNRN - R
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the WERRELEE] - MERER
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk TEAERE ’jE/\,%(IE@HﬁﬁT]EEE%EEL
before the amount becomes past due. RERE LN o

(i) Definition of default (i) EHEE
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an FABEERMBREEMS © KRR
event of default occurs when information developed internally EA BN RIREE R E B R
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is BEANKAEMEREA(BIEAR
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without EB/)BHENR (T EAEEEA
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group). REMEEE)E  NEFEERE

EELEOEMF -

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) 15ERE T B EE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of WEEAE—IRZHN &R EEMFT

default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future RRBEREEIFNEFENENE

cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a H o ReMmEEHBREERE - 2

financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about MEECERENZEEREEET

the following events: CIERCSORIR F:3 6

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; () BITARERALBRBRENH
WEE

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; b) ERAEH  MELHNAEE
(53K
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESFTBERGE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) sETA (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 2EEERE ()

() BHIEEERNERER

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,

discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and
other receivables, finance lease receivables and amounts
due from customers are each assessed as a separate group.
Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit

losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
and accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability or where appropriate, a short period to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

136 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111z A% 0 B BR A

Ezz = n-I_JBZ (n',\)
*HMTAGE)

EHEEREZTA
DERER L e
SEERBTZERAGBNRERTAT)
RBFAAIVEHORHEZEEESRAE

MR TRAZEENR -
Bm T A

BETADERASEERNIBFAEA
BRZEETHRENGEEZEMS
#) o REBEBRITT 2D TADRE WA
BRI (FORR E IR BRI TR ) FERR -

At @A E
HemAaB(BREZRMNENR
ENERRETER) LR RAER

MR AT E -

BEEFIEX
ERMEETDFESRAGBZBHKAN

EABRBEHENSRAXZTE - BE
MEDZERABZETFHRERZ
BAEHE - BEFTRGEFTRRRS AR
ENFERRREFEIME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

3.
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Derecognition BUHtER
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual REBEEREEKRNIREREZLESY
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the ERER  NeMEEE TEENREE

financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and

recognises an associated liability.
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If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of INASEEREBEZCHEEHERE R
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to REBD R M Bl - Bl E B EE R
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised ZE A E R E WA R IEFERIR
borrowing for the proceeds received. REE -

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the
Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset
between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts
on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised
and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit
or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues
to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the

basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the

consolidated statement of financial positions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities and assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be

recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually

certain, an asset is recognised.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group's most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of

business and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if
it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal
group is a group of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets

that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the group will retain a

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current assets
(except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this measurement policy
so far as the financial statements of the group and the company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties. These
assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in

accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 3.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale,

the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's business,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively

with a view to resale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Discontinued operations (Continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale

(see (i) above), if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss, which

comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to
fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or

disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Note 3 describes that depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using
straight-line method. The estimation of useful lives of the depreciable
assets is based on the experience of the Group, and useful lives are
reviewed at each end of the reporting period based on changes in

circumstances.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continued to be valid.
The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value in use of the assets which require

the use of assumptions and estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —ZE—WFE=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

Net realisable value of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Carrying amount of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value at the end of the reporting period. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of the estimated selling price less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate the net realisable
value for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale based primarily on the latest contract prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform an inventory review
on a product by product basis at the end of each reporting period
and assess the need for write down of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. As at 31 March 2024, the
accumulated impairment on properties under development and
completed properties held for sale were approximately HK$310,9 16,000
(2023: HK$321,976,000) and HK$56,843,000 (2023: HK$60,215,000)

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets, interests
in associates and intangible assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, the
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31
March 2024, the accumulated impairment loss on intangible assets

were approximately HK$ 174,739,000 (2023: HK$145,509,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of deposits and trade and other receivables

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including
deposits and trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments
and prepaid other taxes)) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
receivables, customers’ repayment history and market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period
as set out in note 3 — Financial Instruments. As at 3| March 2024 and
2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of deposits paid and trade and
other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)

are as follows:

As at 31 March 2024

Trade receivables BHRBER

Other receivables (excluding prepayments and ~ E A EUERZ (TP EIEFBNFUER
prepaid other taxes) HinFBAHIE)

Deposits paid BftRe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of deposits and trade and other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023

Trade receivables O ET

Other receivables (excluding prepayments and ~ E A EURZ (T EIEBNFTIER
prepaid other taxes) At FRRHIA)

Deposits paid Efifke

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$731,812,000 (2023: HK$775,065,000) are stated at fair value
based on the valuation performed by the independent qualified
professional valuer. In determining the fair values, the valuation
involves certain assumptions of market conditions. In relying on the
valuation reports, the directors have exercised their judgment and are
satisfied that the methods of valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes in assumption relating to these factors
could affect the reported fair values of the investment properties. See

note |8 for further disclosures.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when
it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone

credit rating).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5A. Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5A. Capital risk management (continued) SA.BEXmBREE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the capital structure of the R-E-_NMFER-_ZFT-_=%F=H
Group consisted of debt and equity attributable to owners of =+—H AEEZEREEBSRE
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. BEHERARNBEEARGERER (B

REBRTRARER)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure RARIEETEHRWMAERERE - £
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost BN —HD  EEEREARAZIK
of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based REREERZ HERE - AXEE
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its SREBEES2HEESR - SBEIT
overall capital structure through new shares issues, as well as the AR - BITHE B R IR E A F &
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. BB RNZERE o
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RIEHREELERLDT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—ECNE —F-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Total debts HRIETS 5,255
Shareholders’ equity PR R M 2 1,385,226
Gearing ratio BELX 0.4%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5B. Categories of financial instruments 5B. 2@ T AEF
2024 2023
—ECE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEGABRZ
profit or loss TREAE 1,840
Amortised cost oS TN 192,908
Financial liabilities A= 5=k
Amortised cost BEEHRL AR 108,050
5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies 5C.OBEEEEHERKE

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits paid, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, amount due from an associate,
amount due from non-controlling interests, amount due from
the substantial shareholder, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade payables, other payables and accruals
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group's financial
results and its cash flows. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from investments in subsidiaries primarily
with respect to RMB. Foreign currency risk also arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations, which are mainly

denominated in RMB.

As at 3| March 2024, if the Hong Kong dollars had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have been
HK$ 138,000 lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses of the amount due from non-controlling interests
as disclosed in notes 28. As at 3| March 2023, if the Hong
Kong dollars had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
RMB with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss for the
year would have been HK$5,908,000 lower/higher, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses of the deposit paid
for acquisition of Shenyang Properties to be refunded and the
related compensation and interest income receivable. The
Group currently has not entered into any contracts to hedge
its foreign currency risk. However, the management monitors
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

SRTHE(E)
5C. IR EEERERBE (&)

(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of change in market interest rates. As at 31 March
2024, the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities except for interest receivable, restricted bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, other payables and borrowings, details
of which have been disclosed in notes 27(v), 30, 32(ii) and 37. As
at 31 March 2023, the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities except for deposit paid and the related
monetary compensation and interest receivable, restricted bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other payables, details of

which have been disclosed in notes 27(v), 30 and 32(ii).

Due to the fixed interest rate on bank borrowings and other
payables and the insignificant bank interest income, the
management considers that cash flow and fair value interest rate
risks of the Group are insignificant as at 31 March 2024 and 2023

and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty
to a transaction is unwilling or unable to fulfil its obligation
which results in financial loss. The gross carrying amounts of
restricted bank deposits, bank balances, amount due from
an associate, amount due from the substantial shareholder,
amount due from non-controlling interests, deposits paid, other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)
and trade receivables included in the consolidated statement
of financial position of approximately HK$ 105,384,000 (2023:
HK$263,732,000) represent the Group's maximum exposure to

credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

The credit risks on restricted bank deposits and bank balances
are considered to be insignificant because the counterparties are
banks/financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

For trade receivables, the Group performs impairment

assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators for no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than

| year past due.

5.

ST E(E)
5C. IR EERZERBK (&)

EERERE
BEERRIREEARXZHFHAELR
EENMEBITTEEEMERAS
BERIMBIEL - St AR WK
RREZZRERITFR -« RIT
e - B — B A E 2 FIE
FEM F ZERERFIE - U RRAE
mRE > BfERE - EMEKER
F(TBEBENRIE R TEHTD
BIUNRBZERER ZE@AE
#7105,3840008 L (ZFE=Z=F :
263,732,000/ 7C) @ RAKEF A
TRMEEAZ  E=EERR -

XREIBITERERITERNER
RERERATEX  REASR 54
FEBREATERBEEERER
ARREERIT S RIEE -

B ZRUEESRME
BHEEBREAYES
EITRERE ©

RNEFEILR
“E1FE R

B 5 R ARN I B AL 5 B TR
WERIER T T AMEE - |BEMRE
BRBKEZ ERBEEHAKRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

TR TH(E)
5C. HBmBEE R ERBE (E)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the same

line item.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables were insignificant and thus

no loss allowance was recognised.

For other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid
other taxes), deposits paid, amount due from the substantial
shareholder, amount due from an associate and amount due
from non-controlling interests, the management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on its
recoverability based on historical settlement records and past

experience.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. £@tTH (&)
5C. HBRBEERERKE (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of assets and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It also considers available

reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

. internal credit rating;

. external credit rating;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to

cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its

obligations;

* actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of individual debtor;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the debtors; and

=EmE(E)
AEBEEEN TR HERREZ EE
ReAREN - BREERRES
ERENEECFHERZEM - &
A EERRETBRER MG ALE
BiGHRE B MEERLERMAE
M ER A B AR B B3R A SR AR A A BE
HETHER  AEBEEaERA
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UTHEEFEZEHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies 5C. ABRBEERERBE (&)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued) EEmfE (&)

«  significant changes in the expected performance and . BEBRAEHREANETAREE
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the payment BERE  BEEBAMRIE
status of the debtors and changes in the operating results B RERAEEEEN
of the borrower. 21 -

The Group uses four categories for those receivables which AEEBZERBGIES ANEA

reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined KA plREEEERE - BEEE

for each of those categories. TNAZEBRDBIERE °

A summary of the assumptions underlying the Group's ECL AEBBEHEEBBEXNEBRR

model is as follows: BT

Basis for recognition of

Category Group definition of category ECL provision

=5l AEEHERERNES BRAAMCEEBERBRENER

Performing Debtors have a low risk of default and a 12 months expected losses. Where the

E=E strong capacity to meet expected lifetime of an asset is less than
BEHARYRRREEGENEY |2 months, expected losses are measured

at its expected lifetime.

1218 A e TRHIE1E - SN FEHIFERA
PRNEANEE - AHEEENEY
FERTE -

Underperforming Receivables for which there is a significant  Lifetime expected losses
B increase in credit risk; as significant FERTEHE B

increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 90 days past due

FEU R IEMEE R BEE I ¢ WS
X/ SRS EFEIBBEIORX - BIRZ
EE b L N

Non-Performing Interest and/or principal repayments are Lifetime expected losses
TR more than 365 days past due 5B BTE A e 18

FE R/ SRS ERERBEI6SSK

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are Asset is written off
b more than 3 years past due and there is no  Jifi 4 & &
reasonable expectation of recovery
MER /AR FOHBB=FAE
AR eedk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing
for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

The Group provides for credit losses against deposits paid, other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes),
amount due from the substantial shareholder, amount due from
an associate and amount due from non-controlling interests as
follows:

Basis for
recognition of

5.

Expected  expected credit

Company internal credit rating credit loss rates  loss provision
ERRAEEHR

ARANBERMS REGREALE REHER
As at 31 March 2024
R-B-RE=A=t1-H
Performing 0.1%-1.5% 12 month expected losses
i 1A ARAEE
Non-Performing [00%  Lifetime expected losses
R FEHEHER
Total
st
As at 31 March 2023
RZBZ=£=A=1-A
Performing 0.1% - 1.5% 12 month expected losses
E% EARAEE
Non-Performing [00%  Lifetime expected losses
TR FREREER
Total
st

EMITR(E)
5C. HEREEEEEEZERBE (&)

Estimated gross Loss
carrying amount

et REAE

=EmE (&)
AEBERBRSHRBAREEE R
REEREBEEERRAK - &
ﬁﬁﬁ%f%%EmT% AEH

NEBRUMHRBENELBRESE
7w RBBREENZEERNY
AL REITHE -

AEBNENZES - HiEKER
RN BEBENFRIE R E R
H) - R EBRERERIR - Bl —
B & ) 2 SRR K e M SR B
SREREEBRRENT

Carrying
amount (net of
allowance impairment
at default provision provision)

BHRN REfE
REBRRE (NREERE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TER TER TER

143,106 = 143,106

70,824 70,824 <

213,930 70,824 143,106

Annual Report 2024 ¥R

157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5SC.HBEREERBERBE (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERERE (&)
The loss allowance provision for deposits paid and other RZZEZWMF=A=+—HHER
receivables as at 31 March 2024 reconciles to the opening loss ¥ & N H b FE U BR R GTHIR 1Y 5 18 5
allowance for that provision as follows: BEFYEIEBRENEERNOT ¢
Non-
Performing performing Total
ER R @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR THET

Opening loss allowance as at | April 2022  RZZE=—FMA—HH

FHBERRG 78,433 78,433
Reversal of loss allowance BEREHEDR (1,840) (1,840)
Exchange realignment ERZEEES (5,769) (5,769)

Closing loss allowance as at 3| March 2023 R-B-=#=FA=+—AMNEX

and opening loss allowance as at BEEGERN_E_=F

| April 2023 mA—BHENBEERE 70,824 70,824
Additional loss allowance BINBERE 3,540 3,540
Exchange realignment [E 5% (2,432) (2,432)

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 RZZZWF=A=+—HAKNF
RERRE - 71,932 71,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework to meet the Group's short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

Liquidity table

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay.

The maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities is

prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

5. EMTA(E)
5C.HBAREERERYKE (H)

mBEZEE

RBECRARERZKRETEE
=g MEFQCRIABZRY
ETRBREERE  LWhEAEHE
ZREE T HEREHRERRD
BELEERE AKEBEBERR
RREEERDECRAR  HAZE
FEEERAREREEREY X
BHemEERABZIIBBRFIE

4 o

af

ik 2753
TERHANAEBTESRAR L
HER A KHBIBAIR - TRIBRER
AEEAXNERMABEZHFEH
RERABEIANEARSRER
8 o

FITECRABZIHA DN IR
ERRERE MR -

ZRBENERAERERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —E=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies SC.OBRBREZERBERHIE
(continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBE 2R ()
Liquidity table (continued) TENESZ (&)
Weighted Total
average carrying
effective Total amount
interest Within Over undiscounted at year
rate lyear  |-2years  2-5years 5years  cash flows ended
MEYs Rf5A £X

LUk -Eh -ERE  RERE  EEMLE ReRE  4EKEE
% HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HK$000
TAL TEL TEL TEL TR TEL

As at 31 March 2024 R-2-RE

=B=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities fi42REE
Trade payables BHRME
Other payables and accruals AERERR

EitER
Amount due to non-controling interest B SFE R B 5R
Amount due to a director ER-25%258
Lease lbilties HERE
Borrowings &3

223,090 . 232,766 231,653

As at 31 March 2023 it it 3

ZA=t-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 4%EE
Trade payables BHRNER - 26044 - - - 5604 56044
Other payables and accruals EfERETR

[EER - 32953 - - - 32953 32953
Amount due to non-controling interest  FE(TIERIER A = 15612 - - - 15612 15612
Lease e el B% 2458 1200 - - 3658 3

107,067 1200 = = 108,267 108,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)
SC.HBRERBEEZEEERKE

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investment
in listed equity securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles. The Group'’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the management
monitors the price risk and will consider hedging the risk

exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk — Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on

the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the Group's loss
for the year ended 3| March 2024 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$ 143,000 (2023: HK$184,000). This is mainly

due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

(4&)

A E®mEE

AEERKRER EMRAEZMA
AXEABERRAR  EEEBBE
FEAAETRRAREERZKEHE
EEARRER o NEEZBAER
RREBRETREEEBHAR S
BRI 2 BANFE S © Bhsh -
EEESERERAR XNER
2REEHNERRAR -

H B — SRS
AT BREESNIRER HE B H
Z AR EIRRBRAETT o

IR B LA TEKI0% - K&
EERzZ—_ZF-_MF=A=+—HI
FEZEBEBRERLD LA 143,000
BIL(ZZE =4 : 184,000/%7T)
EXIBEEERE 2 AT ESR
20

o

&

B

\\\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

v/T\

BT ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —ZE—WFE=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are identified on the basis of

internal reports which provides information about components of the

Group. These information are reported to and reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker (*CODM") for the purpose of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

The Group has the following reportable segments during the year.

These segments are managed separately.

(h

@)

©)

Q)

For water business, the CODM regularly reviews the
performance of the water business in the PRC. These operations
have been aggregated into a single operating segment and

named “Water business’.

For property development and property investment business,
the CODM regularly reviews the performance of the property
development and property investment business. These
operations have been aggregated into a single operating segment

and named “Property development and investment”.

For mining business, the CODM regularly reviews the
performance of mining business in PRC. These operations have
been aggregated into a single operating segment and named

“Mining business”.

On 27 April 2023, a sale and purchase agreement was entered
into between the Company and the purchaser, pursuant to
which, the Company has agreed to sell, and the purchaser has
agreed to acquire, the entire issued share capital of Century
Strong Limited and the shareholder’s loan advanced to Century
Strong Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group™).
Century Strong Limited is an investment holding company
and the Disposal Group are principally engaged in property
investment. The Disposal Group is presented as a discontinued

reportable segment and named as “Investment in Yantian".
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR M EE
For the year ended 3| March 2024 BE T _WNF=A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March

/-\*Aﬁ*’l'(mﬁ)

DEBRAREE
AT RAREIZAIRED R D Z A
REFEBEDHT -

BE=A=1t—HLEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RRELRE BALEH
Water Property development
business and investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Consolidation
KEH NERRRRE FREH BmgE e

4 mo 03
“%omE CFCCF CRCRE CECCR
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00

TEn  TEn  TEL

Sales to extemal customers WAMIBRERHE 000

Total revenue LGN

Segment resuls LES (62687) m (109544)

Fair value loss on financial AT EF AR
assets at fair value LEREBEL
through profit or loss ATEER

Provision for impaiment loss  RECE 2] 2 i
oninterests nassociates  ZHEBERE

Central administration costs  RR{TRFLR

Gain on bargain purchase BN

Share of results of associates AEBEATEE

Finance costs BERA

Loss before taxation RiEEE

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year.

Tén

mo m 0
CFICF OZRCRE CETCF OZRCBE CECCF
HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKSW0D  HKSO00
TEn  fEn  TEL  TRR TAR

00
0

IIII (T (16,338) e 1)
(406) [TEY)

(180) TN

(26,194) I

19961 [T

(11,425) RERLL)

o) )

IEE!(MM

NEREZBAEREIIBER ZK
A RAFEE - WESERZHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 BE T —_NF=A=1+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

6. TRER(E)

Segment assets and liabilities THEEENERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by UTERERIZAREDHE D EE
reportable segments: RaEsHr
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
BESEXE BRLER

Water Property development

business and investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Consolidation

KEH NERRRRE B Ey L e

2024 03 2024 2003

2024 03 2024 2003 2024 03

ZECmE -ECCE CZECME -S--F ZEIME CE--F CECME —5-CF ZECmE —%oCF

HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
tén  TAT  TEn TR

ASSETS &g
Segment assets NEBE 275,008 303260 1 RIS 1133556
RONLEEE

Unallocated corporate

assets

HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 K000
tén  TAT  TEn  TEn  TER ThEn

439,474 71348 FURHIRES 1608164

103,878 134,683

LIABILITIES &f
Segment liablies AEER (32,942) BN (411,388) [OLIRLE)
Undlocated coporate ~~~ RAEL%AR
liabilties (82,041) (7.806)
(493,429) VDR
——
* less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars * DPR—FET

RAEDBRARDBEROEERZ B
B RRAREFATAEEERE AR
ENHRIEEE  BERBE

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the directors of the Company monitor
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following basis:

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated FEEEHDREARENDE  HRD
REXEE(TZEREME  BERR

corporate assets (mainly include property, plant and equipment, bank

balances and cash that are held by the investment holding companies - REBERARRAE ZRITEKRKE
and other receivables that are receivable by the investment holding © RIEEE R D E Bz H M FE W ER
companies). FOBRIN ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR a B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —ME=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEER (&

SN =

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) THEEEREE (&)
All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than BB IEERRESE XD
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly include lease liabilities EtEaB(ZEFEHEEERKRE
and other payables and accruals borne by the investment holding P2 A% N B PR 2 B Ath JE A BR 3R M B AT
companies). ER)BRIN
Other segment information HEmn HEH
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FREERR BREER
Water Property development and
business investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Unallocated Consolidation
KEH NR3RRAE e BR%% #1B 7
204 03 04 03 04 03 04 03 04 03 04 03
ZECME CECE CgomE CFCE CECWE CFocE CEomE CEocE CEomE C3ocE ECmE SRk

HKSO00  HOOD  HKSON0  HSOOD  HKSO00 MO0 HKSO00  HSOD  HKSON0  HSIOD HKSO00 HKSOD
TRR TR TRR TR TRR TR TRR TR fRR TR fER TR

Addtions to property BEN% AER

plant and equipment 3 - - - 1434]
Addtions to property, FRNENELD

plant and equipment through #5241 -

acquistion of subsidiaries  BERiRE 5008 - - 5008
Addtions to investment - FERENE

properties 5584 - - 5584
Addtions to investment - FEHEHEBAT

properties through ERoRENE

acquistion of subsidiaries 757161 - - 75716l
Addtions to intangble assets  FEHEHBAT

through acquisition of B EYEE

subsidiaries - - B 358,649 = - 358,649 -
Amortisation B (1,151) - - - - (L151) (207)
Deprecition i (815) (o) = (75) (5,308) L)
Other gans Koz 636 18,056 BEY - 7 18818 24416
Other osses EtFE (39) (@.919) I - = (7)Y
Provision for impaiment ~~ EF/&ZHE

loss on intangble essets ~ BEEE (19,230) - -
Reversal off(provision for) B8 7 AEER
impainment loss on depostts B8 /(&)

. - (29,230) S|

paid &) . (56469) 148 [
Provision for impaiment ~~ #1% - fiER
loss on propertes AEnE

plant and equipment FEER
Reversal off(provision for) &/t &7 B %A

mpaiment MELIE

loss on completed EiER/

58%0) = ) (3,203) IR

propertiesheld for e~ () (143) - - i
Reversal of impaiment loss Bl ZiE

on frade receivables el - : |
(Provision forreversel of  EftEUERZ

mpaiment HEER

loss on other recelvables (B8 /B 1840 - B (354) L
Loss from changes in RENZATE

fairvalue of investment 28758

propere (o8l - I T

—
* less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars @ LR—FHET
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Geographical information
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — the PRC

and Hong Kong.

The Group's revenue from external customers and information about

its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

DEER(EF)

1 B2 & #)
AEBERETISHELYE - FHARE
7 o

AR S A SN E S 2 A RS B B
FEEE CRIRAESS) 2 AR
mT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REPEBEFEHBA FEREEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
SEOINFE —_FTo=F ZEBDWNFE —_T_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHTT THxT FHET
The PRC =8 22,220 1,288,657
Hong Kong &5 - 3,556
22,220 1,292,213
Information about major customers FTEEXFEH

Other than three tenants from whom the lease income represents
approximately 31%, 22% and |16% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively, and one customer from sales of properties represents
approximately 10% of the total revenue of the Group, there is no
other single customer who contributes over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Other than two tenants from whom the lease income represents
approximately 37% and 32% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively, there is no other single customer who contributes over
0% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE 7. WA
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEBRKNFEE 2 WADHTIT
2024 2023
—E-WEF ZE=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Het TET THETT
Continuing operations BEKSEER
Revenue from contracts with REFFAHZEWA
customers
Sales of properties MEHE (i) 3.975
Sales of bottled mineral water MERFKIEE () -
3,975
Revenue from leases HEZWA (ii) 18,245
Total revenue AN 22,220
Notes: Bt -
(i)  Performance obligations (i) BHEF
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below: FRAKBENBEHEEERBMAT
Sales of properties YEHE
The performance obligation is satisfied upon handover of the properties. There BAOBERRNYHERER - RZZE_NF
were no transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations EZZT-_=F=A=+—H " BESREH#
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. TRABECRER LD ER)NRHEE -
Sales of bottled mineral water IR E
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of goods. All of the Group’s BHEERZNEREERK - XEBFRAR
revenue from sale of goods was recognised at the point in time when the control MEENBAREREFIEEETEF N
of the products was transferred to customers. [ 2hBS ERERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 7. WA(E)
Notes: (continued) M ()
(i) Leases (i) HE
2024 2023
—E_NE —TE_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
For operating leases: PEEEHEMS :
Lease payments that are fixed EEHERK 18,245
8. OTHER GAINS 8. Hfthlzs
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Continuing operations BEKSEER
Bad debts recovered AR UL [O] I
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF A EHLA 71
Interest income from an associate — A& 2 B F B U A 52
Government grant BT B 5
Dividend income from financial assets at BAFEFABZZ
fair value through profit or loss SRLEE 2R BN 90
Sundry IR 458
Compensation relating to acquisition of WHEIE R 5B e 2 B e
Beijing properties -
Interest income relating to termination of LIRS Y 2 2 FI BURA
acquisition of Shenyang Properties 23,622
Interest income relating to amount due from JEU SR I E S TR A
non-controlling interest ZFEHA =
24,409
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

9. OTHER LOSSES

Continuing operations

Exchange loss, net

Loss on written off of property, plant and
equipment, net

Loss on written off of inventories

0. FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations
Interest on secured bank loan
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on other payables

Interest on promissory notes

FRSERK

[E B RFR

WEETE - BB &
R ERFR

WiHFE 2 &R

HRCERE

HERBEZHNE
H it AR ZFE
ERERZHE

!
[

BEMRTERZANE

9. HMEE

2024
— LRSS
HK$’000
FTERT

10. BEE B AN

2024
—E-mEF
HK$’000
FBx

Annual Report 2024 5

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
FHET

42,639

2023

— =%
HK$'000
TFHET
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

I'1.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Group’s loss before taxation from
continuing operations is arrived at

after charging:

Other staff costs
Other staff's retirement benefits scheme

contributions
Total staff costs

Auditor's remuneration
— audit services

— non-audit services

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of land use right

Amortisation of water mining right

Lease payment not included in the measurement WA A EABHENTHE

of lease liabilities (Note 20(c))
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

| 1. BRELATET I8

2024 2023
—EMF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT

FEEREFRASEXEL 2
BB RIS IR RABR T 5 &
HER/E

Hih 8 TR 7,349
HE BT ZRREFFEIER
80
B TABEE 7429
% SN EN &
— ZEPRTE 1,100
— IERZ B R T 203
1,303
YE - BERRETE 2,199
FREEERE 2,512
o Hb {5 PR 8 207
BROK R4 5 =
R (K1aE20(c)) 362
BAFEFABZZ /M
BEZANFEES 197
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2024 & - &

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as follows:

TE=ZA=FT—HILFE

12. ESEN €
BN ENENESZMEIT :

Retirement
Salaries and benefits scheme
Directors’ fees other benefits* contributions Total
ESHe HeRAME- BRERFEMR 2
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“E-ME -“T-o-F “B-WNE -“Fo-F ZBoNE -T--F ZBoME -F--F
HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TAL TAn TAL TEn TATL TAn TATL
Executive directors: HTES.
Ms. Ouyang Yanling (Chairman) — BIG$R AL (ZE)
(appointed on (R=B-mF-A
23 February 2024) “tZREZA) -
Mr. Li Yuguo 2EE%E 384
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James BHrsE -
Mr. Li Xaoming FBEALE
(appointed on (R=B-—%+-A
21 November 2022) —+-REZM) 139 -
Mr. Yu Jiang FIks
(appointed on (RZE=ZF+-A
21 November 2022 and “+-REZEY
resigned on |6 August 2023) RZEZ=FN\A
T BEHE) 139 -
Ms. Guo Yumei RE/RT
(resigned on (R=B-—%FAA
28 September 2022) Z+/\BE) m
o
Non-executive directors: FHUTE
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang 20N ?ﬁ%i
(Vice chairman) (B1#f) 192
Mr. Huang Yilin ERMEE 192
Mr. Chen Dong Yao RRZEE
(appointed on (R=Z-_m%E-A
23 February 2024) == El?%%
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTE
directors:
Mr. Ba Junyu BRTEE 156
Mr. Zhu Xueyi REERE 156
Mr. Wong Chung Man B EE 136
o o
T
* Other benefits mainly included estimated money value of other non-cash benefits- * Hib@R = ZERELMIERSB/HN —EBEZ
accommodation. e EE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
During the years ended 3| March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments

were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of
the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during

the years ended 31| March 2024 and 2023.

3. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Five highest paid individuals
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for
the year included 2 (2023: 2) directors of the Company, whose
emoluments are included in note |2 above. The emoluments for

the remaining 3 (2023: 3) individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits Fre hEMmEA

Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR RAE K5t 2 4 3
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12. EEM <€ (&)

REBEEZTE-_AFR=ZFT=Z=F=A
=ST-BLEFEAR AEEHESIHT
EEMESERBEMAIRMAREE
W ReBBAEE REE-ZT N
ERZT_=ZF=ZA=+—HLHFE
W B E E R kR B AREE A e B
ﬁo

EEME

(a) EEBBFAL
rEEREHZRSFATZMSEER
BEARAMA(ZE_=F : BA)=E
= HBSFBEEN O o 82
T=R(ZZT==F : =&) ATHYEN
ST ¢

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,287

36

2,323



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

|3. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 3. {2Ef& (&)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (a) EEREFAL(E)
The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2023: 3) individuals fell BRI=R(ZFBZ=F: ZR)AT
within the following bands: ZHENTFATEHER :

Number of individuals

AB
2024 2023
—E-WmF 2=

HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 T ITE 1,000,000/ 7T 2

HK$ 1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T I
3

(b) Senior management of the Group (b) XEEZEREEE

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no RBEZT_NER-ZT_=F=
emoluments were paid by the Group to the senior management A=+—HIEFEER  KEEHE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as XN TEREREMSERKREM
compensation for loss of office. None of them has waived or AR AT R B 2 525 o Bl 5
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 HE RBEZ_T_HNFR_F
March 2024 and 2023. —=F=A=t—BHLEFEAR K

EMEREXRERETAME -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

|4. TAXATION 14. $i18
Continuing Operations IFEREXEK
2024
—EopmE
HK$’000
FERT

Current tax: BN IR ¢

— Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBMEHR

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —hEPRMAED

Total current tax expenses B EAR TE % 42 %8
Under-provision in prior years: BEFETZERE

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax - PRI EMEH

Deferred income tax: EEFEH

— Increase in deferred tax assets (Note 36) — RETHIEE EIG (A aE36)

— Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (Note 36) — IRIEFIB & &R (H/7£36)

Income tax credit for the year AREEZSHER

| 74 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | # iNE (%A% (5 G IR A &

2023
===
HK$'000
FET

858

858

(1210)
(18,294)

(19,504)

(18,646)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

4.

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Continuing Operations (continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax should be provided at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit arising in Hong Kong. For the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax was
made as the Group has no assessable profits arising in or derived from

Hong Kong.

Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at 25% (2023: 25%) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately RMB10,759,000 as at 3| March 2024
(2023: RMB9,739,000) that will expire within 5 years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. The tax losses of approximately
HK$122,107,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$118,176,000) are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits in
Hong Kong. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which

the above tax losses can be utilised.

14. B8 (4&)
FREEEXT(E)
BB E L 2 AT ERTBE M B IR K
l65%sTIREBBNSHERS -HE_F

—MER_F_=F=A=+—HLF
B BRAREYERKBFTEELEL
FERFRUS A - B AR BB FI 1S
o

HE_Z-_NF=_A=+—HILFE "
PR ZHIBRARBRRELR( ZE =
& 25%) B B EATSE -

RZZT-_NF=A=+—H EH}E
B AANRE10759,00T (2T ==
F: AR®9,7390007T) 2 HiBEIE
BRECHIBEEE  HBHEEREBR
%Kﬂimﬁﬁuﬁﬁim%ﬁﬁﬁ
M - RZT-_WMF=A=+—8 "
BRA122,107,0008 T (ZE =4 -
118,176,000 7T, ) 2 15 I8 &5 18 A 4 S R
HE SRR BB Z ERBUAT - AR
WA AR A KA R RE Rl 8) A Ealt B IE /&S
BERHEZERBORT - I EERR
EFIEEE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

4. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
Continuing Operations (continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss

14. F1E (58)

RS ERT (&)
RERZAEHRERA RGEIRERE

before taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before taxation (from continuing

operations)

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%

(2023: 16.5%)

Tax effect of share of result of associates

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Unrecognised deferred tax arising from
temporary difference
Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised

Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions

Under-provision in prior years

Income tax credit for the year

BR BB E TR (R B 548
REXR)

BREBNEHHEX165%
ZEZ=F 1 165%)
STHE B
DIREEE QA
REBBEE

MBI S RN
Xz RBeE

HBIET S BERM
WAZ B2

RIEFER 2 1A
BRI RETE

URERELY
REERIELERIA

B LRI RERR 2
HIAEE

TEH fh Rl ARE R A8 & 2 P&
RATRABE 2 MBTE

BEFETRHEEE

RERMBHESL
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2024
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHET

2 ERERZRIRATEIRERIAT -

2023

—=EF— E
28 =
S —

HK$'000

BT

(221,224)

(36,502)

2,262

33,403

(5.282)

2,412

2,991)

(15)

(11,933)

(18,646)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On 27 April 2023, the Company and Ms. Mao Yuzhen (“the
Purchaser”, an independent third party) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has agreed to acquire, the entire issued share
capital of Century Strong Limited and the shareholder’s loan advanced
to the Disposal Group, at a consideration of RMB150,000,000. The
disposal was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting held on 12 July 2023. The disposal is expected

to be completed by early 2025.

The results and cash flows of the Disposal Group are treated as

discontinued operations.

RZEZ=FWA=Z++tH " AQH
BEFELLZL([ER] RBIYE=
AV —HEE W Bt 0 AQ
RIRIELE » R EFH R EUWEE Century
Strong Limited ¥ 2 B B BITRA R HE
SEEBRNORRER  REAARE
150,000,0007T ° & FBER R AR
RZZE_=F+tA+T-_BHREITHRRR
RIRE L - HEFHEBHEN_-ZF
“HEFYITK °

HESENZELREREHRE/D
RIERT ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —ZE—WFE=A=+—HILFE

2 less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

|5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15. ERLEXEF (R)
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the results and cash flows of the HE_T-_NF=-A=+—HIEFE "
discontinued operations are analysed as follows: ERIEEBNEERREREDTA
T -
Analysis of discontinued operations BARIEEEZ D
2024 2023
—B-MF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FH&T
Revenue PN -
Other gains H AUz 7
Administrative expenses THAX (771)
Provision for impairment on property, plant M - BB MR E 2 BERE
and equipment (823)
Provision for impairment on other receivable — EAth FE UL BR 502 B B (5424)
Provision for impairment loss on deposit paid FHREREME
for investment properties in Yantian EfRe 2 BEEERE (56,469)
Loss before taxation R 15 Al B 1R (63,480)
Taxation I —*
Loss for the year from discontinued operations E#% |F ¥7% 2 NF E E18 (63,480)
The Group’s loss for the year from AEEREBCRLELZ
discontinued operations is REEEBEBIDRNBRUT
carried at after charging: HE#BHE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% « = MR EITE 758
Cash flows from discontinued operations: BRI EE 2 HEFRE :
Net cash used in operating activities LE EBFTAIR S FEE ()
Net cash generated from investing activities WEEBELRSFHE 7
Net cash generated from financing activities A EBEAIRSIERE -
Net increase in cash and cash ReRBFEWEMFHE
equivalents 5
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SN[ R B & (212)
207)

*  DR—THET

\
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

6. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

As the net assets of the Disposal Group will be recovered principally

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use (details

of which are set out in note 15), the Group classified the assets as

held for sale.

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the Disposal

Group classified as held for sale are as follows:

Assets

Properties, plant and equipment

Deposit paid for acquisition of investment
properties in Yantian

Deposit paid for naming right and
advertising right

Cash and cash equivalents

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Assets of Disposal Group classified as

held for sale

Liabilities

Tax payable

Liabilities of Disposal Group directly associated

with assets classified as held for sale

Net assets directly associated with

Disposal Group

& less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

6. DERFFHENEE B
SERBELENEEERE
HEaZz&fE

MR SR AR E BRI E
3% 5 0 36 538 1 M8 D 7073 A M 0 (3
BHNEIEIS)  AEBBEEDBA
FHEHE -

BIESBEARBELENTEEEBZFE
BERBEERNT :

2024 2023
—E-E —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHxT THEIT
BaE
VI - R KRR 185
FRBBERIEEMEZ
BftiEe 157,214
EmEERESHEZ
BEffEe 8,664
HeMReEEY 2,680
TERRIE ~ e REAM
FEUBR X 2,605
DEABENEZ
HESBEE 171,348
=L
FESFIE sk
HBAOEARIELENEE
BEEHEzLESEGE =+
HNESEEEZR#R
BEFE 171,348
*  DR—FET
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

l6.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

According to the recent discussion between the Company and the
Purchaser of the Disposal Group, the Purchaser re-confirmed to the
Group her willingness to complete the transaction. The net assets
directly associated with the Disposal Group was stated at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, which is
the consideration for the disposal amounting to RMB150,000,000.
Therefore, as at 31 March 2024, there was no indication of any
impairment on the Disposal Group and the fair value of the Disposal
Group remained unchanged. The decrease in the above amounts is
mainly due to the exchange difference resulting from the depreciation

of RMB, which was recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the fair value assessments of the
net assets of the Disposal Group immediately before the classification
as held for sale and that initially classified as held for sale as at 31

March 2023 are set out below.

Fair value of the net assets of the Disposal Group
immediately before classification as held for sale

As at 31 March 2023, immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual assets
and liabilities of Disposal Group) is brought up-to-date in accordance
with the accounting policies before the classification, resulting in the
recognition of impairment losses of approximately HK$53,560,000 in
the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 3| March 2023.

The fair values of the deposits paid for acquisition of investment
properties in Yantian, naming right and advertising right, and other
receivables were determined, by reference to the valuations carried out

by AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer.
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l6.

DEAFFLHENEE 'H
SERBELENEERRE
HEz8E(E)

$ETJ§$’AEE@&%§%E??E’ULHH§U‘
W BAMARRENEREMEES
X5 HENESEERBAENEEFRE
RERAERAFEBRKANLE (AR
BEBE)IE BIHEZEEABAR
#& 150,000,000 © Bt - RZE =Y
FZA=+—H HEANLELEN
BEDR - BHESENAFEEIZT
o PlieBBITIETEARARBE
BEELAMELZR  HERHEMZ2EK
P ERER -

BE_ZT_=F=-A=t—HLFE"
ERSBAFEHENRNR_T_=F
:H——T-—El%ﬂiﬂﬁﬁ%f’ﬁﬁ%ﬂ’wj

SEEEFBENATFEFGEIIN
—Fo

EESEBIFFHETHERE
BEFENLFE
RZEZ=F=A=+—80 " EEHH
AEELHEN  ERDEE(RLESE
ENfEBEENEERAR) 2EETIZ
BROER S BERES - EBEE
—EC=F=-A=+—HIEFERER
TR IR (B 518 4953,560,0004 7T ©

FRWBERRENE waEMES
BzeNEREAREMRBEERRN R
FELN2EBIAEREEMEEMAP
Appraisal Limited# 1T EMEE °
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For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —ME=A=+—HILFE

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

Notes
it
Properties, plant and equipment W% BEREE
Deposit paid for acquistion of investment ~ EENEEBRENE 2B e
properties in Yantian
Deposit paid for naming right and EBnLERELE MRS
advertising right
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEN
Prepayments, deposits and other BAFE  #ER
receivables EtEUER

l6. 7HEARBIEHENEE H
DEABEHENEERE

HEz8E(&)
Carrying
Carrying amount as
amount as remeasured
at 31 March immediately
2023 before before
classification classification
as held Impairment Exchange as held for
for sale loss realignment sale
it St REAEAR
ZA=1-A BEHEA
PEREE BEHEER
HEA ZIREE HEER EiAE pa i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn Tin

1,008 (83) 185

205,870 (39,999) 165,388
16,453 (1314)

2,680 -

9,142
2,680
8,026

(5.424) 2,608

234,037

(53,560) 3

180,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

BB ERRMEE

ME=A=+—HILFE

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

Properties in Yantian

The valuation of the deposit paid for acquisition of investment properties in
Yantian (“Yantian Properties”) used direct comparison method under market
approach. Market approach is common for property valuation. As there are publicly
available data on comparable transactions in the market, the direct comparison
method is adopted which is based on the recent transaction prices and/or asking
prices for similar properties adjusted for nature, location and conditions of Yantian
Properties. The key inputs to the valuation are PRC comparables ranging from
RMBI,620 to RMB4,950 per sq.m and ranging from RMB5,400 to RMBI3,410 per

sq.m.

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted.
The change in the key inputs was mainly due to the change in market values of
properties in the PRC resulting from the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC. If there is
significant increase in the key inputs, it would result in a significant increase in fair

value, and vice versa.

The fair value measurement of the deposit paid for acquisition of Yantian

Properties was categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

Naming right of Yantian Properties

For the valuation of the naming right, market approach is the most preferable and
generally accepted approach when adequate comparables are available. As there
are publicly available data on comparable transactions in the market, the direct
comparison method is adopted. The key input to the valuation was the premium
paid over naming right of 1%, taking into account the recent transaction prices and/

or asking prices for similar properties.

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted.
The change in the key inputs was mainly due to the change in market values of
properties in the PRC resulting from the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC.

The fair value measurement of the deposit paid for the naming right was

categorised at level 3 hierarchy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_]_\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(v)

Advertising right of Yantian Properties

The valuation of the deposits paid for the advertising right of Yantian Properties
used discounted cash-flow method under income approach. As there are
insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market approach is not
feasible for the valuation. As the advertising right is to be leased for generating
rental income, income approach is generally applied to assess the present value
of the future economic benefits of its ownership. As the result, discounted cash
flow method is adopted to derive the fair value for the present value of the cash
flows generated from the advertising right. The key inputs to the valuation included
discount rate of 7%, occupancy rate of 70% and growth rate on rental income of

3%.

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted.

The change in the discount rate reflects the specific risks faced by the Group.

The fair value measurement of the deposit paid for the advertising right was

categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

Other receivables

The fair value of other receivables was determined, based on the Expected Credit
Loss Model on the Disposal Group's existing receivables, given certain credit risks
displayed in them. The key inputs to the valuation included the recovery rate
ranged from 38.40% to 38.43%, credit rating of Caa-C under the Moody's rating

scale and the discount rate of 4.3%.

Fair value of the net assets of the Disposal Group
initially classified as held for sale as at 31 March
2023

As the consideration for the disposal was less than the carrying

amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities attributable to the

Disposal Group, the Group further recognised an impairment loss of
HK$9,156,000 when the Disposal Group is initially classified as held

for sale as at 31 March 2023. Such impairment loss is allocated to the

deposits paid pro rata based on the carrying amounts of those assets

to which the measurement requirements of HKFRS are applicable as

follows:

RRIF

i) HERNE
féij%?ﬂ’ﬁtﬂ’%ﬂ’ﬂ’éfé £

EzaE(E)

Hist - (&)

(i) EEEYEZESE
HERYEEEENE MRS O MERAK
ANEETHOHRBASREE - ARMH LA
BUBRHTR « WEERANISE®ITH
B - ARESEUEHESTAEEHSEA -
A L — AR B P A S ST A L T A R O R SR
BEAHmARE - Bt #FARRBESREE
AEELERBRSRERENDTE - HED
FTEL2HERFENRE17% - LFEE70% XA
S ARRE3Y -

EBERAMNBRAL  BMEEREL -
REMBCRRAEEEERASERR

HRESEZENRENATEEESRAS

H
=
=EH -

(iv) EAbREUERK
HiEREROATFEDRELEEERE
BWERNESREEEBELMETE - B
BEZERBERPERE T EERR - &
ENEZ2HEBERE RN F3840%=
38.43% ~ RIRBHMATRERAMEHCaa-CZ
EERTRRITEE43% °

R-B-=F=ZFA=1+—H*%
BREFEHENHEEBESEF
BEH 2 FE
HRAHEFHENREINEESEEN
HEREERBEZERERE  RASEE
E-E-_—F=-A=+—HRHESE
NESERFELERE - PHRRE
[E5189,156,000/8 7T © A BRI EEE TR
BEASMBREENNEEHRTHEA 2
ZEEEMNERAE  REOSBEER
ReWT :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —E=A=+—HILFE

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/ l6. D EAIFIELENEE &
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH DHEAEELENESERHIE
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE HEzaE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Carrying
amount as
remeasured
immediately Carrying
before amount after
classification Allocated allocation of
as held for  impairment Exchange  impairment
sale loss  realignment loss
ERIBRE
&Rl ROWRE
BEH EOEMRE BE%Z
HEREE BR EXAZ fREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH7 FET FE5 FH7
Properties, plant and equipment ME  BERRE 185 185
Deposit paid for acquisition of BERWEERLE
investment properties in Yantian mEZEMNERE 165,888 (8,678) 157,214
Deposit paid for naming right and ~ BEGLERESEZETEE
advertising right 9,142 (478) 8,664
Cash and cash equivalents HERBELZEEY 2,680 - 2,680
Prepayments, deposits and other  FBRTFUR * e R H M KRN
receivables 2,605 2,605

180,500 (9,156) 171,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

|7. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO |7. RFEERRBES ARBAE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR BREE
From continuing and discontinued operations KEGEEEXBRERILFET
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners KATHEE AEEERERNESEIRE
of the Company is based on the following data: ATEUERTE -
2024 2023
—EBomE S
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Loss BB

Loss for the year from continuing operations KARHEA ANEEFEKE

attributable to the owners of the Company ERZANFEEE (182,692)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 7N Bl#EA A BIGE &R 1E %5
attributable to the owners of the Company ZAREEEE (63,480)
(246,172)
2024 2023
—EB-IF —TC=F
’000 Shares ‘000 Shares
TR FI%
Number of shares idvip: 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FA{EFt E G EANEIE 2
the purpose of basic loss per share (Note) BT INREE S B (KT aE) 828,778
Note: Mt -
The basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations are the AR ECMEES ST E 2T aKR B E
same for the years ended 3| March 2024 and 2023, as there are no dilutive potential ToNFER T =F=A=T—HIEFEKREH
ordinary shares in existence. BIREXEBREKIEREBZ BRERREEEIEHE

GIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

|7. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO |7. RFERRBES ABAE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR BREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
From continuing operations KREGEEEER
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations RARHEEAREREFERLEERZ
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following BREREENGTEDERUTERE
data:
2024 2023
—EF-NME —F—_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHETT

Loss for the year from continuing operations RAREE AEIEREFHE

attributable to the owners of the Company B ER 7 NEEEIE (182,692)
From discontinued operations KREBHKIFEF
Basic loss per share from discontinued operations is HK$0.00001 WERAAGEE AELKREBE RILER
per share (2023: HK$0.0766), based on the loss for the year ZAREREEIELNI000ET(ZE-=
from discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the F 1 63480,000787T) * KEADKIFER
Company of approximately HK$ 11,000 (2023: HK$63,480,000). The 2 EBBRENERAFX0.0000 T (=
denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both T =F :00766787T) c FTADTEE
basic and diluted loss per share. VAR EERERNNEEEED

ZUEAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 March 2024, investment properties are situated in Zhejiang,
Suzhou and Beijing, the PRC (2023: situated in Zhejiang and Suzhou,

the PRC) and are held under medium-term leases.

At the beginning of the year

Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 39)

Additions

Transfer from deposits paid

Fair value changes

Exchange realignment

At the end of the year

1

18. IREW %

R-_Z-_MF=ZA=+—H -
MRAREMIT - MRt R(ZE ==
F IR BT &) -

HERE -

2024
—g-ms
HK$’000
FB

BB B A RN

(K1#E39)
NE
HEEEMES
NP EES
PE 5 A%

FR

Amount recognised in profit or loss for investment

properties

Lease income from operating leases

Direct operating expenses on investment
properties that generated lease income

Unrealised loss on property revaluation
included in loss from changes in

fair value of investment properties

2023

—E =4
HK$'000
FET

105,301

757,161
5,584

(70,611)
(22,370)

775,065

RIBBHRREY R EER L

]
2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FHE T
REgERgrAERA
EXMERAZIRENE Y
EELEHAX
SFAREMEAFEZS
BiEsMESHRER
EE
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2023

B =4
HK$'000
TFET

14,201

L)

(70,611)

REWME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ 7f ﬁ%&&%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. IRE W= (&)
Contractual obligation BHEF
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there is no contractual obligation to R_E-_NNER-_E-_=F=/F=+—
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, B #EEE  BAXHBREDEK
maintenance or enhancements. BR®E  #EIARNEHEL -
Leasing arrangements HEZH
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating WEYREIRKEHEHBETHERE - A7
leases. The future minimum lease payments receivable under non- BB EHE TSR R SEBERRK
cancellable operating leases are as follows: UM
2024 2023
—EBNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T
Within one year —F R | 1,504
In the second to fifth years inclusive FoEFENF(BREEERTE) 32,281
Over five years AFMNUE 40,199

83,984
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. REW = (&)

Valuation processes of the Group

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 were arrived at on the basis of valuations carried
out by the independent qualified professional valuer, AP Appraisal

Limited.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
management, audit committee and the independent valuer annually, in

line with the Group's annual reporting date.

The management:

*  verifies major inputs to the independent valuation report;
*  assesses property valuations movements when compared to the
prior valuation report; and

. holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation methodology

The Group completed its annual valuation on investment properties,
and the valuation used direct comparison method under market
approach. Market approach is common for property valuation. As
there are publicly available data on comparable transactions in the
market, the fair values of investment properties are generally arrived
by adopting the direct comparison method by making reference to
the recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of comparable

properties.

KRB E B E
RIB_MFEFR_B_=F=A=+—
B AEBEKREMENDTFEDIRE L
BB EZEAERMAP Appraisal LimitediE
THMERSL -

BHEE BELZEQ@MBUAEMESF
SAEBENERETHW  BAKH
ZEERERH -

BEE :

- REBUHEBRENEEZSHIE
- HEMEAEREGBEMBERSH

o BBV HERETRR °

181875 %
AEEEZXRERREDENEER
B MZEEEAMSEIRATHERL
BOE - MIBEATMEBMENTER L -
MRME LA AR ZH AR
B REMENRFE-RRMAERL
BA(H2RABLBYENLHAR S
B/ HRE)FH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation methodology (continued)

Detail of the key inputs used in the valuation are as follows:

Non-financial assets

FEREE

Investment properties
in Zhejiang

ALz RENHE
Leasehold land and factory
MELH R IR

Leasehold land

i

Fair value

as at 3|1 March

R=B=+-H
ZDFE
2024 2023
—E-QmE -—T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET

82818

6,854

18. REW = (&)

1887 (&)

Key inputs to the valuation

HEZTESHUE

PRC comparables ranging from
RMBI,300 to RMBI,701 (2023:
RMBI,365 to RMBI,944) per square
metre

NESEIAARE J0TEARK
L70ITL(Z B =% : AR% 13657
EARE ML) NP ETELBRR S

PRC comparables ranging from RMB 4
to RMB215 (2023: RMB88 to RMB25)
per square metre
NEFETRARE MTEARE
UST(ZFZ=F : ARBBSTEA
REsT)NFETELBR S

Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | A7 A1 B 12 % % 1 B BR A 7

MEMBHEIZ2HEZFHBENAT :

Relationship of key
inputs to fair value
TEZ2HESR
AVEZBE

A significant increase in the key inputs
would result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
IR2REABENEEHAFER
g k2

A significant increase in the key inputs
would result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
TR2UEAEENGERDFER
WM - R TR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR MY T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

18. IREWZE (&)
1B 5L ()

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation methodology (continued)

Fair value
as at 3| March

Relationship of key

inputs to fair value

Non-financial assets R=B=+—H Key inputs to the valuation TESHESR
FERMEE ZDVE REZETESHUE DMFEZBE
2024 2023
—BoRE ZF-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT TAT
Investment properties
in Suzhou
BNz RENE
Shops 239,887  PRC comparables ranging from A significant increase in the key inputs
G RMB38,873 to RMB46,952 (2023: would result in a significant increase in
RMB23,631 to RMB47,381) per square  fair value, and vice versa
metre IR2BEARENEEHAFEX
NEGFRRARKIBIBLEA BN RZHA
K469 (ZF =5 : AR
23,631 TEARK47381 ) M)REl A
BHERS
Commercial buildings 445506  PRC comparables ranging from A significant increase in the key inputs

AXET

RMB32,472 to RMB38,767 (2023:
RMB36,010 to RMB52,214) per square
metre
NTFGFHRAREDITEA
RHE3B767TT(ZB==F : AR®
36010 ZE ARES221470) M B AT
BB S

would result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
FE2HERNRENEEHATER
B RZIFA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE
8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Valuation methodology (continued)

Fair value

as at 31 March

18. R EWME ()

1887 (&)

Relationship of key

inputs to fair value

Non-financial assets R=B=+—8H Key inputs to the valuation FESEEH
FeMEE ZAYE HEZEESYE ALEZEEF
2024 2023
“ECWE  ZTCZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THT

Investment properties

in Beijing

tRzRENE

Office —  PRC comparables ranging from A significant increase in the key inputs
WRE RMB34,928 to RMBS55,879 (2023: nil) ~ would result in a significant increase in

NTEEFEHRARE3M28TEAR  fair value, and vice versa
Bos879m(ZEZZF  E)MPE  TESHEARENSERATLEK

ELRZ S

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those
previously adopted. The change in the key inputs was mainly due to
the change in market values of properties in the PRC resulting from
the slowdown of the PRC economy and the debt crisis of some of the
property developers in the PRC.

As at 3| March 2024 and 2023, the fair value measurement of the
Group's investment properties is categorised at level 3 hierarchy.
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers into or out of level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR a B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —ME=A=+—HILFE

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
Asat | April 2022
Additions
Additions through acquisitions of subsidiaries
Write off
Exchange reaignment
Reclassified to assets classified as held
to sale (Note i)

Asat 31 March 2023 and | April 2023

Additions

Additions through acquisitions of subsidianies
Transfers

Exchange realignment

As at 3| March 2024

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Asat | April 2022

Depreciation for the year

Accumulated depreciation of acquisttion
through subsidiaries

Impairment loss for the year

Wiite off

Reclassified to assets classified as held
to sale (Note i)

Exchange realignment

Asat 31 March 2023 and | April 2023

Depreciation for the year

Accumulated depreciation of acquisttion
through subsidiaries

Impairment loss for the year

Exchange realignment

As at 3| March 2024

Carrying amounts
Asat 31 March 2024

Asat 31 March 2023

B

R-B-Z%MA-A

g

FANENBLADER

64

Ex 2

ERNRENEARELENEE
(M)

R-B-zEzf=t-Ak
ZZ-ZEMA-A

g

FANENBRARER

B

EiAE

R-B-mE=f=1-A
ZiHFERAE
R-B-ZEMA-R
EfifE
FENELANBHZNE
ERAEER
6
ENAREABARENENEE
(M)
Eia
R-B-z£zA=t-AR
ZECZEMA-A
EnfE
FENBAANBIZTTE

ERBERR
EiBE

H=8-ME=A=1-B

REE
R-8-MEZA=t-A

RZE-=£=f=1-A

19. )% - BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Land and Mine Leasehold and office Motor ~ Construction
buildings infrastructures improvement  Machinery  equipments vehicles in progress Total
5 il ]
THRET ERG LES BE  RERRE hiE ERIR &3t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR Tk TR Tk T Tk T Tk
= = 6,657 18672 2571 3962 14484 56352
= = = - 51 - 14310 14361
= = = = 4894 47 = 5367
- - (10 - (3 - - ()
- - (460) (133) (255) (300) (1.807) (4195)
= = (5421) = (1238) (1723) = (8388)
- - 760 17299 5995 2412 36987 63453

(14)

40,496 86,130 146

u
846

9
(188)

36,984 6,911

1,413 16,160

. 9,369
(36,839) :
(1279) (1,713)

1120 182 174,269

- - 5008 5651 2058 3496 . 1623
= = 717 164 # Bl : 2957
- - - - M i - 3
= = il 5830 . 3 = 6653
- - ) - @31) - - (0)
= = (40) = (1107) (1669) = (8209
- - (340) (419) (13) (240) . (1I51)
- - 74 12706 154 1757 . 16408

(14)

2,005 14,176 146

38,491 11,954 -
|

0
2587

310 :
(44) (39)

18,847 2,39

18,137 4515

4593 4450

(K11} - 40,038

852 182 134231

615 36,987 46,645
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

BT ERR MR

ME=A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

194 Zhong Jia

As at 31 March 2023, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$ 185,000 have been reclassified to assets classified as held for

sale (for details, please refer to note 16).

The recoverable amount of the machinery located in Zhejiang, which was leased
out for rental income (*“Zhejiang machinery”), has been determined based on value
in use of the machinery and with reference to a valuation report issued by AP

Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

As asset approach does not take future growth potential into consideration, asset
approach not an adequate approach for the valuation of the Zhejiang machinery.
Besides, as there are insufficient comparable transactions exist in the market,
market approach is not adopted. Therefore, discounted cash flow method under
the income approach, to derive the fair value for the present value of the cashflows

generated from the activity, was adopted in the valuation.

The recoverable amount of the Zhejiang machinery was determined using the
discounted cash-flow approach with the key inputs including the discount rate
of 8% (2023: 8%) and growth rate on rental income of 1.25% (2023: 3.4%). The

valuation is categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted.
The change in the key inputs took into account the industry growth rate, past

leasing status and its future improvement.

As at 31 March 2024, based on the result of the assessment, the recoverable
amount of the Zhejiang machinery is amounted to approximately HK$49 1,000
(2023: HK$4,593,000) and the management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the Zhejiang machinery is lower than its carrying amount.
An impairment loss of approximately HK$3,203,000 (2023: HK$5,830,000) has

been recognised for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The land and buildings with carrying amount of approximately HK$37,058,000

(2023: nil) are pledged as securities for bank borrowings (note 37).
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19. 9125 ~ BB K&t ()

Hret

@

(i)

(i)

RZE-_Z=ZF=ZA=+—H8  KHEY
185,000 T2 ¥  BMERREECEFH DA
ESERFBIELHENEE(ERFE - F2H
fisE16) ©

AT I I A B & W A B9 28 ([T
R ) 2 AT E S BB R E RN EAEE
BE - WBEBIEEREERAP Appraisal
Limited i A B (A ERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR MY T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. Y15 ~ BB KR ()
(CONTINUED)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZHERRZHE
2024 2023
—E-UE —E =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Rental income from machinery leased under RELEHEERET
operating leases AR B2 A & U 4,044
Leasing arrangements HEZH
The machinery is leased to tenants under operating leases. The future WRILEEHEEEAETFHEE - Aol fis
minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating KEHETREKBARZERE SN
leases are as follows: T«
2024 2023
—E-UE —E =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHETT
Within one year —&FR 829
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EZENF(BREEERSE) 480
Over five years AFELE T

1,309
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

20. LEASES 20. HE
The Group as a lessee KEBEERBEEA
The Group has lease contracts for buildings with lease periods of | to NEFEHEHAE EME(ZE_=
2 years (2023: | to 2 years). F—EMF)NEFHHEESL -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEBFAEEENFTANEKREE
movements during the year are as follows: REFHMOT :
Residential
units Offices Total
FEEEM WAE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THETT THET
As at | April 2022 RZZEZZ_FMHH—H - 1913 1,913
Additions R 4,127 - 4,127
Depreciation e (954) (1,558) (2,512)
Exchange realignment PE X A% - (16) (16)

Asat 31 March 2023 and R-ZE-_=F#=HA=+—H

| April 2023 EZT_=4mMH—H 3,173 339 3,512
Additions b7 2,372
Depreciation e (2,063) (1,229)

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NME=H=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR MY T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

20. LEASES (CONTINUED) 20. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBIEREAFENA ()
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaBERFRNEEERES WM
during the year are as follows: ™~
HK$'000
FAET
As at | April 2022 MRZZEZ_FHH—H 1,895
Additions b7 4,127
Interest expense e 223
Payments KR (2,789)
Exchange realignment ME 5, e B (15)
As at 31 March 2023 and | April 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—HK
—E_=FMHA—H 3,441
Additions BN
Interest expense FERXZ
Payments B
As at 3| March 2024 RZFZWE=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

20. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

20. HE (58)
FEMESAEA (F)
(b) HEBE(E)

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
Analysed into: DR
Current portion MBS 2,270
Non-current portion EREE D 171
3,441
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are (0 MIEFTHERAERBESHLREN
as follows: T

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZHNE 223
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 2,512

Expense relating to short term leases RHEERX
(included in administrative expenses) (FEATTEAY) 362
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEEP R Z AR5 3,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

21.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
As at | April 2022
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023 and
I April 2023

Additions through acquisition of
subsidiaries

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment

As at | April 2022

Amortisation for the year

Impairment loss for the year

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023 and
I April 2023
Accumulated amortisation of
acquisition through subsidiaries
Amortisation for the year
Impairment loss for the year
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024

Carrying amount
As at 31 March 2024

As at 3| March 2023

21 BILEE

Water Exploration

Land use mining  and mining
right right right Total
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iij)
T ERE Bk BRRRRE Mgt
(Kreti) (Hztii) (B atiii)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TR TR
B
R-ZE-—£mA—H 11,186 374,639 - 385,825
b 50 (823) (325) - (1,148)
R-B-=%¥=A=t—-H
kR-—Z-_=FWMA—H 10,363 374314 384,677

FERYIENB A FIEAR

= - 359,493 359,493
BE SR (356) (141) 1,622 1,125
R-ZB-NE=F=+—H 10,007 374,173 361,115 745,295

]

2 EBHERRE
W_ZE-_—_FmMA—H 829 87,436 = 88,265
F N 207 = = 207
FRREESE = 58,073 = 58,073
BE M AR (61 - - (61

R-B-=%=A=+-H

k-E-=FmA-H 975 145,509 146,484
BRNBRRANEN

B 3
FREH
FRRERR
B 51 AR
R-B-ME=A=+-H 1,141 175,691 848 177,680
fREE
R-B-WNE=A=+-AH 8,866 198,482 360,267 567,615

.|

RZFZ=F=A=1—H 9,388 228,805 - 238,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

e SRR MR

ME=A=+—HILFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

Land use right represents the right to use the land for water exploitation activities in

Hunan. The land is located at 4R %7 B ST #5228 = SIRER A (A

Land use right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its lease term of 50 years.

Water mining right represents the right to conduct water exploitation activities
in Hunan. The subsidiary, #iF8 %7 H = $85& R/KBPR A 7] had entered into an
agreement with Hunan Government to grant the subsidiary a water mining right for
exploitation of mineral water for 5 years. The subsidiary has the priority to extend
the mineral water mining right afterwards. The mine is located at 4R #THZ = &
J&. The subsidiary has the exclusive rights and authorities to manage and arrange all
activities in the mining area. The water mining right was renewed on | December

2022 and will expire on 3 December 2025.

Water mining right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
economic life of 20 years which was estimated with reference to the validity of
the operation licence held and the productions plans of the Group. Amortisation
was provided for the year ended 31 March 2024 as commercial production has

commenced in March 2024.

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment on the water mining
right at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed its annual
impairment test for the water mining right. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
recoverable amount of the water mining right referenced to a valuation report
issued by AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer. The recoverable
amount of the water mining right was determined based on multi period excess
earnings method which uses sum of discounted present value of the projected
annual excess earnings. This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a twenty-year period. The valuation is categorised at level 3

hierarchy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_]_\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

BT ERAR MR

ME=A=+—HILFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i

(continued)

As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take
future growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to
be an adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was
considered the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the
water mining right. Multi period excess earnings method under income approach is
used which reflects the sum of discounted present value of the projected operating
profit attributed to the water mining right less required return for its contributory

tangible and intangible assets.

The key inputs used in the annual excess earnings calculation are as follows:

Net profit margin (% of revenue)

Long-term annual growth rate used to BAREERESRE
extrapolate cash flow HRAFEERE
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTIR =

The net profit margin is based on management’'s expectation and experience
in bottled water market, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and

expected increase in production.

The long-term annual growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the ten-year period which are based on the estimated growth rate
taking into account the industry growth rate and the medium or long term growth

target of the Group.

AR (ERAB L)

21.

BEEE(E)

Hiat - (%)

(i)

(&)

BMRTIE LA ELRZ TR - #ERAD
SRETTHE - ARNEERY EE BARKE
REN BRI ETRRBRAREENMHE
T o B WAEB R R R A SRR
ENRAENGHETE WAERTHZH
MR AR RA N RRFOKEN TR R E
BN BRRESHREERBEVRELE
EMRER -

ARFEFEBREREZ T E28EHI T

T

2024
—2omE

2023
—T-=F

9.06%-32.14%

2.00%

14.00%

MMETDIERERBE MR KT HNHER
KEatE  THRARERESRBAHES L
I AEFTHEE

ROFERRESANEEBRE TFHNR
EREMERE DA HERRLESE
WEBTEERERAEENTRAERA
BEERFL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

*

(i

(i)

(continued)

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are
consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. There
are no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted. The
change in the key inputs was mainly reflected the slowdown of the PRC economy.

The management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

The exploration and mining right represents the rights for conducting exploration
and mining of lead, zinc, copper and silver at the mines which are located in Enshui
Road (Minjiang Market Section), Zhenyuan Yi Hani Lahu Autonomous County,
SETHE ARG IRAL
ABEKE(RIIEEMISBE)) and Jivjia Township, Zhenyuan County,

Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (FEBIZEmM & &
ik
Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (Ff Bl EEfA LIE T #T N T ). The
mines are operated by the subsidiaries of the Company, Zhenyuan County Jinhao
Mining Co., Ltd* (BEERMERIIREAZEREEBR AR (Jinhao")
and Zhenyuan County Jiuyuan Mining Co., Ltd.* GETEZ NIRBEEBREE Q)
(“Jiuyuan”) respectively. The mining license held by Jiuyuan is valid from 25 July
2019 to 25 July 2026 and the exploration license held by Jinhao is valid from 25 July
2022 to 25 July 2027.

No amortisation was provided for the year ended 31 March 2024 as commercial

production has not yet commenced during the year.

For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iif)

(continued)

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment on the exploration
and mining rights at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed
its annual impairment test for the exploration and mining rights. As at 3| March
2024, the recoverable amount of the exploration and mining rights referenced to
a valuation report issued by AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.
The recoverable amount of the exploration and mining rights was determined
based on multi period excess earnings method which uses sum of discounted
present value of the projected annual excess earnings. This valuation uses cash flow
projections based on financial estimates covering the licenses terms. The valuation

is categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take future
growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to be an
adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was considered
the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the exploration
and mining rights. Multi period excess earnings method under income approach is
used which reflects the sum of discounted present value of the projected operating
profit attributed to the exploration and mining rights less required return for its

contributory tangible and intangible assets.

21.

BREE(E)
HiEE - (8)

(iif)

(&)
REBANSRERRTE SRR EEZ
EAREDR o AEEE 5Tk B iR & R
ZEERBEAR R-_F-_mHFE=F=1—
A BREREEZAINESEIZEBL
S ERR(EIERTAP Appraisal LimitedH B 2 &
|E - WRRRBEEZ TRESERES
RS A (AREFEBR RS 2 TRR
BERMETHE)ERE < IHETDRERERT
Az BEENAREREBRAGE - %
HEABRE=5R -

BHRTIE LA ELRRSTR - SERAD
SEMETEE - AN E AL EE BRKE
RED - AZTETRRBZEENGBE
T o B WAER R AR R R R
BEREEENRSBENGETE  RAEERT
B % B 8 BE M 2 A 1 PR P DA J IR B R % BRI
RO EEENNTRERESBRELER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21 B EE ()

Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&)
(iiiy  (continued) @iy (#&)
The key inputs used in the annual excess earnings calculation are as follows: ARGTEFEBRBNEIZ TER2HESEN
T
2024 2023
—E-mE —z-=
Net profit margin (% of revenue) MAEERABS L) -
Annual growth rate EFEER _
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTIR X -
The net profit margin is based on management's expectation and experience MAMEDEREREH BTSN HERE
in metal market, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and expected BErHE - WHESARKRS REHES LM
increase in production. MEITHE -
The annual growth rate is based on the estimated growth rate taking into account FEBREDAGEBERERREE  ¥ER
the average growth rate of the global Gross Domestic Product and the Consumer ERBRNEEREREEEEREHNTY
Price Index. EREHEBH -
The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks. PR KR THBAT I R AT T A -
The value assigned to the above assumptions are consistent with management HEELMRR2BEAEREEINES
plans for focusing operations in these markets. The management believes that the REMGZE—H - BEERR  %ZEFER
assumptions are reasonable and achievable. REBEIERAEK ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_]_\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

*

At the beginning of the year

Share of post-acquisition losses and other
comprehensive income during the year,
net of dividends received

Impairment losses for the year

At the end of the year

Amount due from an associate
(Notes i and ii)

Notes: Bisr

() Amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 0)
demand.

(i) ~ The maximum outstanding balance during the year was approximately (i)
HK$765,000.

(i)~ The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding Dong (i)

22. R

£

FANHKBRERK
Hip 2w
kR 2 Y BB

FARIEEE

FR

FEU— & R El 2 B
(B1aEi i)

Group Company Limited which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Guangxi, Guangxi

Spring Water Ding Dong Beverages Company Limited* (“Guangxi Spring Water

Ding Dong"). Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong possesses a water procurement

permit for the production and sales of bottled water and is currently in operation in

Guangxi. The remaining 80% equity interests is held by Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive

director of the Group.

For identification purpose only

NG P2 £

2024 2023
—EmE —ET_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
147,000

(13,447)

(31,553)

102,000

2024 2023
—EmE B4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

765

Rl — BT 2 K
BRI -

RREER  2ER

KEE 2 Him A MEEREEL H765,0007 7T °

AEEFAFARKTKEEEGRAF (AR

ERER M2 EME A R EERKIT KR
AR AF ([EERKITRE ]))Z209%8 A
% o BESKTBREFIUKEFELEEREE

K - WIEEREFLE o 81 F80%MRANHE
FHAAEBPTESTEIREERE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) (&)

22. REE N T 2 R

Notes: (continued) HtaE - (&)

(i) (continued) @iy (#&)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group completed its annual impairment test RZBE-_NER-_ZT-_=ZF=ZA=+—80"
for interests in associates by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying AEEFEBAERAIKEDSEREREE <
amount. AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer, carried out a BEREERNR Z R FERENR - B

valuation of the interests in associates as at 3| March 2024 and 2023 based on the
value-in-use calculations. This valuation uses cash flow projections under income
approach based on financial estimates covering a ten-year period. The valuation is

categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take future
growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to be an
adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was considered
the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the equity interests
of the associates and the discounted cash-flow method is used in the value-in-use
calculations which reflects the discounted present value of all future benefits that

flow to the shareholders.

The key inputs used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

A BRIEERIAP Appraisal Limited A2 FA{E
BEAEAEE BR_T_WFR-_ZT_=
FZA=+—HREHED T ZERETR
B WHEDRRE+FHZMBEHEENA
WAEBRTZReRERAFE - ZEED
BRE=ZZHK -

MRMSLAALBRS TR - SARAH
HEBETHE - ARNEERLEE BARKE
REN  RZAETRRBRREENHE
T o B WAEB R R Z R A E AR
ARG EENREENMGEDE  LRA
PFrIIR & 8E (R [7 A SR &Y BT A AR 2R A
SOFRBRE)ETEREENE

RAREREEFE EZ2EERIINT

2024 2023

—EComE —To=f

Gross profit margin (% of revenue) EFNE(ERABDL 1.88%-45.55%
Long-term annual growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows AREERSRENRPFEERE 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate AT IR & 13.00%

Gross profit margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over the ten-
year forecast period. It is based on the current sales margin levels with adjustments

for expected efficiency improvements and expected increase in production.

The long-term annual growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the ten-year period based on the estimated growth rate taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and the medium or long term

growth target of the associates.

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are

consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. There

are no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted. The

change in the key inputs was mainly reflected the slowdown of the PRC economy.

The management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

Details of the Group's associates, which were held indirectly by the

Company at the end of the reporting period, were as follows:

Name of associates

BenFER

Hong Kong Spring Water
Ding Dong Group
Company Limited

EARKTREEARAR

Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong

Beverages Company Limited*

BRSKTRLRERAH

*  For identification purpose only

Class of shares/
registered
capital held
KEZRB/
EMEAEH

Ordinary
Lak

Registered
wtfh

22. REFE N 2 e (&)
Hiat - (%)

@iy (#)
DEZE P RR 2 EERMBELRS - WM
EEERINEEZSTHS 2T K- @A
BEFANMRRKRAL - HESAEE - =2
SHENECEERMPBLERE - B2
BREZERRAEERALT

AEEBERB(RNRARRNESHRME
BRB)ZHBWT

Proportion of nominal value of
paid capitallregistered Principal

capital held by the Group activities

EAEEEEZEBMRE/

HMEAHEZEA L TEER
2024 2023

“BCME “F-=F

20%  Investment holding and

water business

REZRRKES

20%  Production and sales of

bottled water

EERHEREK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associates
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 was set out below
which represents amounts shown in the respective financial
statements of the associates prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.

Current asset mEBEE
Non-current asset JEMBEE
Current liabilities iEb=Y
Non-current liabilities IERBEE
Revenue A

Loss for the year REEBE
Other comprehensive income HAth 2 E W
Total comprehensive income 2 EW LR
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)
i

22. RBFE N7z e ()
AEEZBEANBE-S-MER=
E_=F=A=+-RALFEIHBE
HEERN T AEHBEARRE
R R ERR LY R AR EE
MFTRZ S8 - BE R TERA R
KA IR -

2024 2023
—E_mE —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T TT

25,899
84,690
187,491
5712
4,900

(68,552)
1,317

(67,235)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of the net liabilities of associates at the acquisition date
to the carrying amount of the interests in associates recognised in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

Net liabilities of the associates

as at acquisition date

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interests in associates

Cost of investments in associates
unlisted in Hong Kong
Valuation adjustment from acquisition
(net of accumulated impairment losses)
Share of post-acquisition losses and other
comprehensive income, net of dividends

received

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in

associates ARTEE
There is no commitment and contingent liabilities under the A
associates. & °

22. ABE#
s N TN IRES B B R AN
A BT AR A TR E

Rz e ()

EEZHEDT

AEERBERRZ
BEEESMEADL

BREBRBREANIE LT E QT
2R

Yihg 2 (B &
(FnEr REHREEBER)

DMERBREBBRREMEE
Yes - FERE WAE

2024
—EomE
HK$’000
THET

2023

== =4
F—=
—_—<

HK$'000

TET

(33,841)

20%

(6,768)

180,712

(71,944)

102,000

N A T EAEMAERKAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

23.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

BRTME
Less: provision for impairment B ORER

Properties under development

Properties under development are the residential properties located
in Beibu District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC*

under development for sale and are held under medium-term lease.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of properties
under development included land use rights of approximately
HK$ 114,315,000 (2023: HK$ 1 18,382,000).

On 27 January 2022, the Group received an idle land decision from
Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (KiET BAE IR
f&) which determined the land of properties under development
was in idle condition and the land may be repossessed by the PRC
government authorities without compensation. The Board has
reviewed and reconsidered the development plan and projected a
significant drop in gross profit margin in developing the properties
under development. Due to the abovementioned factors, the Board
considered a full impairment on the properties under development
is appropriate and reasonable. Nevertheless, the management are
still using its best endeavors to avoid land repossession by the PRC

government authorities without compensation.

For the year ended 3| March 2024, there was no indication that the

provision for impairment on properties under development should be

reversed (2023: Nil).

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

24.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Completed properties held for sale

BB

Less: Provision for impairment o

The completed properties held for sale are located in Beibu District,
Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC* and are heldunder
medium-term lease. Completed properties held for sale which are
expected to be recovered in more than twelve months after the
reporting date are classified under current assets as it is expected to

be realised in the Group’s normal operating cycle.

In the annual impairment assessment of the completed properties
held for sale as at 31 March 2024 and 2023, a valuation report issued
by AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer and the sales
contracts entered into between the Group and the customers were

referred to.

The valuation used direct comparison method under market
approach. Market approach is common for property valuation. As
there are publicly available data on comparable transactions in the
market, the direct comparison method is adopted, which the fair value
of the completed properties held for sale were determined based on
the recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the completed

properties held for sale.

*  For identification purpose only

FIEHEZEBRME

24. FFHEZ BRI F

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
127,315

(60,215)

67,100

FIELEZEERMELNPRANES
MR e A Eit AR - WRPHEER

B BHSRREAHEB T —@EAR
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Appralsal Limited h BB A B EH A KA
BEZEPIINHEESH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

24. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24 FEHEZE ERYE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Details of the key input to the valuation are as follows:

Non-financial

EEFBN T ESRET HEDT :

assets Key inputs to the valuation
FEMEE HENEEZEE
2024 2023
—E-MF —F=F
Residential L A{OR LT T ETE LI EOE T T PRI B | - V. YI. 0 PRC comparables ranging from RMB4,470
to RMB6,282 per square metre to RMB7,838 per square metre
(EES NFEBFHRARM2626 TEARN6,2827T IRRRPF VN SRV IVEYN N
HNPEAELRRS 7838 TR B B LR 5
Commercial PRC comparables ranging from RMB4,257
to RMB5,677 per square metre
e NFFFHAARB427TTEARE
5677TLRFEAI LR 5
Carpark [ ORI ETET RN E TN T- R WA Y [V PRC comparables ranging from RMB2,835
to RMB3,038 per square metre to RMB3,510 per square metre
(R NFEBFHRKARME2T00TEARN3, 0387 IRE-RF PN IRELYEYN A

HNFETELRRS

There are no significant changes in the assumptions from those
previously adopted. The change in the key inputs was mainly due to
the change in market values of properties in the PRC resulting from
the slowdown of the PRC economy and the debt crisis of some of the

property developers in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$270,000 (2023: provision for impairment loss of
approximately HK$1,425,000) was recognised to reflect the increase
(2023: decrease) in net realisable value of the completed properties

held for sale.

As at 3| March 2024 and 2023, the fair value measurement of
the completed properties held for sale was categorised at level 3

hierarchy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS R MR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —_UF=A=+—HILtFE

25. INVENTORIES

Raw materials R ¥
Work in progress F£ B i
Finished goods X

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 5 EWERK

Based on the payment terms of tenancy agreements and credit
period granted to customers, the aging analysis of the Group’s trade

receivables as of each reporting date is as follows:

0 — 180 days 0Z180H

25. 78
2024 2023
—EF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT

26. B 5 EINERRK

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT

[ E— e —T R

REBHEEWZZNFTGERARETERH
FEH  AREZEZEBURFNE R

EHHCERRIITWOT ¢
2024 2023
—E_ME s
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET FHET

AR AR N B
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

26.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group's trade receivables are denominated in RMB, and
represent rental receivable from tenants for the use of PRC
investment properties and machinery and trading receipts from sales
of bottled mineral water. Rentals are payable in accordance with
tenancy agreements and no credit period is granted. Credit period of

I month is granted to customers of bottled mineral water.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the trade receivables. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be

impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired AREEARIBE
Less than 90 days past due BHN B 90H
Past due more than 90 days E AR R0 R

As at 31 March 2024, as 91% of trade receivables were not yet past
due, management considered that the expected credit loss of the

trade receivables is immaterial.

As at 3| March 2023, a tenant owed the rental to the Group of
approximately HK$16,915,000. The amount was fully settled on 22
March 2024.
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26.

B 5 RUERR (&)

AEE 2 HSERERANRKHE
BT B A % R 2 T
WS RHEMERRAKZEHEHK -
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HH MERRKOEFERT 8 A
B o

=P=|

RBERH ERz2EERRASESE

WHRR 2 BREME - REERIKEERA
ERECEZEBERFRERSTAOT
2024 2023

—E-WEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Non-current assets: FRBEE :

Deposits paid for acquisition of W EMHE 2
investment properties, net EfRe 58

Current assets: REBEE :

Deposits paid, net BEfReFE

Prepayments SCENERE]

Accrued income FEFTURA

Other receivables, net EH At E AR O 58

Amount due from the substantial JEUR = BRI R IE

shareholder

The movement of the provision for impairment loss on deposits paid
and other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other

taxes) is disclosed in note 5C.

The creation and release of impairment provision on deposits paid
have been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the provision
account are generally written off, when there is no expectation of

recovering additional cash.

27. FAMNRIR - REFRHEMWER

AR =K

Notes

Kt

0]

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

v)

2024 2023
—E-NE —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT

126,798

2,547
7,364
139
31,559

106,187

147,796

ENZEE REAMBUERR(TREEAN
IR K B TR IR ) KR (B B 1R B
HE) M FESCIEE -

EERBEENZES ZRERBEA
FEBRakAEMEmEER - NEER
MR B —REFH TR D EINR
ZHEFMES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Other receivables, net are denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK$ BIT

As at 31 March 2023, deposit paid for acquisition of investment
properties in Yantian with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$157,214,000, deposit paid for naming right and advertising
right with a carrying amount of approximately HK$8,664,000, and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables with a carrying amount
of approximately HK$2,605,000 have been reclassified to assets

classified as held for sale (for details, please refer to note 16).
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2024 2023
—EEF =4
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FET T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

BT ERAR MR

ME=A=+—HILFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

Beijing Properties

As at 31 March 2024, deposit paid of approximately HK$148,338,000,
net of provision for impairment of approximately HK$23,322,159 (2023:
HK$126,798,000, net of provision for impairment of approximately
HK$101,667,000) was related to the acquisition of investment properties in Beijing.
Details of the acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
28 February 2017. Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, construction
works were temporarily suspended and the vendor failed to hand over the
properties to the buyer in accordance with the agreed schedule. The Group took
legal action against the vendor and agreed with the vendor to refund the deposit
to the Group in the following manner: |) transfer certain properties in Beijing held
by the vendor to the Group; 2) pay a cash compensation of RMB8,000,000 to the
Group. As at 3| March 2024, the vendor has fully paid the cash compensation
of RMB8,000,000 and transferred 4 properties with the aggregate value of
approximately RMB44,381,600 to the Group. The transfers of the remaining
properties as refund of deposit are expected to be proceeded in 2024. Given that
the vendor was actively settling its liabilities, the Group has temporarily refrained
from taking further actions against the vendor. The Group reserves all its rights
against the vendor and will continue to follow up and closely monitor the refund

progress.

27. %Eﬁz\h
;.rA(Il‘,\)
Hiat -

BEREMER

Bl L/ ES
RZT-WE=A=+—8 - BRENLR
ZREMERBNENIRE 4148338000/
T (EMBRREEEL23322 1598 ) (=F
Z =4 ¢ 126,798,000 7T (B HIKR R B B
#9101,667,000% 7)) W IEFHMFHEH R
AARBHAZZ—+tHF_A-F+NBZA
H o HRFERBERE  BEIRLETRNFE
I HREAFREREHEAEREST A
¥ AEEEABHRIEETBIEES
BEATIIFXAAEERELRS © ) RAE
BEBPETEIFEANILRAYE  DALRE
B X 3 &M EAR80000007T c KT
“ME=A=+—8 EHEAXEEZH
AT & {8 A R #8,000,0007T + W E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 H %= — &

BB ERRMEE

“HEZA=1+—HLFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

Beijing Properties (continued)

The recoverable amount of the deposit paid for acquisition of investment
properties in Beijing has been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal
of the properties to be refunded to the Group. The fair value of the deposit
paid was determined by reference to the valuation carried out by AP Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer. The valuation used direct
comparison method under market approach. Market approach is common for
property valuation. As there are publicly available data on comparable transactions
in the market, the direct comparison method is adopted, which is based on the
recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of similar properties adjusted for
nature, location and conditions of the properties to be transferred to the Group.
The key inputs to the valuation are PRC comparables ranging from RMB34,928 to
RMB55,936 per sq.m. for commercial portion (2023: ranging from RMB9,000 to
RMB16,847 per sq.m.) and RMB8,892 to RMB 16,825 per sq.m. for carpark portion
(2023: ranging from RMB6,401 to RMB10,840 per sq.m.). The significant change
in key inputs was because the properties to be transferred as refund of deposit
are completed and decorated properties for the use of shops and office, while
the unit value adopted for 2023 were by reference with office buildings under
development. If there is significant increase in the key inputs, it would result in a

significant increase in the fair value, and vice versa.

The fair value measurement of the deposit paid was categorised at level 3

hierarchy.

218 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]

27%ﬁ

- BERHEMEW
(,,\,\)

Wi - (&)

IERYE(E)
BRENLRZRENEFANE RS M
AERSEDRIEERETAEENZEY
EMATERHEZSUEZRE - BEFIR
SHRTFELLEBYUEEREEMEERMAP
Appraisal Limited 1T Bl {EZEE - HERE
RS EE TEBELEE - MBEDWER
EMEATE - ARTH LEAELRRS
ARSI - SR EELESE - BIRESR
UMERTER ZER R RREGHRES
FAREEHYENEED - 2 RAGHFEL A
B)MEE - GENEZ2HERTERD
DRNFBTHRARBI4928TE AR
55936TL(ZTEZ=F : NFHBFHRKARKE
9,000t E AR 16,84770) 2 FEI AT & LR
5 MREESBIRA/NTEFHRAR
88N TTEARMKBI6825T(ZT =5 :
NFEBFHRKARES40I TTE AR 10840
TIZHRERELER S - TELHENSEKR
BERRERREREMEBNZEME
RERTIKRBEENEHERFAE M2
CEERAMENEENESEEEREN
BOBET - MEZLBEKREEN A
BHRAFEARELM - RZIFA -

ENEZENATEOESRAE=5R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —
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27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(i)

)

)

Deposits paid mainly comprised rental deposits and payments for business related
matters. Deposits paid relating to acquisition of properties in Zengcheng were fully

impaired.

Zengcheng Properties

The acquisition of properties in Zengcheng was terminated on |8 January 2017
and over 77% of the paid consideration has been refunded in previous years. As
at 31 March 2024, deposit paid related to acquisition of properties in Zengcheng
was approximately HK$68,391,000 (2023: HK$70,824,000) which loss allowance
for expected credit loss on the deposit paid was fully recognised in prior year. The
Group's legal advisors has issued demand letters to the vendor for the repayment
of the remaining balance of the paid consideration and related compensation. Up
to the date of this report, the Group is still trying to chase the repayment from
the vendor. Based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, there is no
indication that the loss allowance for expected credit loss on the deposits paid in

prior year should be reversed.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, prepayments mainly comprised prepayment of
indirect cost incurred for properties under development and purchase cost of

machineries for the production of bottled mineral water in Hunan.

As at 31 March 2024, other receivables of approximately HK$27,705,000, net of
provision of impairment approximately HK$3,540,000 (2023: HK$31,559,000),
mainly comprised other tax prepaid in the PRC and advance payments for business

related matters.

As at 31 March 2023, amount due from the substantial shareholder, Mr. Li Yuguo,
represented the compensation and interests receivable relating to the termination
of the acquisition of Shenyang Properties. The amount was approximately
RMB92,957,000, interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on or before
2 July 2023. However, Mr. Li Yuguo has not yet repaid the outstanding interest
together with the interest accrued in the aggregate sum of approximately
RMB94,763,000 (the “Defaulted Amount”) by 2 July 2023. Accordingly, the Group
was charging Mr. Li Yuguo default interests on the Defaulted Amount calculated on
a daily basis at the rate of 15% per annum until settlement. On |8 December 2023,
Mr. Li Yuguo has fully settled the Defaulted Amount and all the default interest

accrued thereon.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

28.

AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The non-controlling interests who holds 33% shareholding of Good
Union (China) Limited have committed to provide a production
volume guarantee of the water mining business in Hunan to
the Group. The compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the
production volume guarantee for the years 2019 and 2020 of
approximately RMB21,936,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$26,338,000) was mutually agreed between the non-controlling

interests and the Group in 2021.

Up to the date of this annual report, the Group has received partial
compensation of approximately RMB19,935,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,579,000) from non-controlling interests.

As at 3| March 2024, amount due from non-controlling interest of
HK$2,759,000 (2023: HK$11,423,000) is unsecured, interest-bearing
at 5% per annum and repayable on or before 27 March 2025 (2023:
repayable on or before 27 March 2024) and denominated in RMB.

As at 3| March 2023, amount due from non-controlling interest of
HK$560,000 is unsecured, interest-free, repaid in April 2023 and
denominated in RMB.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 29. B FEFFABRRZZER
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHTT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong at MREE T ZRAES
quoted bid price REANERE 1,840
Fair value are determined with reference to quoted market bid price. NFEDZ2BRMEZEABREETE
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the fair value measurement of RZEZNMFEFRZZTE_=F=H=+—
the Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is B AEEZRAFEFABRZZEME
categorised at level |. During the year ended 31 March 2024 and ENATEFEVERE —S& - BE
2023, there were no transfers into or out of level 3. —EoNER T -_=F=A=+—H
EFEVEERAF=-"SRIEE=F
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits) were

denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HKS$ BT
US$ ETT

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$2,592,000 have been included in assets classified as held for
sale. As at 3| March 2023, bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$2,680,000 have been reclassified to assets classified as held for

sale. For details, please refer to note 6.
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30. IRITEBR K IR S

RITHEBR MRS (BRERZRBIRITER)
AT EEERHE

2024 2023
—E-ME —ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TR
12,619

18,960

760

32,339

BRBEELUAREFEZRS MRS
FEMAETE T BEBTERZINEE H
PR

RZE_WFEF=ZA=+—8 4
25920008 T2 RITHEMR LR REBE
DERFHIELENEE - RT_=
=A=+—8 ' #2,680,000% T 2 R1T
BHRRBSCEDHEDEARBELE
WEE - BRAFIE - F20ME6 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
(CONTINUED)
(a) Restricted bank deposits
As at 31 March 2024, restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$757,000 (2023: HK$783,000) are deposits subject to
regulatory restrictions and are therefore not available for general

use by the other entities within the Group.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash RITER MRS

30. IRITHEBR RIS (8)

(a) ZRFIRITF
R-_E-_WME=ZA=+—H8 " ¥
PR ISR 1T 77 5K 40 757,0008 L (=&
T =4 : 7830008 7C) BREE
HOFER B AEEREME
EERE—RAR -

i

i

(b) RERRELZEY

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
31,556
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

31. TRADE PAYABLES 31. BZ FEATERRX
2024 2023
—E_UE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Trade payables 2 S ER IR 56,044
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the end of the REEHKRIBIES A B E=HE >
reporting period, based on the contract date or invoice date: B EMNERNERDITOT -
2024 2023
—ECIE —EBo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
0 to 180 days 0£180H 764
181 to 365 days 181 2365H 31
Over 365 days tBiE365H 55,249
56,044
The trade payables are not interest-bearing, normally settled within B REMNERRATE - B—RAERIK
six months after receiving suppliers’ invoices and denominated in B EmEERT/NEARNEBILIAA
RME. RAsHHA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁ&#ﬁ%z Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Deposit received BYES

Land value added tax payable JEAS T 3B E R
Accruals FERT &
Receipts in advance iﬁ”ﬁlm)\

Other payables Ho A 1< BR 3K

Other payables and accruals are denominated in the following

currencies:
RMB ARE
HK$ BT
Notes:
0) Deposit received represented the 1% of consideration received from the purchaser

relating to the sale of the entire issued share capital of Century Strong Limited,
amounting to RMB[,500,000. The details of disposal are set out in notes |5 and 16,
and the announcement and circular of the Company dated 2 May 2023 and 23 June
2023 respectively. The disposal is expected to be completed by early 2025.

(i) Asat 3| March 2024, other payables of approximately HK$ 1,103,000 (2023: nil) is
interest-bearing at 10% per annum, repayable on or before 25 January 2025. Other
payables of approximately HK$2,758,000 (2023: HK$ 5,255,000) is interest-bearing
at 10% per annum and repayable on or before 3 January 2025.

32. Htt B BRF R IERTE

Notes

At

()

(ii)

2024 2023
—E-NE B =
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT

508
4,777
1,264
27,668

34217

Hip M RA R ER B AU T IG5

& :

Kt -

(i)

2024 2023
—F-NME —T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET THET
31,079

3,138

34217

B Uiz & 1834 A B H & Century Strong Limited
2HEBTRAMMAE 5 WIS I1%5KE @ &
A AR ,500,0007T o HESBEME B
R ISR 16 EDRIENAAR B A=
E_=4AHA-HR-E_=FXNA=-+=
HEREGE RBEH - HEFHEBHBER =
—RFEFATEK °

BE-Z-_WNF=A=+—H8 ' HbEMK
B R |o3ooo,%n(7§7—$ E)IREF
R|0%:tE - BAR-ZZ-_RAF—A=+AH
%2 RI{E R o E fth FE A FRIE 492,758,000 7T
(=T =4 : 5255000/ 0 ) IREFI=R | 0%zt
B BER-ZT-_h&—A=HkZAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

33. AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
As at 31 March 2024, amount due to non-controlling interests of
HK$ 15,612,000 (2023: HK$15,612,000) is unsecured, interest free

and repayable on demand.

As at 3| March 2024, amount due to non-controlling interest of
HK$43,167,000 is consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries
as set out in note 39. It was fully settled by issuance of consideration

shares on |3 June 2024.

34. AMOUNT DUE TO THE DIRECTOR
As at 31 March 2024, amount due to the director, Mr. Li Yuguo, is

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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33.

34.

FEAY SR IRAE IR 7R IR

RZZE_NF=A=+—H ' EFZF
B HE 25 FIB 156120008 T(=ZF ==
F :15612,00087T) REEF RER
TRAIREREER -

R-TE-_WE=A=+—8 " Ef3kE
P& 4 %5 B IE 43,167,000 T A U8 BE I B
AR 2 EARE  HERZ
T-_MENAT+=ZBBABTRERN

BEBAES -

EN—REE2HE
RZB-_ME=RA=+—H ENES
TFREEEZREREER R 2RAE
REREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. IRA
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ERRHE &5
Notes HK$'000
FETT
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FREEOIET(RBRDE
(before share consolidation) and i aT) R g EEO. 1 BT
HK$0.1 each (after share consolidation) (R AHE) 2 BBl
At | April 2022 R-ZZE-_—_FWA—H 250,000,000,000 2,500,000
Share consolidation &1 & Bt (ii) (225,000,000,000) =
At 31 March 2023, | April 2023 and RZZEZ=%=A=+—H"
31 March 2024 —E-=FMA-AK
—E-ME=A=+—H 25,000,000,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE :
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FREEOIAT(RRHE
(before share consolidation) and GHAT) R B REE. BT
HK$0.1 each (after share consolidation) (R & HHE) 2 B
At | April 2022 RZE-_—_FWA—H 7,611,690,000 76,117
Placing of shares on 29 July 2022 RZEZZF+A=+NH
EERR (i) 1,000,000,000 10,000
Share consolidation W& fn & Bt (ii) (7,750,521,000) =
Placing of shares on 3| March 2023 RZEZ=%F=H=+—H
fe & B fn (i) 77,233,800 7,723
At 31 March 2023, | April 2023 and RZZZ=F=H=+—8"
31 March 2024 “T=FMA-HK
—E-FE=A=+—H 938,402,800 93,840
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z —

BT ERR MR

ME=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(iif)

228 Zhong Jia

On 29 July 2022, the Company completed a placing of 1,000,000,000 new shares at
a price of HK$0.03 per placing share (the “Ist Placing”) and raised gross proceeds
of HK$30,000,000, of which HK$ 10,000,000 was credited to share capital account
and the balance of HK$20,000,000 was credited to share premium account of the

Company.

Share issuance expenses (mainly include the placing commission and other
related expenses) that are directly attributable to the Ist Placing amounting to
approximately HK$490,000 was treated as a deduction against the share premium

account arising of the |st Placing.

On | September 2022, the director of the Company proposed to implement
a share consolidation on the basis that every 10 issued and unissued shares of

HK$0.01 each would be consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.1 each.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on |2 October 2022, the share
consolidation was approved by the shareholders of the Company and has become
effective on 14 October 2022. Immediately after the share consolidation, the total
number of issued shares of the Company was adjusted from 8,61 1,690,000 to

861,169,000.

On 31 March 2023, the Company completed a placing of 77,233,800 new shares
at a price of HK$0.146 per placing share (the “2nd Placing”) and raised gross
proceeds of approximately HK$ 11,276,000, of which approximately HK$7,723,000
was credited to share capital account and the balance of approximately

HK$3,553,000 was credited to share premium account of the Company.

Share issuance expenses (mainly include the placing commission and other
related expenses) that are directly attributable to the 2nd Placing amounting to
approximately HK$ 189,000 was treated as a deduction against the share premium

account arising of the 2nd Placing.

Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | F IBI{E 15 ix A% 15 B R A 7

35. AN (48)

Kt -

(i)

(iii)

RZB-ZZFEAZ+HhB XR2EE

TREZREBREERN0BETHERES
1,000,000,000 A% %7 i ([ 58 —REC & J) -
It % 15 P 15 X TH 48 %8 30,000,000 7 7T+ H
# 100000008 TE AKRERAK - M
20,000,000 7T B #4588 Al A BR 2 AN 1 BRI (7 s
B8R -

—IRELEEE (L2 R 4490,0007 TTHY
BRHBTHZ(FZOEREMS REMER
X )WRREHEE - REEMEERD HE
FRZIBIERE °

RZBZZFNA—B  AAREEFEHRK
10MR B IREE0.0IETT 2 B BT RAREIT

&in& of B —RBIREE.. BT & HRG

ZEEBITRADEG -

BRER-_Z-_—_F+A+-BBBNLER
FER RODEHEEAQRRELME - WH
TR _FTATHBAER - ZERMNE G
& ARRIEBITROBEEHS611,690,000
A& FAEEZE861,169,0008% °

Pie

—ET-=F=ZA=+—H  XRAB
e AR B IR R & AR 15 0.146 7 T 69 B 18 B
B77233800 B FT R ([HF —REE]) - A&
LSS RELTEL11276000%F 7T + H
477230008 TE ARZERAR - W4
3,553,000 TT B 4 58 A ABR E A1 B IR 17 4%
Bh -

FEREEEERIE ST AK189,000/8TTH)
BRAOBTHX(ZEERERS RAMARH
X ) WA RIEEE R EMEERD HE
BRZHRIEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

36. DEFERRED TAX

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised on the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the years ended 3| March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(i) Deferred tax assets

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:

Tax losses

Effective rental

Other receivables

Total deferred tax assets

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

to set-off provisions

Net deferred tax assets

BHBENUTER
PEAEE B 4R
BIRER
ERES
HoAth & W AR K

ERERTAEERRR

AR BRI 5 8 A i
EERIARE

EERIRE B R

36. IEFER IE
RBEE_Z _NWFE_ZFT_=F=H
SH—BIEER  REAMBRRE
R AIEERIE S EAERSD REE
N

(i) BEHELE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T TT
1,209
1209
(i)
(1,209)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 3| March 2024 HE — T —E=A=+—HILFE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 36. IRFEBIIE (4&)
(i) Deferred tax assets (Continued) (i) BEHEALE (&)
Other
Tax losses Effective rental receivables Total
HEER EREE  HtBWEN st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR THERT TR TR
Movements LX)
At 1 April 2022 RZZZ=F
mA—A = = - -
(Charged)/credited (88 /F A
— to profit or loss —B& 1,210 - - 1,210
~ to other comprehensive income  —E 1 2 F Uz n = = (n
At 31 March 2023 and R-Z-=F
| April 2023 =A=+-Bk
—Z==F
mA—A 1,209 = = 1,209
(Charged)/credited (H88)/F A
— to profit or loss —B&

— to other comprehensive income  —E 1 2 F &

At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE
=A=t-R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:

Effective rental

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible asset

Total deferred tax liabilities

Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant

to set-off provisions

Net deferred tax liabilities

RHBENUTZR
PGB E5R

BREME

YE B

BIEE

EEHIA B ERRE
AR BRI 5 8 A i
EEBIREE

EEH AR EFE

36.

(i)

IEAERL IR (48)

(ii) EZEFHEBEEE
2024 2023
—E-EF —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT

1,815 4,564
117,236 138,711
8,410 =
88,958 =

216,419 143,275

(1,209)

213,249 142,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R aE B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 36. IRFEBIIE (4&)
(ii) Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) (i) BEHEEE (&)

Fair value adjustments arising
from acquisition of subsidiaries
hENBARAEL 2 AVERR
Property,
Effective Investment plantand Intangible
rental properties equipment asset Total
nE-
BEREE RENE HERRE EVEE @t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

TEL TET TET TAL THEL

Movements L)
At | April 2022 RN_E-__FMA-AH 1613 13533 = - 15,146
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AR 3,784 146,657 = = 150,441
Credited A
— to profit or loss —B% (641) (17,653) = = (18294)
~ to other comprehensive income —-Hh2mEMiE (192) (3,826) - - (4018)

At 31 March 2023 and | April 2023 RZZE-_=F#=ZA=+-HK

“EC=5MA-H 4564 138711 - - 143275
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR 96,931
Credited/(charged) FA/ (8)
— to profit or loss - (2,581)  (16,707) (19,288)
~ to other comprehensive income —HEf2Eka (168) (4,768) 38 (4,499)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=ZA=+-H 1,815 117,236 8,410 88,958 216,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

37. BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings — secured RITER — 2T

As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings are interest-bearing at 4.6 15%
per annum, secured by factories under land and buildings located in
Hunan, the PRC (note 19) and repayable on |9 September 2026
(2023: Nil)

The fair values of the borrowings are not materiality different from
their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on those borrowings

is close to current market rates.

The Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB.

=
37. &K
2024 2023
—EUE —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET

MR_ZE-_WMFE=Zf=+—8  FITER
RENE4615%5TE - AL RIEFIH
TNz R B R O R P AR (BB AT
19)  WERZZ=ZXFNLAT+NAE

B(ZT—=F:8\)-

AR F 8 K 2 AN I S B2 E A 1 35 A
T - ZFERZAFEEERAE
BBEAER -
AEBZEFAARKETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

38. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 3. HEREEHR
Net debt reconciliation B E AR

Liabilities from

financing activities

REBME TS 2EE
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITER HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT TFHT
Net debt as at 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=fA=+—HZ
B FEE - 1,895
Cash flows BeRE - (2,789)
Other non-cash movements HapIER o8 - 4,335
Net debt as at 31 March 2023 W—_ZE-_=F=ZfF=+—82
(EVEEE - 3,441
Cash flows RenE (3,554)
Other non-cash movements HipIER &2 F) 2,684
Net debt as at 31 March 2024 R-ZBE-WME=A=+—HZ
B FHE 2,571
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Yongyin Investment Holdings Limited
(“Yongyin™)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 100% of
the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced to,
Yongyin at a consideration of HK$37 million. Yongyin is principally
engaged in investment holding and its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary is principally engaged in mineral exploration and mining
activities in the PRC. The acquisition has been completed on [4
December 2023.

The identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Inventories

Prepayments, deposit and other
receivable

Bank balances and cash

Other payables and accruals

Deferred tax liabilities

|dentifiable net assets

Gain on bargain purchase

Total consideration (Note)

RUBEBHRETRAIEE
KA EAE

BVEE

T—{b

TBRNFHIE - 2e REMEK
FRIB

RITESR MRS

EA A FOR KRB E A
BRERIBRE

A # R EEFE

& E WA s

B (ML)

Note:  Part of consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$29,640,000 was
paid by issuance of promissory note on |4 December 2023. On |8 December
2023, Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive director of the Company, agreed to repay
the promissory note and the interest expense on behalf of the Company
directly. This payment transaction was a non-cash transaction. The remaining
consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$7,360,000 was paid by
allotment and issue of 32,000,000 consideration shares at HK$0.23 per share.

The issue of consideration shares was completed on |3 June 2024.

9. WEEK B 2 |

WiEKIREZKRER 2 7 ([ K

1)

BE_T_WF=A=+—HLEHFE"

R BULHE K IR 2 100% 8, 3577 BN K [A)
HEaaftzBRERER - R{EA37,000000

BT e KM EBRSREERMERBEZ
2EMBAREIEZNFELEEYHR
RFARER - ZWBCR_FT_=F

+-AtmAREK -
Carrying Fair value
value adjustment Fair value
RREE AFERER DFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT FHBT
44,401 (5,747) 38,654
4415 37,973 42,388
100 = 100
441 = 441
446 — 446
(20,617) = (20,617)
= (8,057) (8,057)
29,186 24,169 53,395
(16,355)
37,000
HfeE - MBS IRRED ) (B 29,640,000/ TLE A

—E =+ A +MHABTHENEIR
Fift e R=ZF==F+=-—A+/\B - $
ARRTEEFTERELERBREREAR

E%E%&E%ﬁ&ﬂ%ﬁioﬁ@ﬁﬁ
RGTIERERH - ZWBEBFENFHAK
187,360,0007% 7T B3 12 B AR AR 15 0.23 78 TT B 3%
K %%1732,000,000B R B D 11 - KRB
MER=ZZT=MENA+=A5MET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 9. INBBFT B~ B) (48)

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongyin Investment Holdings Limited
(“Yongyin”) (Continued)

Net cash inflow from the acquisition

Bank balances and cash acquired

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$ 16,355,000 in the business combination as a result of the
fair value of Yongyin's identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition is referenced to a valuation report issued by

AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Yongyin contributed a loss of approximately HK$ 191,000 to the
Group’s results for the period from the date of acquisition to 31

March 2024.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2023, the Group's
revenue for the year ended 3| March 2024 would have been
approximately HK$ 14,160,000, and the Group's loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$20,340,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved, had the acquisition been
completed on | April 2023, nor is intended to be a projection of

future results.
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WiEKIREZKRER 27 ([ K
1) (&)

HK$'000

THETT

REWBZRERAEE
Fri BB IRTT s M IR &

HRKMZAI#AEEFEZ AT ER
RATEEREBAETE  HAKERER
B PR BB WA 416,355,000
T RKRBEE  AIBMNEEFELZ
ARTFENL2EEBB LS EKMAEBEMAP
Appraisal Limited i & 27 {fERE -

KMRWKEBBEHE_ZT _ME=A
=+t BHAAREENEELRY
191,000/ 7.2 E518 °

WEBEBEER TS _=ZFMA—
BHEK  AIXAEEBZE_ZT_NF
A=+ RLEFENBRABENR
14,160,000 7T * MAEBRAFEH
B 18 15 4 520,340,000/8 7T - lEEE R
ERARFHABR U —ERTMHUKEHE
FER-_ZT_=FMA-—HEREER
BEBNAEBRARKEESE - T
FERMERBI R IREERTAA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BT ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongming Investment Holdings

Limited (“Yongming”)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 73.1% of
the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced

to, Yongming at a consideration of HK$ 163 million. Yongming is

principally engaged in investment holding and its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary is principally engaged in mineral exploration and

mining activities in the PRC. The acquisition has been completed on

|4 December 2023.

The identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Bank balances and cash

Other payables and accruals

Deferred tax liabilities

|dentifiable net assets

Non-controlling interest

Gain on bargain purchase

Total consideration (Note)

Note:

RUEEHAETRNEER
FrEEaE

ME - BE REE

BV AE
RITEHBRRS
HibhERRIBERETER
FELERIEAR

TS EFE
IR 25
SR s
MR E(H3E)

Part of consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$127,193,600 was

paid by issuance of promissory note on |4 December 2023. On |8 December

2023, Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive director of the Company, agreed to repay

the promissory note and the interest expense on behalf of the Company

directly. This payment transaction was a non-cash transaction. The remaining

consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$35,806,400 was paid by

allotment and issue of 155,680,000 consideration shares at HK$0.23 per share.

The issue of consideration shares was completed on |3 June 2024.

39. WiEHIE 2~ E ()
WBKEREERARA A ([ K

&)

BE-_Z-_ME=A=+—HILFE -
REBURBE KR 2731 %0 BT AN K2 [A)

HBEMZ RRER

» KRB A 163,000,000

BT e KBEBRFREERMEREK
2EMBAREZERTELEREY R
NEREEY - ZWBER T _=F

T-ATHEBZERX -
Carrying Fair value
value adjustment Fair value
ARE(E DAFERR DFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTAT TR
= 39,235 39,235
= 316,261 316,261
4 — 4
(38,711) = (38,711)
= (88,874) (88,874)
(38,707) 266,622 20905
10,412 (71,721) (61,309)
(28,295) 194,901 166,606
(3,606)
163,000
Mz . ZWEBERN I D KB 1271936008 T E

AT =+ A THAETHELE
BASMN R=ZT=_=F+=-A+/\HB

AARPTEFETERAERBERERAEAR

RAIEEEERLERRAEHAX - AR
RRPTIFRER G o ZWiEFHNF &
K {B 35,806,400 7T 2 T AR AR 15 0.23 % 7T
#ic 3 & 2% 17 155,680,000l K B IR 19 S 1+ ©
REBRHERZTE-_MFNA+=A%K
BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongming Investment Holdings
Limited (“Yongming™) (Continued)

Net cash inflow from the acquisition

Bank balances and cash acquired

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$3,606,000 in the business combination as a result of the fair
value of Yongming's identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition is referenced to a valuation report issued by

AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Yongming contributed a loss approximately HK$3,000 to the Group's

results for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2024.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2023, the Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 would have been
approximately HK$ 14,160,000, and the Group'’s loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$19,775,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved, had the acquisition been
completed on | April 2023, nor is intended to be a projection of

future results.
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39. WHBK B 2 =] (/&)

WiEKEREZKER A ([ K
&) (&)

HK$'000
TAT

REWBZRERAFEHE
PTBIRITAERR IR

MRKBZAIBAEEFEZ AT ER
RITEEREAE  WEAEEREKE
O T 52 53k 18 W B Uk 25 493,606,000 7T
RERE - AIERIEERE A TE
Th2E QB A BR(EERMAP Appraisal
Limited ! B 2 fh{E#RE -

KEZNBBEHRE T _ME=A
—t+—PRHEAREEMNEETRA
3,000 T 2 B8

HKEEBER -_ST_=ZFM0A—
HxEf A AEEHZE_T_NEF
A=+ HALEFENKBKAKOR
14,160,000 7T - AN & B R 2N F E /)
B85 45197750008 7T - HEE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
Acquisition of Shun Jie International Holdings
Company Limited (“Shun Jie”)
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of, and the shareholder's loan advanced to, Shun
Jie at a consideration of RMB376 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$437,988,000). Shun Jie is principally engaged in investment
holding and its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary is principally engaged
in property investment. The acquisition has been completed on 27
May 2022.

The identifiable assets acquired RUWEBHMREBAHAIEER
and the liabilities assumed at FEEEE

the date of acquisition

Investment properties KEME
Property, plant and equipment mE - BB REE
Trade receivables B SR
Accrued income and FERT A &

other receivables H e 45 BR 3K
Bank balances and cash RITHEARRIR S
Tax payables AR IR
Other payables and accruals E SR R ERTE A
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIAAE
Identifiable net assets AT RIE ERE
Gain on bargain purchase HERERE
Total consideration (Note) BREH )

Note:  The total consideration of acquisition of Shun Jie was paid by Mr. Li Yuguo, an
executive director of the Company, on behalf of the Company directly. This
payment transaction was a non-cash transaction which offset the Refund Amount

receivable from Mr. Li Yuguo.

39. WHBK B 2 =] (/&)

WrER B ZER B R A ([ 5%
#]/)
HE_Z_ZFZA=+—HILFE
AEBWREFEREZ 100%E BE/TRA R
MERRZBRRER  REAARK
376,000,000 7T ( 18 & B 49437,988,000 %8
) c REETEREREERKEAE
2EMBRARIEEREMERLRE - 2
BER - ZE-_—FRA-t+EHZK

Carrying Fair value
value adjustment Fair value
IREE NEEAE AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET
171,993 585,168 757,161
5,008 - 5,008
6,977 (373) 6,604
18,080 (185) 17,895
343 - 343
(287) - (287)
(184,777) - (184,777)
(4,149) (146,292) (150,441)
13,188 438,318 451,506
(13,518)
437,988

Hret . WERENARKEERAARRANTESS
EREERRARREE N - BEAMK
RHVFRERS  BHEEFEREE
ZIRREHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. WEBKH B AR (1)

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Shun Jie International Holdings
Company Limited (“Shun Jie”’) (Continued)

WIEFF B ER B IR - 5] ([ 5%
#)(#E)

HK$'000
THETT

Net cash inflow from the acquisition REWEBZEESRAFEE
Bank balances and cash acquired PR B SRITAEBA IR & 343

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$ 13,518,000 in the business combination as a result of the
fair value of Shun Jie’s identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition is referenced to a valuation report issued by

AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Shun Jie contributed a profit of approximately HK$6,878,000 to the
Group’s results for the period from the date of acquisition to 31

March 2023.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2022, the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 would have
been approximately HK$27,391,000, and the Group's loss for
the year ended 3| March 2023 would have been approximately
HK$262,632,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved, had the acquisition been completed on | April 2022, nor is

intended to be a projection of future results.
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MRBEEZABANEEFEZATFES
RITEERERERE  HAEBHER
B f #E SR R (B WK BB I 28 49 13,518,00078
T RWERR - AARBEEFEZ
AFEI2EBBILAEBRGERMAP
Appraisal Limited ! B 2 {H{ERE o

RERKBASEE_ZT_=4=A
=+ HHRALAESEMNEEERY
6,878,000/ 7T Z i Fl °

WMRBEEE RN T -_—_F1AH—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

40. RESERVES

(a) Capital reserve

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 31 May 2013, the Company effected the capital
reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation 2013") which became
effective on 3 June 2013 and involved (i) the consolidation of
every twenty-five issued and unissued shares with a par value
of HK$0.05 each into one consolidated share; (ii) the reduction
of issued share capital whereby the par value of each issued
consolidated shares will be reduced from HK$1.25 to HK$0.25
by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$1.00 on
each of the consolidated shares to a reduced share of HK$0.25
each; (iii) transfer of the credit arising from the capital reduction
to the capital reserve account of the Company; (iv) the sub-
division of each unissued consolidated share into five reduced

shares of HK$0.25 each.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 12 November 2018, the Company
implemented a capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation
2018") on |3 November 2018 which involved (i) capital
reduction, pursuant to which the issued share capital of the
Company were reduced by a reduction of the par value of
each issued shares from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01, which reduction
comprised a cancellation of such amount of the paid-up capital
on each issued share so that each issued share were treated
as one fully paid-up share of par value of HK$0.01 in the share
capital of the Company immediately following the capital
reduction and the credit arising from the capital reduction were
credited to the capital reserve account of the Company; and (ii)
sub-division of each of the authorised but unissued shares of par
value of HK$0.25 into twenty-five new shares of par value of

HK$0.01 each.

40. 1S
(a) EX 155

BER-_Z—=FRA=+—HH
TZRRFRARE LB FFRIR
ERARAEBETRABA(N=F
—ZFRABEHNDIR T —=F
NAZBERRPROBZ+THK
BREMBEASHBITZEEITRA
FITRO AR —RE BN ¢ (i)
HIUR B BTN - Bt - BREZ
TEMRMD 2 MERE BT HER
EHBROZEHRARI0ETES
AR T 1B 4 0.2578 7T 2 £ BRI 17 T
B 125 TTHIR ZE 0258 7T ¢ (i) i
ERRAHIRE £ 2 #ERBERALRRD
B2 BAMKER © (WVERAETE
PR AR B AR TR E(E /025
BT SEBIRR D ©

BER-_Z—N\F+—A+=HHE
TZBRRFRIARE BB FRIR
FR - ARAR=ZZT—N\F+—A
T=AETRASA(IZZ—N\F
RARSEA]) - BB R)BRARER -
BUREARRERERTRMHZEE
F0.257% Bl Z£0.01 7T LA
BAR R ZEBEITRA o LARAHI
BEREESREFEITROTHEE
BECEHRE  FEREBETR
R BEBERAEREE S EAR AR
BARH 2 —RBREEROIETT
ZEHRG o RABIBFAES 2 #
RREBARRRZEAEER &
(i) FAEEB02AETZBBETE
BRETZROAZTHARERE
BEAR0OIETT ZHAR M, -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

40. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

41.

(b) Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the excess of the

nominal amount of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date of

the group reorganisation over the nominal amount of the shares

issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition of

the subsidiaries.

Details of the movements of the Group'’s reserves are set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 91.

Details of the movements of the Company’s reserves are set out in

note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following

capital commitments:

Contracted but not provided for:
Acquisition of investment properties
Property development expenditure
Construction in-progress for

water exploitation activities in Hunan

BRI ERER

WHERE M
MEBRRAL
HREKERESZ
FEIR
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40. FE#E (58)

41.

(b) # 5 t# R

AEBZFHFEREREBEAE
BB AR RO EEBREARA
ERWEMB AR ZREMETZ
B EEZESHE -

$%Eﬁﬁ“@ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁ2%é

EONGUTT
faE46 o

FHIFHNER A M B ImEK

B ANEIE
AR R - AEEE T AR :

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T8
22,847

103,760

10,189

136,796



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE —ZE - NFE=A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

K&

BIMEBH AR AT (“KNEEIF”), incorporated in the PRC,

provided corporate guarantees to third parties amounting to

approximately RMB 100,000,000 (2023: RMB100,000,000), detailed as

follows:

(h

)

On 17 April 2014, K& £IF1 provided a corporate guarantee to
REIRITE—FOZIT (“RERTT(—)”) for a recurring bank
loan of RMB50,000,000 granted to a third party, A5 ;EY)
BERWER AR (KERBE. In 2017, KEBIRTT(—) took a
legal action against RiEEH for the recovery of the aforesaid
loan. On 2| December 2017, EEE KEm F R AR A
(the "Court”) ordered A HH to repay the loan to A RTT

(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest.

On 23 May 2014, Ki&BIF1 provided a corporate guarantee
to R#EHIRTT(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000
BEEWMEGRAR (KEERE).
iEE for
the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 28 December 2017, the

granted to a third party, A
In 2017, Ki#E#RTT(—) took a legal action against R3E
Court ordered XN:E#H[E to repay the loan to AEIRTT(—),

together with relevant legal cost and interest.

42. BHEREE

R-ZZE-_WE=A=+—8  A2FR
B AR 7 2 2 K BT A B K AR
EMERAF([RELIFMDAE=F1R
A AR A A KR 100,000,0007T (=
T-=%: AR¥1000000007T) * 5%
T

() RZZF—EFOA+ER - KEE|
MHEARERITE—HORIT(TKE
RIT()DAE=ZAREREYE
EBERAR(TRERB]ERZ
ﬁ%ﬂ%hié#kAEﬁ%SO,ooo,oooﬁ
REDFER o Z—+F K

ﬁﬁbﬂ%ﬁ %ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ
A LAZEE cMRZE—+
F+ZAZ+—H BEEKRE
RARARER (DA ) a2 KER
BRAERIT(—)EEER  EF
HEEEERARFE -

Q) RZZT—NWFERA-_+=H" K
HEAMBEARERIT(—)ME=ZR
NEEEMEBR QA ([ KEE
BEDERZBRBRTERARKE
50,000,000 TRt R AR « X =
—tF - RERT(—)HKRE
@%%ﬁﬁ@ﬁm’ML@tﬂﬁ
HReRZE—EF+ZAZTN
H - A i @ NEERE R AERTT
EREEERER

1]&
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES 42. BHEREG(E)

(CONTINUED)

(3) On 19 August 2014, K EIF provided a corporate guarantee B) RZE—MNFENATIE - K&EE
to K#&8R77(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000 M ARERIT(—)AE=ZF KE
granted to a third party, XKiEZRE AR AR (KEER"). BESERAR ([ KE %ﬁj)%ﬁy
In 2017, R#EIRIT(—) took a legal action against KiEZEH ZBIRIRITE 5 A K 50,000,000
for the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 21 December 2017, TR AAER - RZE—+F -
the Court ordered X2 to repay the loan to NEIRTT RNERT(—) HREEHEHE
(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest. The loan BHFA - UBE ERER - RZF
principal of RMB50,000,000 has been repaid by A& Z on 30 —+tF+ZA=Z+—8H  Ekwo
December 2017. TREEZEBmAMAERIT(—)ER

B ERBREEERRFIE -
RZF—tF+ZA=1+H" X
BEREEEERZAEARSE
50,000,0007T °

Another independent guarantor, KiE BB X BR QA (" Ki&E S—EBVERARNEIBEEXERA
JIE ") has pledged its properties to secure the bank loans stated AI(TRENEME DE () ~ Q) R @) AT
in (1), (2) and (3). The estimated value of the pledged properties REIRITTEREEYEER o HEHEEY
is over RMB250 million. The directors believe that the aforesaid ¥ EEBBAR2500000007T °
loans, interests and other costs can fully be recovered from the sales EEHE LRZER  AERHEME
proceeds of the pledged properties. In addition, A EIF] obtained AR AR E R B EZ FAERIER 2
counter-guarantees given by BIEHIE (KE) GR A A (“AlEH BEULE o Jboh - RERI TR = E
E"). BIEHE undertook to compensate RFEAIF any legal costs (RE)BRAR([BIEME |) 1EH R &
and economic losses that may be suffered by A AIF in relation to R o ARERIMBLPTA Lt 2 2 RIHER
all the aforesaid corporate guarantees. EXAAEEBRAREXLEESL - &l

2 EE S ARG R E B B AE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

42.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

On 27 December 2017, a restructuring loan agreement was signed
by AEIEH
RMB245,000,000 was granted to A& %

with K38ER1T. Under this agreement, a new loan of
for the repayment of the
loans, interests and other cost stated in (1), (2) and (3) and then
the corporate guarantee provided by A EIF will be released.
However, the procedure to release the corporate guarantee is still in

progress.

The directors are closely monitoring the situations and will continue
to use their best endeavor to resolve the corporate guarantees above.
The directors are also assessing the legal position of the Group and

may consider taking legal actions if appropriate.

Up to the date of this report, the Group did not suffer any loss from
the above corporate guarantees. Having considered the counter-
guarantees provided by BI3EHBE, pledge of valuable properties by
RNiZEJEY%s and subsequent settlement arrangements as stated above,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts are insignificant at initial recognition
as the probability of suffering any significant loss by the Group from
the above corporate guarantees is low. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in the consolidated financial statements for these

guarantees.

42.

BB EREREE)

R-T—+F+=—A=++A  K&EIE
EEABRITRTEEERBE - BIR
b - AR %245,000,0007T K ¥ E 3K
1T RENEEAEE() - QKRG
MHER - MEREMEBR - Bl
R B RERIFATIREN R RER - A
i - FRRREEROEFDEETH ©

ESIRYERAREN Y SEES
DR B A RER - EFIFIEFMAEA
SENERYS Y EEBRRIUEE R
REITE ©

BEEAHEAY  AEEYARARA L
RAERMRZEMBR - KEREZ
WERENRER  KNEIREABEED
WMERERE B s RREE R TR - K
RAEFRR/YBREREOHDFER
I ERRALTEX - RESAKER

ARBERMEZEMBAIBRAE
R - B - MERZFRERNES
BT ER Rt R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

43.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group'’s qualifying employees in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF") in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of trustee. The Group and each of the employees make

monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions

under the scheme.

For the years ended 3| March 2024 and 2023, there were no
forfeited contributions which were available to reduce the Group's
existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme and the state-

managed retirement benefits scheme.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss of approximately HK$751,000 (2023: HK$908,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in

the rules of the plans.
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43.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

44, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44 SEZBEBE RS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which AARHEMNBAR(EDARRZA
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on KH )R GERGERIEKE - B
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as disclosed ERARFNTHE - KRGS BREREM
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, details of BEFTHE AN - N [E B {th B B
transactions between the Group and other related parties are FMZRFHBEWELT -

disclosed below.

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) BB T ZX 5
As disclosed in note 27(v), interest income relating to WM FE27(v)PTHRER - BE T Y
termination of acquisition of Shenyang Properties for the years FR_E-_ZF=ZF=+—HLF
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, which were receivable from B st WEERG R ERAR
Mr. Li Yuguo who is an executive director of the Company, are FMITEET LA ZHABERE
recognised as follows: WARERIT -

2024 2023

—E-F —E_=4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Interest income relating to termination BIFWEE RIS 2
of acquisition of Shenyang Properties F.B A 23,622
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

44, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 44. EEEHE R (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transaction relating to non-controlling interests (b) B HEZEREZZX S
As disclosed in note 28, during the year ended 31 March 2024, M2 FTIREE - BE T _WF
the interest income relating to the amount due from non- ZA=T—HIEFE - HEWIEE
controlling interests are recognised as follows: I %5 R IE 2 R B AR T -
2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHETT

Interest income relating to amount due FE W IE 12 AR i 2 RRIE 2

from non-controlling interests FLEMA -
(c) Remuneration of key management personnel (c) ZEZEEBEANEZFH
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year TEEEAERAEE ZFHMNM
was as follows: T~

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTiER THETT

Short-term benefits 2 BRAE A 3,440

Retirement benefit scheme RRAENET 2 32

3,472
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

45. B A TS

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

period are as follows.

Class of
Place of shares/
incorporation/ registered
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held

R/ ke,

WEAREH By ERMEAEH
Adco Rich Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary

RBRAEE LEk

Asiaciti Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
BB EBRAA R LR

Century Strong Limited (Note 2) British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary

(Hi2) RERIAHS R
Continental Joy Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary

ABRARE LEk

Chi Sheng Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
BEEHERAA &R Lak
Good Union (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
ER (RE)ARAT &R Lak
King Lotus Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary

EBRAES Lak

Fully paid
share capital/
registered

capital

BERE/
HRER

US|
E

HKS |
1T

Uss|
E

US|
E

HKS |
17T

HK$ 1,000
1 000

USs |
E

RBERR - AEEZEEMB AR

fBanR e

Proportion of nominal
value of paid capital/

registered capital

held by the Company
RRRARRL
BfRE/
EMEREE 2 A

Directly  Indirectly

B 3

100% =

100% -

- 100%

= 100%

100% -

100% =

100% =

100% -

- 100%

= 100%

= 67%

= 67%

100% -

100% =

Principal activities

TERH

Investment holding

RERR

Property investment

VESE

Investment holding

RAZK

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RARR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. Y8 2~ = =15 ()
(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capitall  value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
ARARAELZ
AL/ fiske/ BRRE/ BfRE/
) Pk meny e bl AfMER  EREREEZLA IERH
Directly  Indirectly
E# 3
Man Lee Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100% Management services and
ENERARAT A TRk W - 100% securities trading
ERRBRESRER
New Jumbo Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Uss! 100% - Investment holding
EEEEERAR RERLES LaR B 100% - RESR
Shun Jie International Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 = 100% Investment holding
Company Limited & LRk 10,0007 7T - 100%  RAER
REARERERAT
World Kingdom Worldwide Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US| 100% = Investment holding
ERRHRERAT RBRAEE 71 Er 100% - RABR
World Land Development Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US| 100% = Investment holding
EBRERERAA] ABRNES Lak 1€ 100% - REBK
STHEEERORY)ERAR The PRC Registered RMB£0,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Notes | and 2) FE Rl AR 60,000,007 - l00%  BRALR

DHERER
(Wit1k2)

(R BRAHE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

HENAEERRKERAA
(Hit!)

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. MY B AR 15 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/ value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
RRARHZ
AL/ fisit/ BRRE/ BfRE/
HELREHE g e bl AMER  EREREEZLA IRER
Directly  Indirectly
E# [
ELHERER(RINERAG  ThePRC Registered RMB£0,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
(Note 1) E wtfh AR%60,0000007C - l00%  REALK
ERMERER(RY)BRAF
(i)
REEIREDBRAFNote [)  The PRC Registered HK$205,000,000 = 100%  Property development
REAMERARLR(HZ)  E atfi 205,000000/87C - l00%  MEER
REESHEARIARAR The PRC Registered RMB3,000,000 = 100%  Property investment
(Notes | and 2) R Rl AREE3,00000075 - 100%  MERE
RRERFARI)ARAR
(HatiR2)
RAELKEEEERARD The PRC Registered RMBI,000,000 - 100%  Property investment
(Note 1) HE il AR 100000075 - 100%  MERE
A EERERARLA
(Hit1)
HEHERREIKERAH The PRC Registered HK$30,000,000 = 67%  Production and sales of
(Note |) e Bl 30,000,000/ ¢ - 67% bottled water

EERHERRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. 1B A RleH1E ()
(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/ value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
ARARALZ
AL/ ke, BRRE/ BfRE/
WELREH Tgny EMERER dfgx  EREAAEZLA IERH
Directly  Indirectly
ER 3
A ERERRBRAR The PRC Registered RMB100,000 = 100%  Property investment
(Note 1) P E Faai ARE1000007C - 100%  MERE
AEHEREERARAA)
(Hit1)
WL L KRERMARAF(Note ) The PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 = 100% Property investment
MTLKRERGRARLDAME) & Eial) AR#100000007T - 100%  MERE
BN GRS E AR A A (Note 1) The PRC Registered RMB,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
BNZREERRORME)  TE i ARE 100000070 - l00%  RERK
FMSREECERARA The PRC Registered RMB64,000,000 = 100%  Property investment
(Note 1) G Faai ARH64,000,0007 - 100%  MERE
FMNREEXLRRERAR
(K1)
East Dynasty Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Us$! 100% = Investment holding
RESEARAA EREXES LR Ey RERR
Yonyin Investment Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$50,000 = 100% Investment holding
KRBRRAER AT EBRAES Lak 50000%7C REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

n\/__]_\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

45. MY B AR 15 (&)

(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/ value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
RRAARELZ
ML,/ fiskt,/ BRBRE/ BftRE/
MEATEM mEwy &R dfEx  EREREEZLA TERH
Directly  Indirectly
B 3
Yongming Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$50,000 = 73.1% Investment holding
Limited EBRAES Rk 50000%7C REZK
XEREERARAH
HEREERERARNote ) The PRC Registered RMB2,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
WEREERARARME)  wE itft AR#2,000,00070 RERK
B EERERAT(Note |)  The PRC Registered RMB2,000,000 - 73.1%  Investment holding
WELERRERAR (ML)  HE i AR 2,000,000 RERR
ENENREEERAR(Note ) The PRC Registered RMB16,600,000 - [00%  Mineral exploration and
BETENEREERAR(MZ) +E Bl AR 16,600,007 mining
BNBRIFERS
BB ERAERE RS The PRC Registered RMBS5,000,000 = 73.1% Mineral exploration and
SRBEFEBRAR (Note 1) L i AE5,000,0007C mining
FnERRER kA% BOHRRRBRE
SEREARDA ML)
Note |: The subsidiary was an indirectly wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in Hiatl : ZM BRI RN ERY 2 HEINEBE

the PRC.

Note 2: The entity was included in the Disposal Group as set out in Note |6.

E o
Hiat2 -

REMRE I 6XE BT AL EEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI EE

v/'_]'\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the

end of the year, or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the result or assets of the
Group. To give the details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of

the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership
Place of interest and voting

incorporation/ rights held by non-

45.

Loss allocated to non-

f S 2~ = =15 (48)
RERRAFENEARR - HBAR
BRI EE 2 BB

EERA LRI AEEHEAT
WAREY $EAAEREEVE - 8
BRARTIRLHB AT B
R BN TTE -

TREARERGE R ER
FE2EMBRRZHS :

Accumulated non-

Name of subsidiary operation controlling interest controlling interest controlling interests
s, FERERAEEZ PREFERES it
WEARER BEw REREERREE LA ZEBE FERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
—ECNE -—T--F CZBE-NE -—T-— —E-ME —T-=fF
% % HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT TAT TER TR
Good Union (China) Limited Hong Kong 33 19,886 67,429
ER(FE)ARAR BE
Yongming Investment Holdings British Virgin - - -
Limited Islands
XEREERBRAR RERLEE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts

before intragroup eliminations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR MY T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. B A alE 15 (8)
(CONTINUED)
Good Union (China) Limited EHE (R ED)BRA R

Summarised statement

of financial position B R E 2024 2023
—E-mEF —ETo=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Current assets MENEE 16,646
Current liabilities mBEE (87,526)
Current net liabilities mEEEFE (70,880)
Non-current assets ERBEE 258,139 275210
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (8,825) -
Non-current net assets ERBEEFE 249,314 275210
Net assets BEFE 169,180 204,330
Accumulated non-controlling interest 2T IEE AR RS 67,429
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

(CONTINUED)

Good Union (China) Limited (continued) ER (P EDBRAF (&)
Summarised statement of
comprehensive income 2HKREREE 2024
—B-mEF
HK$’000
FEx
Revenue WA
Loss for the year NEEEE
Other comprehensive income Hih a2k
Total comprehensive income 2EW AT

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

DB EIFE R 2 B 18

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest

REREME

Summarised cash flows

KEKEES 2RERAFHE
KEREES 2R G FHE
KARE B ZRERAFE
SNERE R BB

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash inflow from financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
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45. MY B Al =15 (&)

2024
—B-mE
HK$’000

2023
—ET-=F
HK$'000
T

(60,261)
(1,498)

(61,759)

(19,886)

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
FHET

13,659

(14,310)
5

791

(1,437)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS R MR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —_UF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Yongming Investment Holdings Limited

Summarised statement

of financial position AR R R E
Current assets mEBEE
Current liabilities mBAE
Current net liabilities mEEEFE
Non-current assets JEMBEE
Non-current liabilities JERBEE
Non-current net assets FEMBEEFE
Net assets BE%FE
Accumulated non-controlling interest 2T IR RS

45. MY B AR 15 (&)

KEREERERA A

2024
—B-NEF
HK$’000
FERT

(38,889)

(38,885)

357,101
(89,275)

267,826

228,941
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara PR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{ZE — T —UF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. B A alE1E (8)
(CONTINUED)
Yongming Investment Holdings Limited (continued) KEREZEREBRAR(E)

Summarised statement of

comprehensive income 2ERERBE 2024
—B-IF
HK$’000
FET
Revenue WA
Loss for the year NEFEEE
Other comprehensive income H b2 ks
Total comprehensive income 2EW AT
Loss allocated to non-controlling interest IR i R FE (R B 18
——
Summarised cash flows REREYE 2024
—B-mE
HK$’000
F#ExT
Net cash outflow from operating activities REKE EF 2B R F5E
Net cash outflow from investing activities REKEEES 2B R FE
Net cash outflow from financing activities REBMEEH 2 RS REFE
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEFE RSB B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE IR AR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF

46. X1 B 2 BN R E R

FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF EL

THE COMPANY

Summarised statement of financial position information of the AN A BRI A HI oK 7 B 78 AR O 3= B RHEE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: Z

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T TFET
Non-current assets kRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries N IEINE P E -
Property, plant and equipment M - HERRE 43
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,512
3,555

Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENFKRIE - e R 1,343

Eofth FE UL AR 3R

Amounts due from subsidiaries N EPNGIE 1,936,693
Bank balances and cash RITEHREE S 18,146
1,956,182

Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries R EENGI B 709,758
Other payables and accruals Hit RN R EETE A 3,104
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,270
S, I52
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,241,050
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAEBERABERS 1,244,605

Annual Report 2024 ¥R

259



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital [N
Reserves e

Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Lease liabilities HEAE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by

the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Ouyang Yanling
BfEeR -
Director

EF
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46. N1 B Z B AR R 3k B R

2(H&)

2024 2023
—EPUE —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T

93,840
[,149,594

1,243,434

171

1,244,605

BB HEREN—_E-_NEAA-++H
LEEReHEWRERZ  WHTHA
TREEZHT

Mr. Li Yuguo
ZIELE
Director

EF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR a B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2022

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Placing of new shares

New shares issue expense

At 31 March 2023

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income

for the year

At 31 March 2024

46. N2 ) 2 B R AR R B R AR

2(&E)
Share Share Capital General Accumulated

capital  premium reserve reserve losses Total

Rx  ROEE  EARE  -REE  RHEER #R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TAT TAT TAT

RWZE-—%#=A=1-H 76,117 1,597,179 2,025,156 180057  (2314351) 1,564,158

rEEERE - - - - 361321 (36132)
AL ENGRE

= - - - (361,321) (361,321

&R 17723 23,553 - - - 41,276

MR 2B TR - (679) - - - (679)

RZZZ=#=A=1-H 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 180057 (2675672 1,243,434

EEER - (98,476)  (98,476)
AEREENEER

(98,476) (98,476)

RZZ-mE=A=1+-AH 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 180,057  (2,774,148) 1,144,958
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

47.

48.

49.

DIVIDENDS

The directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 20 May 2024, a total of 187,680,560 new shares of the Company
had been successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than
six places at the placing price of HK$0.105 per placing share under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by ordinary resolution
passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
September 2023. Upon the completion of the aforesaid placing
of new shares, the total number of issued shares of the Company
increased from 938,402,800 shares to |,126,083,360 shares. Details
of the placing of shares are set out in the announcements of the

Company dated 25 April 2024 and 20 May 2024.

On 13 June 2024, a total of 187,680,000 consideration shares
(equivalent to the amount of HK$43,166,400) of the Company had
been successfully issued to the vendor as part of the consideration
for the acquisitions of the subsidiaries (see note 39). Upon the
completion of the aforesaid issuance of consideration shares, the
total number of issued shares of the Company increased from
1,126,083,360 shares to 1,313,763,360 shares. Details of the issuance
of consideration shares are set out in the announcement of the

Company dated |3 June 2024.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024.
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47.

48.

49.

R E
EETMEZRNEBEE T _MWE=A
=+t BLEFEZEMAKRE(ZE==
F o) e

HEBRRERSE

RZE-_MERAZ-1+H RERER
BAARNR - B -_=FAA-++BE
THREEFAE LT BRAEROE
ARTESFHN—REE  BTPRAE
B AN EEBTRERKMO0.1058 T
X I B & £ 51 187,680,560 8% 4N A BT A%
7o RFEXK EMBEEEFRND%E - AQF
B 347 AR {5 48 2K B3 938,402,800 A% A% 17 1%
INZE1,126,083,360 & A% 15 B2 & AR 10 &Y
HBHIRARARI B AT ZMNFN
A-+RBER-Z_WNERA-+HH

E RN

RZZEZMFEARA+T=H ' ARFIAE
75 X, 2 3 17 51 187,680,000 % X (B A% 15
(B E 143,166,400 7T ) + 1E 7= U B B
BARNHYRE(Z2EME3) - T
B P BITRERGZ - AABEET
B& 17 48 BE /A 1,126,083,360 8% B% 17 3 N =
313,763,360 I fn o BE1TRE MR #Y
HBHIRAAARARA T _HEAN
BAt+=BM2A% -

RETZRGSHBHE

HAEMBRRERXR_FT_HEFEAXA
“HEERERES AT RETE -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

I EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T _WFE=A=+—HItFE

Results

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Tax (charge)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year from

continuing operations

Loss for the year from discontinued

operations
Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

ES |

WA

BRBATER] (BE)
BR(FEAX)/ER

RERRHERE
EBEMN/
(B18)

AEEERIE
EBZER

RERHEF/(BR)

FE1 -
ZUNGIE 2PN
EFed b £

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t—HLEE

(19,755)
an

0 aneo

s [T
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2024
—F-QmF
HK$’000
TR

2020 2021 2022 2023
—EBCTE T F T -F —T-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHETT FHTT T
201,510 32,920 21,200 22,220 n
(359,824) 92849  (305387)  (221224)
4,904 (2,155) 19,032 18,646
(354,920) 90694  (286355)  (202,578)
- - (89,777) (63,480)
(354,920) 90694  (376,132)
(338,784) 91264  (361642)  (246,172)
(16,136) (570) (14,490) (19,886)
(354,920) 90,694 (376,132)



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MHRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE — T —_WFE=A=+—HItFE

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FF —T-—F T “Eo=F ZENNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET THET

Assets and liabilities BEERER

Total assets BEHEE 2,115424 2,275,578 [911,672 1,742,847
Total liabilities &R (01707)  (198934)  (178499)  (290,192)
Shareholders' funds RERES [913,717 2,076,644 1,733,173 [,452,655

264 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I B2 A& B R 2 7]



ompany Limited

PERAF]




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	董事履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會總結與管理層討論及分析
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要
	封底

